JEFFREY A. SINGER and MICHAEL F. CANNON

DRUG REFORMATION

END GOVERNMENT'S Power to require prescriptions

Drug Reformation

End Government's Power to Require Prescriptions

BY JEFFREY A. SINGER AND MICHAEL F. CANNON



Copyright $\ensuremath{\mathbb{C}}$ 2020 by the Cato Institute All rights reserved

Cover design by Jon Meyers

Print ISBN: 978-1-952223-13-6 Digital ISBN: 978-1-952223-14-3

Singer, Jeffrey A., and Michael F. Cannon. "Drug Reformation: End Government's Power to Require Prescriptions." White Paper, Cato Institute, Washington, DC, October 20, 2020. https://doi.org/10.36009/WP.20201020.

Printed in the United States of America

Cato Institute 1000 Massachusetts Ave. NW Washington, DC 20001 www.cato.org

Contents

| Executive Summary | . 1 |
|--|------|
| Introduction | . 2 |
| The Right to Self-Medicate | . 4 |
| A Brief History of U.S. Pharmaceutical Regulation | . 6 |
| Pre-1938 | 6 |
| The Food, Drug, and Cosmetics Act of 1938 | . 7 |
| The Durham-Humphrey Amendment of 1951 | . 11 |
| Another Drugmaker Kills; Government Again Restricts Consumer Rights | . 12 |
| Blocking Access to Safe, Necessary Drugs | 17 |
| Undermining Safety: The Case of Antihistamines | . 17 |
| A Decade of Denied Access to Emergency Contraceptives ("Plan B") | . 18 |
| Routine-Use Oral Contraceptives | 20 |
| Blocking Access to Life-Saving Naloxone | 22 |
| Exacerbating Public Health Crises | 22 |
| A Contributor to Excessive Drug Prices | 25 |
| Do Prescription Requirements Increase Drug Prices? | 27 |
| Excessive Coverage for Prescription Contraceptives Led to Price Spikes | 28 |
| Removing Prescription Requirements Makes a Difference | 28 |
| Prescription Requirements Are a Boon to Pharmaceutical Manufacturers | 30 |
| Americans Fare Poorly on Freedom to Self-Medicate | 32 |
| Oral Contraceptive Access across 147 Countries | 35 |
| Falling Further Behind | 35 |
| Do Government-Imposed Prescription Requirements Help or Hurt? | 38 |
| Government-Imposed Prescription Requirements Harm Health | 38 |
| How Could Consumer Safety Regulation Make Consumers Less Safe? | 39 |
| Governments Require Prescriptions for Reasons Other Than Safety | . 41 |
| Eliminate Government-Imposed Prescription Requirements | 42 |
| Prescriptions and Physician Consultations Would Continue | 42 |
| Broader Access | 43 |
| Innovation | 43 |
| Savings for Consumers and Taxpavers | 45 |
| Insurance Coverage of OTC Drugs | 45 |
| Safer Consumers. Better Health. | 46 |
| Reconsider Premarket Approval Requirements. | 48 |
| Drug Testing and Certification That Respects Health Care Rights | 48 |
| The Pharmaceutical Market Where All Certification Comes from outside the FDA | 49 |
| Intermediate Reforms | 53 |
| Automatic OTC Switches | 53 |
| Intermediate Classifications of Drug Access | 53 |
| States Can Restore the Right to Self-Medicate | 54 |
| Civil Disobedience | 55 |
| Resistance to Reform | 55 |
| Conclusion | 56 |
| Notes | 57 |
| | |

Executive Summary

S. law grants the Food and Drug Administration the power to make consumers get a prescription before purchasing certain drugs. The rationale behind government-imposed prescription requirements is consumer safety—that is, the idea that some drugs are too dangerous for consumers to use without physician supervision.

Research shows, however, that government routinely requires prescriptions for drugs that *are* safe for consumers to use on their own. For years, Food and Drug Administration (FDA) prescription requirements steered consumers away from safer nonsedating antihistamines toward more dangerous sedating antihistamines. More recently and for political reasons, Presidents George W. Bush and Barack Obama collectively blocked access to "Plan B" emergency contraception for more than 12 years. The FDA continues to force consumers to endure unnecessary and costly visits to their doctors before obtaining routine-use oral contraceptives and life-saving drugs such as naloxone.

Government-imposed prescription requirements violate the rights of individuals to access the medicines they want. Vesting this power in government has left Americans with less access to medicines overall—even relative to consumers in other nations where governments also impose prescription requirements. It imposes unnecessary costs that rise during public health crises such as the COVID-19 pandemic. Evidence also suggests that government-imposed prescription requirements make patients *less* safe, not more.

Congress should deny the FDA any power to impose prescription requirements. Doing so would not end prescription requirements. The threat of tort liability would push pharmaceutical manufacturers to require authorization from a physician or other competent medical professional before consumers could purchase unusually dangerous drugs. Even without a statutory requirement, consumers would continue to consult health care professionals before accessing certain drugs when they see the need for expert advice. Drug manufacturers, pharmacies, and their liability insurers could develop innovative means of tailoring drug access to the risks that individual drugs pose.

Denying government the power to require prescriptions would expand drug access by reducing both drug prices and the associated nonprice costs of obtaining needed drugs. The evidence suggests that eliminating government-imposed prescription requirements would lead to more-judicious use of pharmaceuticals because consumers make more-cautious drug decisions when the choice is theirs rather than when government forces them to consult physicians. Denying the FDA this power would help ensure access to beneficial medicines during the COVID-19 pandemic and subsequent public health crises.

Jeffrey A. Singer, MD, practices general surgery in Phoenix and is a senior fellow at the Cato Institute. Michael F. Cannon, MA, JM, is director of health policy studies at the Cato Institute. The authors would like to thank Michael Schemenaur, Jacqueline Pohida, Christine Van Kirk, and Jalisa Clark for their research assistance.

Introduction

he United States leads the world in per capita spending on pharmaceuticals. Inflation-adjusted per capita spending on retail prescription drugs grew from \$90 in 1960 to \$1,025 in 2017.¹ Spending on pharmaceuticals constituted 12 percent of overall health care spending in 2017.²

An important contributor to relatively high drug spending in the United States is relatively high drug prices. One study that examined high-income countries from 2013 to 2016 found:

Among the 11 countries, the United States had the highest pharmaceutical spending per capita at \$1,443, with Switzerland following at \$939 and a mean of \$749. . . . For 4 pharmaceuticals (Crestor, Lantus, Advair, and Humira) used for common conditions, the United States had higher prices than all other countries; for 3 of these, the U.S. price was more than double the next highest price....

The United States spent approximately twice as much as other high-income countries on medical care, yet utilization rates in the United States were largely similar to those in other nations. Prices of labor and goods, *including pharmaceuticals*, and administrative costs appeared to be the major drivers of the difference in overall cost between the United States and other high-income countries.³

A 2019 study found that of the 36 top-selling drugs on the market in the United States from 2012 through 2017, "28 (78%) have seen an increase in insurer and out-of-pocket costs by more than 50%, and 16 (44%) have more than doubled in price."⁴

President Trump has claimed that pharmaceutical manufacturers are "getting away with murder." His administration has unveiled several minor proposals mainly aimed at increasing price competition and accelerating the approval of generic drugs.⁵ While somewhat palliative,

the proposals would leave the United States' costly pharmaceutical regulatory regime fundamentally unaltered.⁶ Improving consumer access to pharmaceuticals requires fundamentally rethinking pharmaceutical regulation.

The current U.S. pharmaceutical regulatory regime is paternalistic. It restricts autonomy by denying consumers the right to self-medicate and sometimes denies desperate patients an opportunity to save their own lives. It places the judgment of perceived experts above the autonomy of the individual. It fails to appreciate, much less replicate, the dynamism and responsiveness of a free market. It inhibits new drug development and contributes to excessive drug prices.

Removing the paternalistic features of drug regulation would promote greater choice, innovation, and affordability while restoring respect for the dignity and autonomy of the individual. Federal law grants the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) the power to prevent competent adults from accessing certain drugs unless they spend time and money to get a government-mandated permission slip (i.e., a prescription). The FDA interpreted the Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act of 1938 (FDCA) as granting it this power, even though the bill's sponsors disavowed any such

66

Federal law grants the U.S. Food and Drug Administration the power to prevent competent adults from accessing certain drugs **unless they spend time and money to get a governmentmandated permission slip (i.e., a prescription).** desire. Congress codified this usurped power in the 1951 Durham-Humphrey Amendment to the FDCA. Neither step was responsive to any contemporaneous drug crisis or regulatory failure.

The rationale behind government-imposed prescription requirements is consumer safety (i.e., that some drugs are too dangerous for consumers to use without physician supervision). It may be comforting to imagine this power only finds its way into the hands of wise policymakers whose sole motivation is a selfless concern for consumers; the reality is not quite so idyllic.

Researchers find that governments routinely use prescription requirements to restrict access to drugs that *are* safe for consumers to use on their own. For years, the FDA let consumers purchase cheap, sedating antihistamines without prescriptions but required prescriptions for nonsedating antihistamines, which are less dangerous. More recently, Presidents George W. Bush and Barack Obama blocked access to "Plan B" emergency contraception for a combined 12 years for political reasons. The FDA continues to force consumers to endure unnecessary and costly visits to doctors before obtaining routine-use oral contraceptives (commonly called "the pill") and life-saving drugs such as naloxone.

Government-imposed prescription requirements violate individual rights and increase the cost of accessing beneficial drugs. They force consumers to undertake the time and expense of seeing a physician—an expense that is also higher in the United States than in other advanced nations—and may even contribute to higher prices for pharmaceuticals that consumers could otherwise afford and use safely on their own. Vesting this power in government has left Americans with less access to medicines than consumers in many other nations. It also has imposed unnecessary costs that rise during public health crises such as the COVID-19 pandemic. Evidence suggests government-imposed prescription requirements make consumers *less* safe, not more.

66

The best evidence suggests that eliminating government-imposed prescription requirements would lead to more-judicious use of pharmaceuticals. ??

Congress should repeal Durham-Humphrey and amend federal law to deny the FDA any power to impose prescription requirements. This would not end prescription requirements. The threat of tort liability would lead pharmaceutical manufacturers to require authorization from a physician or other competent medical professional before consumers could purchase unusually dangerous drugs. Pharmaceutical companies could also tailor drug access to the risks that individual drugs pose, such as by designating drugs to be available for sale on a pharmacist-only, behind-the-counter, over-the-counter, or other basis. To ensure reform restores the right of individuals to self-medicate, Congress should also eliminate premarket approval requirements for new drugs.

The best evidence suggests that eliminating government-imposed prescription requirements would lead to more-judicious use of pharmaceuticals because consumers make more-cautious drug decisions when the choice is theirs rather than when government forces them to consult physicians. Even without a statutory requirement, consumers would continue to consult health care professionals before accessing certain drugs when they see the need for expert advice. Repeal would help restore individual autonomy and dignity while reducing drug prices and the associated nonprice costs of accessing beneficial drugs.

The Right to Self-Medicate

he notion that competent adults have the right to self-medicate is a corollary of the doctrine of informed consent. The doctrine asserts that individuals have a right to refuse whatever medical treatment they choose, even if doing so will harm them. The right to self-medicate is the idea that individuals likewise have a right to use whatever medical treatments they choose, even if doing so will harm them.

Patients-rights advocates struggled for years to force the medical profession to respect patient autonomy through the doctrine of informed consent. Traditionally, an ethos of medical paternalism governed relationships between physicians and patients. Doctors routinely deceived or withheld information from patients about the patients' health based on the physicians' judgment of the patients' interests. In some cases, doctors would perform invasive procedures on competent adults without their consent—indeed, against patients' express wishes.

An infamous instance of medical paternalism occurred in 1908, after an elocutionist from San Francisco named Mary Schloendorff consented to let doctors at New York Hospital put her under anesthesia for the purposes of an examination. Schloendorff expressly and repeatedly told her doctors and nurses that she did not consent to any operation. Her physicians nevertheless removed a uterine fibroid tumor while she was unconscious. Schloendorff blamed the unwanted procedure for the subsequent gangrene in her left arm and the resulting amputation of multiple fingers. She sued the hospital for the tort of assault.⁷

In Schloendorff v. Society of New York Hospital, New York Court of Appeals Judge Benjamin Cardozo's opinion became the basis of the doctrine of informed consent and present-day medical ethics:

In the case at hand, the wrong complained of is not merely negligence. It is trespass. Every human being of adult years and sound mind has a right to determine what shall be done with his own body; and a surgeon who performs an operation without his patient's consent, commits an assault, for which he is liable in damages. This is true except in cases of emergency where the patient is unconscious and where it is necessary to operate before consent can be obtained. . . . [Schloendorff] had never consented to become a patient for any purpose other than an examination under ether. . . . She had forbidden the operation.⁸

The court determined that Schloendorff's doctors had committed an assault. (It nevertheless ruled against her because she had sued the hospital, which the court found not liable for the actions of the doctors who practiced there.)

For decades, the medical profession resisted the doctrine of informed consent and the underlying goal of medical autonomy. Even into the 1970s, many doctors admitted to withholding terminal cancer diagnoses from their patients.⁹

Today, the patient-doctor relationship has largely shifted from one of medical paternalism and patient acquiescence to what bioethicist Daniel Sokol calls a "leveled partnership" in which the medical profession respects patient autonomy and the government punishes providers who violate the doctrine of informed consent.¹⁰

A notable exception to the new ethos of individual autonomy exists in access to pharmaceuticals. Bioethicist Jessica Flanigan argues that government-mandated premarket approval and prescription requirements are forms of coercive medical paternalism that interfere with individual autonomy as much as when doctors lie to patients about the

66
The right to self-medicate is a corollary of the doctrine of informed consent.
99

patients' diagnoses, prognoses, or treatment options or perform unauthorized procedures on them:

Paternalism is just as wrong at the pharmacy as it is in the doctor's office. Medical autonomy is an important value in both contexts, so states should protect patients' rights against unwanted medical interventions from physicians and from unwanted limits on access by public officials. Both informed consent requirements and rights of self-medication will permit people to make decisions that their physicians would advise against.¹¹

Flanigan identifies two areas in which government may ethically restrict the ability to self-medicate. One is antibiotics. Consumers who use antibiotics indiscriminately promote the development of antibiotic-resistant organisms, which can potentially expose others to risk of harm or even death from infectious diseases.¹² It is therefore ethically permissible, Flanigan argues, for government to restrict the use of certain antibiotics. The other area pertains to children and to adults with severe cognitive disabilities who have autonomous capacities not dissimilar to children. Such individuals are unable to make medical decisions in accordance with the doctrine of informed consent and therefore cannot claim the right to self-medication. Flanigan argues Government-mandated premarket approval and prescription requirements are forms of coercive medical paternalism that interfere with individual autonomy as much as when doctors lie to patients or perform unauthorized procedures on them.

that it is therefore ethically permissible to restrict their access to medications.¹³

The doctrine of informed consent and the right to self-medicate are inextricably linked. Any argument that individuals do not have a right to self-medicate necessarily undermines the doctrine of informed consent. It is impossible to infringe on one without threatening the other. If one is valid, so is the other. If one supports the doctrine of informed consent, one must logically respect the right to self-medicate.

A Brief History of U.S. Pharmaceutical Regulation

he history of pharmaceutical regulation in the United States shows that the public and Congress traditionally respected the right to self-medicate. In 1938, however, the FDA without justification effectively began imposing prescription requirements by fiat, claiming it could do so under the FDCA. In 1951, Congress endorsed and codified this power grab. As consumer advocates were struggling to defend medical-autonomy rights through adoption of the doctrine of informed consent, the U.S. government turned against individual autonomy and codified legal and medical paternalism in the area of pharmaceuticals by allowing government officials and medical practitioners to substitute their values and judgment for those of consumers. Access to pharmaceuticals remains stuck in a model in which the relationship between doctors and consumers resembles that of guardians and their wards.

PRE-1938

Prior to 1938, federal law generally respected the right of individuals to self-medicate. With narrow exceptions such as the Harrison Narcotics Act of 1914, which required prescriptions for narcotics that exceeded allowable limits, there were no federal requirements that consumers obtain a prescription from a physician before purchasing a drug. "The status of a drug as prescription or nonprescription was left entirely to the manufacturer," noted former FDA general counsel Peter Barton Hutt.¹⁴ The FDA's official historian, John P. Swann, wrote:

Manufacturers . . . had marketed (if not labelled) selected products such as insulin with the intention that they be used only under a physician's supervision. In fact, as far back as the 1880s, a New York physician related his experience with detail men who assured him that their companies' preparations were sold only with prescriptions.¹⁵

Unless the manufacturer required a prescription, adults were free to purchase any nonnarcotic drug for selfmedication without a doctor's permission.

Nevertheless, economist Sam Peltzman reports that by 1938, "About one-third of drug purchases were being made under a doctor's prescription."¹⁶ In other words, even when there was no law requiring them to do so, consumers routinely sought expert advice from doctors and dentists. Consumers weighed their physicians' recommendations alongside other information, including the insights and recommendations of pharmacists. But in the end, consumers themselves decided what advice to follow and what medications to use.

The private sector developed resources to help consumers and their physicians make these decisions. In 1820, voluntary cooperation among physicians, pharmacists, and schools of pharmacy led to the creation of the United States Pharmacopeial Convention, a private, nonprofit organization that exists to disseminate information about pharmaceuticals.¹⁷ The organization continues to publish and regularly update the *United States Pharmacopeia* (USP), an authoritative compendium of drugs and drug uses, including indications,

The public and Congress
traditionally respected the right to self-medicate.
99

In 1938, the FDA without justification effectively began imposing prescription requirements by fiat. 99

dosage recommendations, warnings, contraindications, and off-label uses. The organization also produces the *National Formulary*, a compendium of drugs, dietary supplements, vitamins, and minerals. The *National Formulary* established standards for composition, purity, strength, storage, and labeling and defines the analytical tests and methods that measure adherence to its standards.¹⁸

When the federal government began regulating pharmaceuticals in the early 20th century, it continued to respect the right to self-medicate. In reaction to highly publicized instances of drug manufacturers defrauding, misleading, or even harming consumers, Congress passed the Pure Food and Drugs Act (PFDA) of 1906. Rather than infringe on the right to self-medicate or limit medical autonomy, the PFDA attempted to provide more information to consumers and physicians. The law codified the privately created USP and defined a drug as "adulterated" if it failed to meet the USP's standards. Those provisions had little apparent effect, as the USP was already the widely recognized standard of practice. The PFDA also defined the crime of "misbranding," stating that a drug was misbranded if it contained alcohol, opium, cocaine, or any other dangerous or potentially addictive substance and failed to list those ingredients (and their proportional inclusion) on the product label. The U.S. Bureau of Chemistry, which implemented the new law, had no authority to determine the efficacy of pharmaceuticals.¹⁹

Other minor changes soon followed. In 1912, the Sherley Amendment allowed prosecution of manufacturers who knowingly made false or fraudulent claims about a drug. In 1927, Congress reorganized the Bureau of Chemistry into the Food, Drug, and Insecticide Administration. In 1930, Congress renamed the agency the Food and Drug Administration (FDA).²⁰

THE FOOD, DRUG, AND COSMETICS ACT OF 1938

A highly publicized tragedy spurred major new legislation in 1938. The S. E. Massengill Company had been successfully marketing a safe and effective new antimicrobial called sulfanilamide. The company decided to release a sweet-flavored liquid "elixir" formulation to make the drug easier for children and others to ingest. It produced the sulfa drug according to specifications, but the solvent it used did not meet the USP standard for branding as an elixir. The USP, and therefore the PFDA, allowed only solutions that used alcohol as the solvent to bear the name "elixir." Rather than alcohol, the company used diethylene glycol—a close chemical cousin of antifreeze (ethylene glycol). The solution poisoned hundreds of consumers, causing extremely painful reactions and 105 deaths, including 34 children.²¹

Under pressure from the FDA, S. E. Massengill recalled the product. The FDA fined the company \$26,100– "the highest that was legally allowed at the time"—but not for killing people or even for failing to conduct safety testing.²² The PFDA only allowed the FDA to fine the company for mislabeling the drug an elixir. "If the product had been called a 'solution' instead of an 'elixir,' no charge of violating the law could have been made."²³ S. E. Massengill settled suits out of court with family members

66

The U.S. government turned against individual autonomy by allowing government officials and medical practitioners to substitute their values and judgments for those of consumers. of elixir sulfanilamide victims.²⁴ The chemist responsible committed suicide.

In response to this tragedy, Congress passed the FDCA. Among its key provisions was a requirement that manufacturers file a new drug application with the FDA before they could market any new drug. The application had to include information on the drug's composition, safety test results, and the manufacturer's quality controls. If the FDA approved the drug as safe, or failed to act on it within 60 days, the manufacturer could proceed to market. (The FDCA allowed existing drugs with a record of proven safety to remain on the market.) The FDCA also imposed stricter misbranding rules. It required manufacturers to list all ingredients in their precise amounts on labels. Crucially, it imposed expensive new labeling requirements for all drugs—and created the potential for the FDA to issue exemptions from those requirements.

The FDCA did not explicitly require manufacturers to designate any drugs as prescription-only.²⁵ Indeed, even as Congress debated and enacted the FDCA, its supporters paid homage to the right to self-medicate. Supporters argued that the FDCA was merely a truth-in-labeling bill that sought to make self-medication safer by furnishing consumers more information. In testimony to Congress in support of an early iteration of the law, FDA chief Walter G. Campbell repeatedly affirmed that the bill's purpose and effect would be to facilitate self-medication, not restrict it:

There is no issue, as I have told you previously, from the standpoint of the enforcement of the Food and Drugs Act about self-medication. This bill does not contemplate its prevention at all. . . . But what is desired . . . is to make self-medication safe.

[The bill provides] information that will permit the intelligent and safe use of drugs for self-medication. . . . All of the provisions dealing with drugs, aside from those recognized in the official compendia, are directed towards safeguarding the consumer who is attempting to administer to himself. If this measure passes, self-medication will become infinitely more safe than it has ever been in the past.²⁶ Even as Congress debated and enacted the FDCA, its supporters paid homage to the right to selfmedicate.

Sen. Royal S. Copeland (D-NY), who was a homeopathic physician, said of an early version of the bill:

There is no more common or mistaken criticism of this bill than that it denies the right to self-medication... Nothing could be further from the truth. The proposed law simply contributes to the safety of self-medication by preventing medicines from being sold as "cures" unless they really are cures. It requires that drugs which have only palliative effect say as much on the label.²⁷

The House committee that reported the bill in 1938 wrote: "The bill is not intended to restrict in any way the availability of drugs for self-medication. On the contrary, it is intended to make self-medication safer and more effective."²⁸

This only made sense. The elixir sulfanilamide tragedy provided no justification for curtailing the right to self-medicate. A government-imposed prescription requirement would not have prevented the tragedy; of the 105 consumers who died, 100 took the drug under the direction of government-licensed physicians.²⁹ Nor have there since been any comparable drug poisoning tragedies for which self-medication was the culprit. If anything, the elixir sulfanilamide tragedy offers evidence that, even in the absence of government-imposed prescription requirements, consumers overwhelmingly seek advice from trusted experts before taking medications—even if those experts sometimes do not deserve their patients' trust. (See discussions of thalidomide in the "Another Drugmaker Kills; Government Again Restricts Consumer Rights" section and of elixir sulfanilamide and thalidomide in the "How Could Consumer Safety Regulation Make Consumers Less Safe?" section).

Despite the assurances of its supporters, the FDCA nevertheless facilitated the system of federally mandated prescription requirements that exists today. The act's labeling requirements stated:

A drug or device shall be deemed to be misbranded ... (f) Unless its labeling bears (1) adequate directions for use; and (2) such warnings against use in those pathological conditions or by children where its use may be dangerous to health, or against unsafe dosage or methods or duration of administration or application, in such manner and form, as the Secretary finds necessary for the protection of users and by regulation prescribes: *Provided*, That where any requirement of clause (1) of this paragraph, as applied to any drug or device, is not necessary for the protection of the public health, *the Secretary shall promulgate regulations exempting such drug or device from such requirement*.³⁰

This section required drug labels to bear instructions for use and to list effects and possible side effects in a manner that a person with little education could understand.³¹

Manufacturers expressed several concerns about these labeling requirements. For starters, compliance was expensive. One drug industry representative complained:

Every one of these labels have got to be changed. It is a fearful job. They have to print them by the millions. Many of these products sell 8, 10, 20 million packages and more a year. They have to be bought months in advance, and go into production months in advance. Millions of dollars are involved not only in discarding stocks of goods on hand, mind you, but in the purchase of these tens of millions of new labels.³²

Manufacturers further complained that some drugs were so dangerous or that safe administration was so complex that it would be impossible to write a label with "adequate directions for use" that would be intelligible to laypeople. One manufacturer wrote:

Under the proposed regulation the labeling must include a full and complete description of the conditions, with their symptoms, for which the preparation is indicated, and a statement of the treatment thereof in such detail that every consumer may determine the proper course of self-medication. In effect, a correspondence course in medicine is to be afforded to laymen....

The warning that phenobarbital is contraindicated in large doses in nephritic subjects is ineffectual and meaningless to a lay consumer who does not know that he is suffering from nephritis (even if the labeling use the synonym "Bright's disease"). Furthermore, a layman lacks the knowledge and experience to determine what quantity constitutes a large dose or an excessive amount. In some cases a layman may not recognize the presence of untoward effects specified in the warning until considerable harm has resulted from continued use of the drug.³³

In other words, manufacturers of certain dangerous drugs were taking steps to protect consumers from them by labeling such drugs for, and marketing them exclusively to,

66

The elixir sulfanilamide tragedy offers evidence that, even in the absence of government-imposed prescription requirements, **consumers overwhelmingly seek advice from trusted experts before taking medications—even if those experts sometimes do not deserve their patients' trust.** physicians who would then prescribe them to patients. The FDCA exposed consumers to greater harm by requiring such manufacturers to affix to those drugs a label with instructions for lay use.

Manufacturers reasonably argued that forcing them to label such drugs for consumer use could make consumers *less* safe by misleading them to believe that they could use the drugs without physician supervision and could thereby expose manufacturers to liability.³⁴

At the behest of manufacturers, the FDA promulgated regulations exempting drugs from the new labeling requirements if the manufacturer marketed the drugs solely to physicians and solely on a prescription-only basis.³⁵ A label qualified for the exemption, the FDA ruled, if it bore the warning, "Caution: To be used only by or on the prescription of a physician."³⁶

The combination of a costly and coercive labeling requirement alongside an exemption for prescription-only drugs predictably transformed a law that purported to facilitate self-medication into a sweeping curtailment of the right to self-medicate. The expense and liability associated with compliance with the labeling requirement effectively coerced manufacturers into selling many drugs on a prescription-only basis. Swann wrote, "Manufacturers began . . . labelling many drugs that were safe for self-medication with the prescription legend."37 According to Massachusetts Institute of Technology economic historian Peter Temin: "The drug firms introduced virtually all of the new drugs as prescription drugs, apparently without sustained opposition. Since drug firms are engaged in profit-making activity, they undoubtedly thought they derived a commercial advantage from this designation."38

Commercial advantage and risk aversion pushed in the same direction. Classifying or reclassifying drugs as prescription-only was likely attractive to drug manufacturers because it allowed them to charge higher prices (see the "A Contributor to Excessive Drug Prices" section), sidestep extremely costly labeling requirements, and avoid enforcement actions by an agency that provided almost no guidance as to how to proceed. In 1982, Hutt wrote that the "general principles" the agency offered about how to classify drugs were "so vague and indeterminate as to provide virtually no guidance for daily decisions." The FDA "never enunciated either in published regulations or in other written documents the kind of operational rules that would provide clear policy and result in consistent decisions on the prescription/ nonprescription status of drugs."³⁹ In other words, the FDA restricted the right to self-medicate through both action and inaction.

The FDCA's implementation thus belied the assurances of the law's authors. As Peltzman put it: "A law that was written (ostensibly) to promote more informed choice by consumers was interpreted instead to restrict consumer choice."⁴⁰ Temin summarized this "stunning" and unauthorized usurpation of the consumer's right to choose:

The Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act of 1938... undertook to assure the public that any drug on the market could be taken in reasonable quantities without harm. The government thereby restricted the range of consumer choice by taking harmful substances off the market. But the layman was still free to choose his own drugs from among all nonharmful, nonnarcotic drugs. He could consult a doctor if he wished, but he was under no obligation to do so.

By the end of 1938, the FDA had announced that the government would sharply curtail this freedom

"

The combination of a costly and coercive labeling requirement alongside an exemption for prescription-only drugs predictably transformed a law that purported to facilitate self-medication into a sweeping curtailment of the right to self-medicate.

66

Even if the FDCA's authors had intended all along to restrict the right to self-medicate, **their denials that the act would do so show that this right enjoyed broad support before the law's enactment. ?**

of choice. Consumers, the FDA said, were not competent to make their own drug choices. . . . The government had delegated the consumers' choice to manufacturers and doctors—and nobody commented. . . .

This change in the underlying assumptions of drug legislation came about through internal FDA processes. The shift from assuming a capable consumer to assuming an incompetent consumer was made within the FDA within six months of the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetics Act's passage. Not only was the shift in assumptions not controversial, the method by which it was accomplished occasioned no comment as well. The decisions of the FDA were ratified by the courts and enacted into statute by the Congress. Neither branch of the government undertook to question the FDA's assumptions.⁴¹

Even if the FDCA's authors had intended all along to restrict the right to self-medicate, their denials that the act would do so show that this right enjoyed broad support before the law's enactment. The FDA's frustration that consumers kept purchasing many prescription-only drugs without prescriptions, and the agency's many prosecutions of pharmacists for selling such drugs without prescriptions, further illustrate that the right to self-medicate enjoyed broad support even after the law's enactment. Such civil disobedience continued for at least a decade.⁴²

THE DURHAM-HUMPHREY AMENDMENT OF 1951

Official respect for the right to self-medicate ended in 1951 with the passage of the Durham-Humphrey Amendment. Despite large incentives to designate drugs as prescription-only, many drug manufacturers continued to sell drugs directly to consumers. The lack of guidance from the FDA led some manufacturers to require prescriptions for drugs for which other manufacturers did not.⁴³ The situation created confusion and fear of prosecution among pharmacists.⁴⁴ With the support of their profession, two former pharmacists—Rep. Carl Durham (D-NC) and Sen. Hubert Humphrey (D-MN)—sponsored an amendment to the FDCA that they argued would bring uniformity to the market for prescription drugs.⁴⁵

The Durham-Humphrey Amendment formally authorized the FDA to classify pharmaceuticals as either over-the-counter (OTC) or prescription-only. The amendment prohibits dispensing a prescription-only drug unless the consumer presents a prescription from a government-licensed health care practitioner. Manufacturers can request OTC or prescription-only classification when submitting a new drug application, but the FDA makes the ultimate decision. The amendment exempted drugs already on the market that had a proven safety record, which is why a few of the original brands of insulin extracted from agricultural animals and already on the market prior to the 1938 FDCA (e.g., Humulin and Novo-Novolin) are still available in most states without a prescription.⁴⁶ The Durham-Humphrey Amendment further established rules and procedures for switching a drug's classification from prescription-only to OTC, allowed for prescriptions with authorized refills (prescriptions had previously been single-use only), and allowed for doctors to phone in prescriptions if pharmacies immediately converted them to writing.47

Whereas the FDA's interpretation of the FDCA implicitly coerced manufacturers into marketing many drugs as prescription-only, Durham-Humphrey explicitly denied drug manufacturers the right to decide whether consumers must consult with a clinician before accessing a drug and the right to decide from what type of clinician consumers must obtain a prescription. It therefore also gave the FDA the power to deny consumers the right to choose whether to self-medicate or to medicate under the direction of a clinician. The FDA's interpretation of the FDCA and the Durham-Humphrey Amendment thus increased the cost of obtaining many drugs by requiring consumers to spend more time and money getting prescriptions. The agency's continued failure to provide clear guidance about how to classify drugs again created incentives for risk-averse manufacturers to request prescription-only status, even for safe drugs, to reduce the risk of FDA enforcement actions.⁴⁸

Durham-Humphrey does leave states some power to help their residents—the power to decide which health care practitioners may write prescriptions. States can therefore expand access to medications by letting nonphysician clinicians—pharmacists, nurse practitioners, etc.—prescribe drugs. Some states have used this strategy broadly or for specific drugs.

This aspect of the amendment is a double-edged sword, however. By increasing the number of drugs for which consumers must obtain prescriptions, Durham-Humphrey also increases economic incentives for physicians to lobby state legislatures against expanding prescriptive authority to other clinicians.

ANOTHER DRUGMAKER KILLS; GOVERNMENT AGAIN RESTRICTS CONSUMER RIGHTS

In the years that followed, Congress continued to increase federal regulation of pharmaceuticals. Among the most significant changes were the Kefauver-Harris Amendments of 1962. These amendments exacerbated the effects of the Durham-Humphrey Amendment's government-imposed prescription requirements.

Like the FDCA that they amended, the Kefauver-Harris Amendments were a response to a tragedy involving unsafe drugs. In recent decades, the FDA has approved the drug thalidomide to treat leprosy and multiple myeloma.⁴⁹ The drug's adverse side effects, however, include severe and often fatal birth defects when pregnant women take it.⁵⁰ Humanity learned this the hard way: when manufacturers marketed thalidomide as a sedative in the late 1950s and early 1960s, it led to an estimated 10,000 cases of fetal abnormalities across 46 countries.⁵¹ Many fetuses died in utero or shortly after birth.

66

Government-licensed physicians prescribed thalidomide to 20,771 patients, including 3,879 women of child-bearing age, 624 of whom were pregnant. These physicians apparently did not tell their patients that the drug was experimental or that the FDA had not approved it. ??

Thalidomide affected relatively few Americans because the FDA, citing safety concerns, refused to approve the drug. "Nonetheless," writes physician and historian Paul M. Wax, "under the guise of conducting a new-drug investigation, the Merrell Pharmaceutical Company managed to supply more than 2,500,000 thalidomide tablets to 1,270 physicians in the United States for investigational use."⁵² Those government-licensed physicians then prescribed the drug to 20,771 patients, including 3,879 women of child-bearing age, 624 of whom were pregnant.⁵³ These physicians apparently did not tell their patients that the drug was experimental or that the FDA had not approved it.⁵⁴ The FDA reported that there were "17 children born in America with thalidomide-associated deformities."⁵⁵

Spurred to action by news reports and horrifying photos of "thalidomide babies," Congress passed the Kefauver-Harris Amendments. The amendments require drug companies to conduct additional tests and trials to demonstrate that new drugs are safe. For the first time, Congress also required manufacturers to establish to the FDA's satisfaction that a new drug is effective at treating a specific condition. The amendments require "that informed consent be obtained from all research study subjects so that patients would have to be specifically informed if a drug they were being given or prescribed was 'experimental,' something that had not happened in the case of thalidomide.³⁵⁶ The amendments also eliminated requirements that the FDA approve or deny a new drug application within a specified period. Wax explains that with the Kefauver-Harris Amendments, "the transition of the FDA from an agency responding to events to an agency actively scrutinizing new-drug development was complete.³⁵⁷

Imposing a proof-of-efficacy requirement before manufacturers can take a new drug to market was a curious response to the thalidomide tragedy. The concern with thalidomide was not its efficacy. It is indeed effective as a sedative—and in treating nausea associated with pregnancy for that matter. The issue with thalidomide was safety, and the FDA already had sufficient authority to keep it off the market until it was proven safe, as the agency's handling of the drug demonstrates. One can nevertheless argue for a proof-of-efficacy requirement on safety grounds. Establishing efficacy requires manufacturers to conduct more and longer clinical trials that often identify adverse drug reactions that smaller, safety-focused trials do not.

What makes the proof-of-efficacy requirement most curious is that Congress's response to malfeasance on the part of pharmaceutical companies and doctors was to punish *patients* by further curtailing their freedom to self-medicate. The Durham-Humphrey Amendment interferes with consumers' freedom to self-medicate by requiring them to get permission from a government-anointed gatekeeper before purchasing certain drugs. The Kefauver-Harris Amendments interfere with consumers' freedom to self-medicate by delaying for years consumers' ability either to exercise that right (in the case of OTC drugs) or even to medicate with a physician's permission (in the case of prescription drugs).

Kefauver-Harris created the twin problems of "drug lag" and "drug loss." Drug lag refers to the additional time the FDA's proof-of-efficacy requirement forces consumers to wait before they may access a drug. Every day that the FDA adds to the drug development and approval process is a day that the agency denies consumers their right to self-medicate with that drug. In 1994, economists David Dranove and David Meltzer noted the effects of Kefauver-Harris on total drug development time: Since the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) Amendments of 1962, the average time from a drug's first worldwide patent application to its approval by the FDA has risen from 3.5 to 13.5 years....

Our results indicate that, beginning in the 1950s, more important drugs—especially drugs that proved to be successful in the marketplace—have been developed and approved more rapidly than less important drugs. Despite this, the overall trend of increasing average development and approval times implies that even drugs two standard deviations above the mean level of importance are taking longer and longer to reach the market.⁵⁸

Even important drugs saw median time to market grow by 7.5 years. The authors cited "several strands of evidence that suggest that the acceleration is due more to the actions of firms than to the FDA initiatives of the mid-1970s" and that "the accelerated approval of important drugs was a worldwide phenomenon."59 Other studies have found that the time required to bring a drug through FDA-mandated clinical testing and marketing approval alone rose from 7.5 years (90.3 months) in the 1980s and 1990s to 8 years (96.3 months) in the 1990s and 2000s.⁶⁰ These estimates do not count the preclinical phase of drug development, between synthesis of a new chemical entity and human testing, which adds several years to the FDA approval process. Drug lag is cruelest to terminally ill patients, whom it denies the right to try to save their lives by using a drug already proven safe but

66

Congress's response to malfeasance on the part of pharmaceutical companies and doctors was **to punish patients by further curtailing their freedom to self-medicate.** awaiting efficacy approval. Many seriously ill Americans die waiting for the FDA to approve drugs that regulators in other countries have already approved.⁶¹

Drug loss occurs when pharmaceutical manufacturers choose not to invest in finding new treatments that they do not believe can recoup the considerable cost of securing FDA approval. Presented in 2019 dollars, the average estimated cost of each new drug approval has risen from \$523 million in 1987 to \$1.2-1.8 billion in 2000 to \$3.2 billion in 2013. The cost grew at an average annual real rate of 9.4 percent in the 1970s, 7.4 percent in the 1980s, and 8.5 percent from 1990 through the early 2010s.⁶² Drug loss denies consumers the freedom to access drugs that would have a lower expected benefit-to-cost ratio than the FDA might accept, or whose potential market is too small to recoup the cost of an FDA approval. The fact that drug loss denies manufacturers' freedom to bring those drugs to market makes it no less an infringement on consumers' right to self-medicate.

The high cost of the FDA's approval processes necessarily leads to higher drug prices. It also creates incentives for manufacturers to market drugs as prescription-only so that they can charge higher prices to help recoup those costs. (See the "A Contributor to Excessive Drug Prices" section.)

Dissatisfaction with the length of the FDA's approval process led to a national "Right to Try" movement that spurred legislation at the state level and a federal "Right to Try" law in 2018. These laws allow some terminally ill patients to access drugs that the FDA is blocking from the market.⁶³

66

Many seriously ill Americans die waiting for the FDA to approve drugs that **regulators in other countries have already approved. 99**

66

Keeping new drugs off the market until manufacturers conduct more and larger clinical trials no doubt saves lives by preventing unsafe drugs from coming to market. Yet it also causes patients to suffer and even die while waiting for treatments to clear the FDA's approval process. ??

Rather than save lives, the Kefauver-Harris Amendments may cost lives. Keeping new drugs off the market until manufacturers conduct more and larger clinical trials no doubt saves lives by preventing unsafe drugs from coming to market. Yet it also causes patients to suffer and even die while waiting for treatments to clear the FDA's approval process.

Several studies have estimated that the FDA would save more lives if it reduced the length of its new drug approval process. In 1973, Peltzman studied the reduction in new drug introductions since Kefauver-Harris and concluded:

The main finding is that benefits forgone on effective new drugs exceed greatly the waste avoided on ineffective drugs....

The estimates imply that the magnitude of the problem of ineffective new drugs prior to 1962 was trivial or that the ability of FDA regulation to reduce the problem is small. At the same time, the reduced flow of new drugs due to the amendments is imposing net losses on consumers which are the rough equivalent of a 5–10 percent excise tax on all prescriptions sold....

The penalties imposed by the marketplace on sellers of ineffective drugs prior to 1962 seem to have been enough of a deterrent to have left little room for improvement by a regulatory agency.⁶⁴

Peltzman later elaborated: "If our estimates of the gains and losses from exceptionally beneficial and unsafe drugs, respectively, are at all reasonable, there was already a costly bias in the pre-1962 proof-of-safety requirement. . . . The risk-return tradeoff was already biased against drug consumers in 1962. The [Kefauver-Harris] amendments have simply exaggerated the bias."⁶⁵

A 2004 study by Mary K. Olson examined the effects of accelerated reviews for therapeutically novel drugs. Olson's estimates indicate that the FDA's drug approval process poses such a high barrier to entry into the market that reducing the duration and cost of that process (i.e., regulating less) would improve overall health. She writes:

When . . . health benefits are considered, the evidence suggests that [adverse drug reaction] deaths reduce the net longevity benefits of new drugs by approximately 8% in their first two years on the market. Based on this estimate, the evidence suggests that overall regulators [sic] efforts to speed patient access to novel drugs produces a net gain for society.⁶⁶

In other words, the health improvements that result from shortening the FDA's approval process exceed the health losses by a factor of 12 in the first two years. Olson notes

Even under unreasonably conservative assumptions, the health benefits that resulted from reducing the barriers to entry into the pharmaceutical market were between three and six times greater than the health losses. 99 several caveats, including that consumers may underreport adverse reactions or that adverse reactions could occur beyond two years. She estimates, however, that even if consumers and physicians fail to report 30 percent of adverse drug reactions, the health losses would still account for just 11 percent of the health gains from bringing beneficial new drugs to market faster. That is, the health gains would still be nine times greater than the health losses.⁶⁷

A 2006 study examined the effects of the Prescription Drug User Fee Acts of 1992, 1997, and 2002 (PDUFA), which accelerated the FDA's reviews of new drug applications. Tomas J. Philipson and colleagues estimated the health effects of those faster reviews. They conclude:

Our major findings are that the proportion and timing of withdrawal of drugs approved pre- and post-PDUFA do not differ in a statistically significant way; about 2-3% of approved drugs are withdrawn at the same speed before and after the Acts. In addition, we compute an extreme upper bound on the adverse safety effects induced by PDUFA by assuming that *all* [new molecular entity] withdrawals after 1992 were due to PDUFA and that there were no benefits associated with the drugs so that their social surplus is measured by the harmful health effects the withdrawn drugs imposed. Using this extreme upper bound on the adverse safety effects of PDUFA, we find that the drugs approved and withdrawn during PDUFA cost about 56,000 life years as compared to the gains in health implicit in the greater speed generated by PDUFA, which are estimated at the equivalent of 180,000 to 310,000 life years.68

Even under unreasonably conservative assumptions, the study estimates that the health benefits that resulted from reducing the barriers to entry into the pharmaceutical market were between three and six times greater than the health losses. The authors then suggested that under more reasonable assumptions, the health benefit-to-cost ratio might be, at the margin, infinite:

By the most plausible measure, the act did not, in fact, have any effect on drug safety: neither the proportion of drugs eventually withdrawn (2 to 3 percent), nor the speed with which they were withdrawn, changed in any statistically significant way since the law's passage....

By one interpretation, the analysis suggests there was *no* trade-off between safety and speed: the increased speed in reviewing applications had *no* measurable impact on the quality of the review process. But even if there was a price—that is, if hanging on to review procedures before 1992 would have reduced errors that led to deaths—there are very good reasons to believe that the price was worth paying. Faster access to new drugs saved more lives than the release of dangerous drugs could possibly have claimed.⁶⁹

These results suggest, again, that the FDA's approval processes are so burdensome that, at the margin, they are harming health rather than improving health and that The FDA's approval processes are so burdensome that, at the margin, they are harming health rather than improving health. ??

lowering the barriers to new drugs would improve overall health.

The Olson and Philipson studies examined only the effects of drug lag. To the extent that the FDA's drug approval process also leads to drug loss, the benefits of reducing the time and financial costs of that process would be even greater.

Blocking Access to Safe, Necessary Drugs

aving a government agency make consumers get prescriptions before they access drugs has surface appeal. Many drugs are dangerous. In many cases, the benefits of having a gatekeeper regulate access will exceed the costs. Allowing *government* to decide which drugs require gatekeepers and who shall be the gatekeepers, however, inevitably harms consumers by denying them access to beneficial drugs for which either no gatekeeper requirement or only a less-costly gatekeeper is necessary. Indeed, the evidence suggests that government-imposed prescription requirements do more harm than good.

Government-imposed prescription requirements increase the financial and time costs of obtaining beneficial medicines and block access to safe, effective, and critical drugs—often for decades. For example, empowering government to choose which drugs require prescriptions likely increased the cost to American consumers of two common medications, the nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) ibuprofen and naproxen, for a decade or more:

- Developers of ibuprofen, which relieves pain and reduces fevers, secured a patent for it in 1961. The FDA approved ibuprofen for prescription-only sale in 1974. The agency did not remove the prescription requirement until 1984.⁷⁰
- The FDA approved the pain reliever naproxen for prescription-only sale in 1976.⁷¹ The FDA did not remove the prescription requirement until 1994, 18 years later.⁷²
- Compared to their British counterparts, U.S. consumers of naproxen were lucky. The United Kingdom did not approve naproxen for OTC sale until 2008, 14 years after the FDA did.⁷³

To the extent the higher financial and time costs associated with obtaining prescriptions made accessing ibuprofen and naproxen prohibitive, government-imposed prescription requirements denied consumers access to these beneficial drugs.

UNDERMINING SAFETY: THE CASE OF ANTIHISTAMINES

The case of antihistamines shows that governmentimposed prescription requirements do not always promote safety and sometimes put patients at greater risk. In this case, the FDA used its power to mandate prescriptions in a way that steered patients away from safer drugs toward more dangerous drugs.

First-generation antihistamines such as diphenhydramine (i.e., Benadryl) and chlorpheniramine (i.e., Chlor-Trimeton) have been available OTC in the United States since the 1970s and 1980s.⁷⁴ These drugs carry significant downsides. One *USA Today* article points out, "The recommended doses of these older antihistamines cause sedation that is the equivalent of being legally drunk."⁷⁵ In 2007, the

66

The case of antihistamines shows that government-imposed prescription requirements do not always promote safety and sometimes put patients at greater risk.

"

Federal Aviation Administration reported, "Based on the information available in the [National Transportation Safety Board] Database [from 1990] through September 2006, the use of the antihistamine(s) by pilots was determined to be the probable cause or a contributing factor in 63 of the 338 accidents" that resulted in fatalities.⁷⁶ Studies have also linked the drugs to thousands of automobile fatalities. In rare cases, they cause "seizures, hallucinations and death from accidental overdoses, especially in children."⁷⁷

Second-generation antihistamines are far safer. "Claritin [i.e., loratadine] causes no sedation and has no significant side effects. The drug is so safe that no lethal dose is known." Fexofenadine (i.e., Allegra) and cetirizine (i.e., Zyrtec) have similar safety profiles.⁷⁸ The FDA approved loratadine in 1993 and cetirizine and fexofenadine in 1996.⁷⁹ Schering-Plough Corp., which manufactured Claritin, "used the drug's safety record to persuade regulatory agencies in other countries to let the company sell the drug over the counter."⁸⁰

For years, however, the FDA steered patients toward the more dangerous drugs by letting them purchase first-generation antihistamines OTC but requiring prescriptions for the safer second-generation antihistamines. In 2001, an FDA advisory panel voted in favor of making loratadine, cetirizine, and fexofenadine available OTC,⁸¹ "but the FDA essentially disregarded the advice by failing to act."⁸² Robert M. Miles, past president of the American College of Allergy, Asthma, and Immunology,

66

For years, the FDA steered patients toward the more dangerous drugs by letting them purchase sedating antihistamines OTC but **requiring prescriptions for the safer nonsedating antihistamines. 9** noted, "The over-the-counter medicines are much more dangerous than the ones we write the prescriptions for."⁸³ Neuropsychologist Gary Kay commented, "If you put any drugs behind the counter, it should be the old anti-histamines. They're the ones with all the dangerous side effects."⁸⁴ In other words, the FDA got the safety consider-ations exactly backward.

The FDA dragged its heels for years, not switching loratadine (Claritin) to OTC until 2002, cetirizine (Zyrtec) until 2007, or fexofenadine (Allegra) until 2011.⁸⁵ (For more about the circumstances of those switches, see the "Prescription Requirements Are a Boon to Pharmaceutical Manufacturers" section.)

A DECADE OF DENIED ACCESS TO EMERGENCY CONTRACEPTIVES ("PLAN B")

Government-imposed prescription requirements politicize what should be personal medical decisions. One can see this effect most clearly in the decadelong struggle to respect the right of consumers to purchase levonorgestrel-based emergency contraceptives, commonly called "Plan B."

Emergency contraceptives are now available OTC in the United States, including in vending machines and even via delivery services that some describe as "Uber for birth control."⁸⁶ But that was not always the case. For purely political reasons, Republicans and Democrats together denied consumers the freedom to self-medicate with Plan B for more than a decade. In total, the federal government took 12 years and 4 months—4,499 days—to make Plan B available without restriction. Even then, the switch came only after "a federal judge angrily accused the [Obama] administration of blocking the drug because of politics, not science, and ordered [Health and Human Services Secretary Kathleen] Sebelius to reverse her decision."⁸⁷

The FDA approved Plan B for prescription-only sale in 1999. In February 2001, the Center for Reproductive Rights and "more than 60 other family planning and health organizations" petitioned the agency to eliminate the prescription requirement.⁸⁸ In 2003, an FDA advisory panel voted 23–4 to approve the petition.

In 2004, the FDA denied the petition. The nonpartisan U.S. Government Accountability Office (GAO) identified four ways the FDA's denial was "unusual."

66

For purely political reasons, Republicans and Democrats together **denied consumers the freedom to self-medicate with Plan B for more than a decade. ??**

First, the directors of the offices that reviewed the application, who would normally have been responsible for signing the Plan B action letter, disagreed with the decision and did not sign the not-approvable letter for Plan B. The Director of the Office of New Drugs also disagreed and did not sign the letter.

Second, FDA's high-level management was more involved in the review of Plan B than in those of other OTC switch applications.

Third, there are conflicting accounts of whether the decision to not approve the application was made before the reviews were completed.

Fourth, the rationale for the Acting Director's decision was novel and did not follow FDA's traditional practices.⁸⁹

The FDA's assistant commissioner for women's health, Susan Wood, resigned in protest of the unorthodox and unnecessary delays.⁹⁰ Federal Judge Edward R. Korman would later summarize: "The 2003 FDA advisory committee formed to consider the first application for overthe-counter access to [Plan B] emergency contraceptives voted by the most overwhelming of margins to approve it. . . . It was only the political interference by the Bush White House that prevented their recommendation from being adopted."⁹¹

In 2006, the Bush administration finally relented and allowed OTC sales for Plan B—but only to consumers age 18 and over. In 2009, a federal judge ordered the FDA to allow OTC sales to 17-year-olds.⁹² The struggle to give Plan B full OTC status seemed to reach a turning point in 2011, when FDA officials recommended unrestricted OTC access. Instead, Sebelius overruled the decision on the basis that there was insufficient data to show that 11- and 12-year-old girls would understand the Plan B label and use the drug properly.⁹³ President Obama defended the decision, telling reporters that he shared concerns about selling Plan B "alongside bubble gum and batteries."⁹⁴

Critics—principally from the political left—accused Obama of violating a campaign promise and blocking unrestricted access to Plan B to aid his 2012 reelection campaign. They noted that the federal government had never applied such a standard to OTC drugs that had known harms, while Plan B by contrast is so safe that it is "impossible to overdose."⁹⁵ The editor in chief of the *New England Journal of Medicine* joined Susan Wood and another original member of the FDA committee that recommended removing the prescription requirement to write:

In our opinion, the secretary's decision to retain behind-the-counter status for Plan B OneStep was based on politics rather than science. It cannot be based on issues of safety, since a 12-year-old can purchase a lethal dose of acetaminophen in any pharmacy for about \$11, no questions asked. The only documented adverse effects of a \$50 dose of levonorgestrel are nausea and delay of menses by several days. Any objective review makes it clear that Plan B is more dangerous to politicians than to adolescent girls. Thus, we once again have a situation in which political considerations are forming the basis of public health policy—resulting in another sad day for women.⁹⁶

Left-leaning journalist Jonathan Cohn wrote, "It's likely politics played a major role here. Most likely, the White House didn't want critics—like, say, the eventual Republican nominee for president—saying that Obama wants 12-year-old girls to have sex. Obama wouldn't be saying that, of course, but when has that ever mattered?"⁹⁷

Despite intense public pressure, the delays continued until May 2013, when Judge Korman ordered the FDA to approve Plan B for unrestricted OTC sale. Korman wrote that the Obama administration blocked full OTC access for "obviously political" reasons:

The effort to convert these [Plan B] contraceptives from prescription to over-the-counter status has gone on for over twelve years, even though they would be among the safest drugs available to children and adults on any drugstore shelf. The FDA, responding to unjustified political interference, delayed as long as it possibly could before it took even one incremental step in the process. Ultimately, on December 7, 2011 . . . the FDA concluded that Plan B One-Step-the one-pill version of the drug-could be sold over-the-counter and without a prescription or age restriction. The FDA was reversed by the Secretary of Health and Human Services on the same day in a decision that was politically motivated and that, even without regard to the Secretary's motives, was so unpersuasive as to call into question her good faith.98

Korman chided his own naiveté for thinking that the Obama administration's "new FDA Commissioner, Deputy Commissioner, and President . . . could be 'trusted to conduct a fair assessment of the scientific evidence.""⁹⁹ The agency complied with Korman's order in June 2013.¹⁰⁰

If government didn't have the power to block or impose conditions on access to drugs, politicians would never have been able to politicize women's health and reproductive rights in this manner. Manufacturers could just sell oral contraceptives directly to women and their partners. We will never know how many unwanted pregnancies and abortions occurred during those 12 years because the federal government denied those rights to manufacturers and consumers.

Wood warned that the FDA's handling of OTC status for Plan B "could set a dangerous precedent for future decisions."¹⁰¹ Indeed, it is not even an outlier in terms of the degree of political interference with the right of individuals to self-medicate. Politics continues to play a role in the FDA blocking OTC status for routine-use oral contraception and life-saving naloxone.

66

If government didn't have the power to block or impose conditions on access to drugs, **politicians would never have been able to politicize women's health and reproductive rights in this manner.**

ROUTINE-USE ORAL CONTRACEPTIVES

An ongoing example of government-imposed prescription requirements blocking access to beneficial medicines is routine-use oral contraceptives. Tens of millions of American women—more than four out of five women who have had sexual intercourse—have used oral contraceptives, which are critical for reducing unwanted pregnancies and the incidence of abortion.¹⁰² Obtaining a physician's prescription can add up to \$200 plus time and discomfort to the cost of "the pill."¹⁰³ Nearly a third of American women who seek prescriptions for oral contraceptives report having difficulty obtaining them, citing nonmonetary obstacles such as getting to their doctors' appointments twice as often as they cite difficulty paying for the appointments.¹⁰⁴

The Institute for Women's Policy Research recommended switching the pill to OTC status as early as June 2000. "The public health benefits associated with reduced rates of unplanned pregnancies and abortions as well as the medical cost savings to society would substantially outweigh any risks of increased and undirected use of oral contraceptives," the nonprofit organization wrote in 2001.¹⁰⁵

Medical authorities have long endorsed OTC access to oral contraceptives. The American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists (ACOG) has called for making the pill available OTC since at least 2012.¹⁰⁶ In 2019, the ACOG issued an even more forceful call for OTC access and no age restrictions to "oral contraceptive pills, vaginal rings, the contraceptive patch, and depot medroxyprogesterone acetate" (i.e., contraceptive injections such as Depo-Provera).¹⁰⁷ The American Academy of Family Physicians affirmed its support for OTC access in 2014 and again in 2019.¹⁰⁸ A 2009 survey of nearly 500 reproductive health care providers found that 74 percent supported eliminating prescription requirements for oral contraceptives, contraceptive patches, and vaginal rings.¹⁰⁹

Women around the world have OTC access to the pill. A 2013 study in the journal *Contraception* found that oral contraceptives are available without a prescription in more than 100 countries.¹¹⁰ Countries where women are free to purchase the pill without a prescription include communist China and Cuba. Countries that require prescriptions include the United States, Saudi Arabia, and most Western European countries.¹¹¹

There is convincing evidence that women can use oral contraceptives safely and effectively without consulting a physician. Like all medications, oral contraceptives carry risks. Women who are smokers or have hypertension or other conditions are at a greater risk of adverse reactions. Yet oral contraceptives are unexceptional in this regard. Many widely accepted OTC medications such as aspirin, acetaminophen, and ibuprofen carry risks of adverse reactions.¹¹²

Indeed, eliminating the prescription requirement for the pill could lead to more careful management of those risks. A 2006 study of women in Seattle-area family planning clinics found that those who sought contraception took more careful account of potential contraindications than physicians do, suggesting OTC access would subject

66

Women around the world have OTC access to the pill. A 2013 study in the journal *Contraception* found that **oral contraceptives are available without a prescription in more than 100 countries. 99** women to fewer risks.¹¹³ Research also suggests that prescription requirements contribute to contraceptive discontinuation within the first year and that allowing OTC access would make oral contraceptives more effective by promoting more continuous use.¹¹⁴

In 2020, however, neither the leading Democratic nor Republican bills that purport to provide OTC access to oral contraceptives would do so. The leading Republican bill would merely command the FDA to give the issue expedited consideration—without any consequences if the agency continues its current, dilatory approach. Worse, the bill would impose a *statutory* prescription requirement for minors, something that does not even exist for lethal doses of acetaminophen, aspirin, ibuprofen, and other OTC drugs.¹¹⁵

The leading Democratic bill is no better and may be worse. In service of their separate political goal of forcing insurers to pay for oral contraceptives, many Democrats and allied organizations oppose OTC status or have placed conditions on their support for it. Typically, they argue that OTC access could undermine the Affordable Care Act (ACA). The ACA requires nearly all Americans to purchase full coverage for all FDA-approved prescription contraceptives. If the FDA were to give oral contraceptives OTC status, insurers would no longer have to cover them. Critics have accused the organization Planned Parenthood of opposing OTC status because it could lose a significant share of its revenues if retailers could stock the pill on shelves alongside "bubble gum and batteries" and thereby provide women a lower-cost option.¹¹⁶

The leading Democratic bill, moreover, would not even ask the FDA to expedite consideration of OTC status. Instead, it would merely expand the ACA's contraceptives-coverage mandate to require consumers to purchase coverage for all OTC methods of contraception, from hormonal contraceptives to condoms.¹¹⁷ It would do so even though such a mandate could block one of the main potential benefits of OTC status: lower prices for oral contraceptives. (See the "Excessive Coverage for Prescription Contraceptives Led to Price Spikes" section and especially Figure 4.) Rather than standing up for women's rights, both Democrats and Republicans are playing politics with the pill, just as they did with Plan B. Congress (or the FDA) should switch oral contraceptives to OTC status immediately.

BLOCKING ACCESS TO LIFE-SAVING NALOXONE

Government-imposed prescription requirements prevent medical personnel and laypeople from saving lives. For example, the FDA requires consumers to obtain prescriptions before purchasing naloxone, a safe, effective drug that reverses opioid overdoses. The drug reverses depressed respiratory rate and blood pressure by knocking opioids off the recipient's opioid receptors and binding itself to those receptors. The World Health Organization considers naloxone an "essential medicine."¹¹⁸ It has no abuse potential.¹¹⁹ It has negligible or no effect on individuals who are not suffering an opioid overdose. It received a U.S. patent in 1961 and FDA approval in 1971.¹²⁰

The need for naloxone is dire. The U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) reports that from 1999 through 2017, nearly 400,000 U.S. residents died from opioid overdoses. Opioids account for more than two-thirds of total drug-overdose deaths, and mortality from opioid overdoses continues to rise.¹²¹

Naloxone is highly effective even when nonmedical personnel administer it. A 2013 study that trained opioid users and bystanders in Massachusetts found that "death rates from opioid overdose were reduced in communities where overdose education and naloxone distribution was implemented compared with not implemented."¹²² The CDC reports that from 1996 through 2014, nonmedical personnel using naloxone reversed more than 26,000 opioid overdoses. The CDC says, "Providing opioid overdose training and naloxone kits to laypersons who might witness an opioid overdose can help reduce opioid overdose mortality."¹²³ In 2018, the U.S. surgeon general issued an advisory on the effectiveness of naloxone and urged its public distribution to combat the opioid-overdose crisis.¹²⁴

There is no better way to put this safe, effective, life-saving drug within the reach of those who might witness an opioid overdose than to make it available to anyone who wishes to purchase it. Naloxone has been available OTC in Australia since 2016 and in Italy since 1996.¹²⁵ Human Rights Watch writes, "Naloxone's status as a prescription rather than an 'over-the-counter' medication creates a significant barrier to expanded access." The organization continues, "It is therefore essential that prescription rules be changed... to designate naloxone as an 'over-the-counter' medication that can be issued without prescription."¹²⁶ According to one Human Rights Watch researcher, "If it were as easy to buy as Tylenol, many thousands of lives could be saved."¹²⁷

The FDA nevertheless continues to forbid the purchase of naloxone without a prescription.¹²⁸ In September 2018, the FDA received a "citizen's petition" from more than 70 health care practitioners and researchers asking the agency to approve easy-to-use naloxone nasal spray for OTC sale.¹²⁹ As the FDA boasts of undertaking "unprecedented new efforts to support development of over-the-counter naloxone"—including taking the unusual step of drafting an acceptable OTC label for the manufacturer to submit back to the agency that "contains the information . . . a consumer needs to administer naloxone safely and effectively"—the agency writes that it "has been unable to reach a decision on [the] petition because it raises complex issues requiring extensive review and analysis by Agency officials."¹³⁰

Every day that the FDA continues to require prescriptions for naloxone, an estimated 130 U.S. residents die from opioid overdoses.¹³¹ Congress can and should eliminate the prescription requirement and make naloxone available for unrestricted sale.

EXACERBATING PUBLIC HEALTH CRISES

Government-imposed prescription requirements jeopardize access to medicines during public health crises.

66

Government-imposed prescription requirements prevent medical personnel and laypeople from saving lives. For example, **the FDA requires consumers to obtain prescriptions before purchasing naloxone, a safe, effective drug that reverses opioid overdoses.** During the COVID-19 pandemic, fear of disease and/ or government-imposed public health measures (e.g., social distancing) have made complying with prescription requirements more difficult than usual. The British Pregnancy Advisory Service reported that women in the United Kingdom are "struggling to access contraception" because, "while [physicians] are supplying prescriptions, there is a long wait for telephone appointments which can mean that there is a gap during which they are not protected against unplanned pregnancy."¹³² The ACOG writes, "COVID-19 response, including social distancing recommendations and delays to routine in-person visits, amplifies logistical obstacles to contraceptive initiation and continuation."¹³³

Even if government allows physicians' offices and pharmacies to remain open, consumers may reasonably be afraid to patronize them. Some consumers may be able to obtain prescriptions electronically and/or purchase prescription drugs through online pharmacies. Yet those options may not work for people who lost their jobs or who live in jurisdictions that require in-person consultations before physicians can treat patients via telemedicine. Purchasing prescription drugs online can also create delivery lags and privacy concerns. Consumers stuck in unhappy housing situations may not want their contraceptives, naloxone, or other medications to arrive in the mail. OTC status for these drugs would eliminate delivery lags and privacy concerns by giving consumers the option to purchase them immediately at self-checkout registers and vending machines. An FDA-imposed prescription requirement further limits access to drugs during a pandemic by subjecting them to various dosage and time limits that states impose on prescription drugs.¹³⁴

Prescription requirements can also become more problematic in unexpected ways. One Indiana police department announced that out of concerns of exposing its officers to SARS-CoV-2, the virus that causes COVID-19, officers would no longer administer naloxone to overdose victims.¹³⁵ If first responders refuse to administer naloxone for fear of contracting a disease, the prescription requirement becomes more burdensome and OTC access more urgent.

Many states' temporary reforms during the COVID-19 pandemic illustrate how prescription requirements

66

Government-imposed prescription requirements jeopardize access to medicines during public health crises. During the COVID-19 pandemic, fear of disease and/ or government-imposed public health measures (e.g., social distancing) have made complying with prescription requirements more difficult than usual. ??

become more restrictive during a public health crisis. Several states suspended or eased licensing and scope-of-practice laws that restrict nurse practitioners from writing prescriptions, prohibit out-of-state physicians and nurse practitioners from writing prescriptions for state residents, and/or restrict prescribing via telemedicine.¹³⁶ Such steps are an implicit admission that prescriptions become more difficult to obtain during public health crises. The ACOG recommends that states let physicians prescribe contraceptives via telemedicine without an initial in-person consultation, as some states require, and let pharmacists prescribe contraception for consumers of all ages.¹³⁷ Such recommendations are necessary only because the FDA continues to require a physician's prescription for most contraceptives.

Making certain drugs widely available without prescriptions, over the counter, at self-checkout registers, on the internet, and in vending machines could help mitigate public health crises. "If people have naloxone in their homes," explains the New Jersey Harm Reduction Coalition's Caitlin O'Neill, "they would be able to immediately have somebody reverse an overdose, as opposed to sort of having to be triaged for care during COVID-19, because we do need those first responders for the COVID patients."¹³⁸ Indeed, broad access to naloxone becomes more important when social-distancing measures lead to increases in isolation, depression, and opioid overdoses. In April 2020, Arkansas reported dramatic increases in naloxone reversals of opioid overdoses stemming from both recreational opioid use and suicide attempts.¹³⁹ As the COVID-19 pandemic expanded the need for naloxone, prescription requirements constricted access.

In response to the pandemic, Congress did alter OTC drug regulation. Unfortunately, the steps Congress took were small, applied only to new versions of drugs that are already OTC, and often moved in the wrong direction. Congress reduced regulatory barriers for new versions of some OTC drugs but revoked the OTC status of other drugs, effectively removing them from the market. It required manufacturers of OTC drugs to pay "user fees" to the FDA and granted 18 months of market exclusivity to manufacturers of certain OTC drugs. Both provisions are

66

Making certain drugs widely available without prescriptions, over the counter, at self-checkout registers, on the internet, and in vending machines could help mitigate public health crises. **?**

likely to result in higher prices, further limiting consumers' right to self-medicate. Congress took no steps to facilitate switching drugs from prescription-only to OTC status.¹⁴⁰

A Contributor to Excessive Drug Prices

vidence suggests that, in addition to the other access barriers they create, prescription requirements correlate with higher drug prices and that removing them correlates with reductions in drug prices.

One can see the first correlation in prices for ibuprofen and naproxen sodium. Per-milligram prices for these drugs are much higher above the dosage level where the FDA requires prescriptions. Given that consumers are free to substitute three nonprescription 200 milligram (mg) ibuprofen tablets for one prescription-only 600 mg tablet, or four 200 mg tablets for one prescription-only 800 mg tablet, one would not expect the per-milligram price of ibuprofen to vary much across these three types of tablet. Yet the per-milligram price for prescription-only ibuprofen is significantly higher than for OTC ibuprofen. Drugs.com indicates that the cash price for 40 prescription-only 600 mg ibuprofen tablets (\$14.55) is 51 percent higher than the dosage-equivalent cash price for 120 nonprescription 200 mg tablets (\$9.62). The cash price for 30 prescription-only 800 mg tablets (\$12.86) is 34 percent higher.141

Prices for naproxen and naproxen sodium provide an even clearer illustration of a correlation between prescription requirements and higher prices. Per-milligram prices for OTC naproxen sodium are significantly lower than for prescription-only versions. Naproxen and naproxen sodium are close substitutes for each other, which implies that a dose-equivalent quantity of an OTC version of either drug would be a close substitute for the prescription-only version of either drug. The FDA requires prescriptions for 250 mg, 375 mg, and 500 mg naproxen tablets and for 275 mg and 550 mg naproxen sodium tablets but allows OTC sales of 220 mg naproxen sodium tablets.

Figure 1 shows that per-milligram prices for prescription-only naproxen strictly exhibit economies of scale. The per-milligram price for the drug falls both as the dose per pill increases (i.e., within each three-column cluster) and as pills per package increase (i.e., for each colored bar as one moves left to right along the X-axis). Figure 2 shows that per-milligram prices for prescription-only versions of naproxen sodium similarly exhibit economies of scale. Yet per-milligram prices for naproxen sodium fall dramatically when the dose per pill is below the threshold where the FDA requires a prescription. The per-milligram price of prescription naproxen sodium is 3.3–4.2 times higher than for OTC naproxen sodium.¹⁴²

Numerous examples and studies show a correlation between removing prescription requirements and reductions in the price of a drug. In 2001, a month's supply of Claritin (loratadine, 10 mg) was \$11 in Canada, where it was available OTC, compared with \$62 in the United States.¹⁴³ After the FDA switched loratadine to OTC in 2002, the U.S. price fell below what many insured patients had been paying in copays.¹⁴⁴ The U.S. price for a month's supply is now about \$7.50.145 In 2003, the FDA switched the proton pump inhibitor (PPI) omeprazole (Prilosec), an anti-heartburn medication, to OTC status. The price fell so much that when Arkansas's state employee health plan started covering OTC omeprazole, the average price it paid across all PPIs-prescription and nonprescription-fell by 47 percent.¹⁴⁶ A 2013 review of prescription-to-OTC switches that occurred between 1995 and 2010 found that the vast majority of studies (75 percent) "predicted cost savings for payers and patients."147 In 2018, economist Sam Peltzman wrote, "The effect on prices is ... clear: every

"

Numerous examples and studies show a correlation between **removing prescription requirements and reductions in the price of a drug. ??**

Figure 1



\$0.08



Sources: Drugs.com and authors' calculations.

Figure 2

Price per 10 milligrams (mg) for naproxen sodium by dosage and tablets per package



study of the matter shows substantial price reductions when drugs move to OTC."¹⁴⁸

DO PRESCRIPTION REQUIREMENTS INCREASE DRUG PRICES?

It may seem that prescription requirements themselves cause drug prices to be higher and that removing them directly causes drug prices to fall. But the issue is more complex. Economic theory predicts that a prescription requirement will reduce a drug's price and that removing it will *increase* a drug's price.¹⁴⁹ Removing a prescription requirement also subjects a drug to the higher taxes that Congress and state legislatures impose on OTC drugs; those explicit taxes somewhat mitigate the direct effect of removing the prescription requirement's implicit tax.¹⁵⁰ Patents and other forms of market exclusivity-whose purpose is to increase drug prices-apply to prescription drugs more often than to nonprescription drugs, and they often expire at the same time a drug switches from prescription-only to OTC. Claritin and Prilosec lost market exclusivity at approximately the same time the FDA allowed OTC versions.¹⁵¹

Third-party payment tends to increase drug prices. Insured consumers resist efforts by third-party payers to respond to high prices by switching to cheaper drugs or pharmacies, because the resulting savings appear to go not to the consumer but to an employer, an insurance company, or the government. "Insurers fear that, if they refuse to fork over the dough, their sick customers will be outraged."152 Decisions by government and private insurers about whether and to what extent health insurance plans will cover a drug therefore have a major influence on drug prices. This inflationary effect occurs more often with prescription drugs than OTC drugs, because health insurance plans typically cover prescription drugs and stop covering them when an OTC version becomes available. As a result, "typically, prices for OTC products are lower . . . since consumers pay for OTC products directly, without any subsidization by insurance companies."153

Various government policies, moreover, encourage excessive levels of drug coverage. Both tax policy (e.g., the tax exclusion for employer-sponsored health insurance) and government spending programs (e.g., Medicare and

66

It may seem that prescription requirements themselves cause drug prices to be higher and that removing them directly causes drug prices to fall. **But the issue is more complex.**

Medicaid) encourage excessive drug coverage by encouraging consumers to demand more drug coverage than they would if they were making level tradeoffs between drug coverage and other uses of money.¹⁵⁴ Excessive levels of insurance can end up increasing prices for prescription drugs so much that the copayment that enrollees pay—which is only a portion of the insured price—can often end up higher than the total cash price. *Consumer Reports* writes:

If you have a standard insurance co-pay, it might not occur to you to shop around. But sometimes the price you'd pay out of pocket (what those without insurance are charged) might be less than your co-pay. . . . Metformin—used to treat type 2 diabetes—sells for just \$4 for a month's supply, or \$10 for a three-month supply, at stores such as Target and Walmart, while a co-pay for a month's worth averages about \$11.¹⁵⁵

Medicare also pays higher prices for drugs than enrollees could get by paying cash. One study found that for roughly 21 percent of Medicare Advantage and standalone Medicare Part D prescription drug plans, the prices that those insurers pay for drugs to treat cardiovascular disease are so high, the copayments alone are more than the \$4 that Medicare enrollees would pay for those drugs if they purchased them with cash at Walmart.¹⁵⁶ Excessive insurance can even increase the prices that cashpaying consumers pay. According to *Consumer Reports*, "Retailers intentionally set the list price very high so that there's no chance it could undercut what they get paid by insurers."¹⁵⁷ Without excessive insurance, in other words, even cash prices could be lower.

Government further encourages excessive drug coverage by mandating that health insurance plans cover certain prescription drugs regardless of price. Congress requires insurers to cover all FDA-approved forms of prescription contraception with no enrollee cost-sharing, for example, and requires private insurers that issue standalone Medicare prescription drug benefit plans to cover all antidepressant, antipsychotic, anticonvulsant, transplant-related immunosuppressant, antiretroviral, and antineoplastic drugs—no matter how high manufacturers set the prices.¹⁵⁸ Such mandates limit the ability of insurers to curb higher prices by reducing coverage (e.g., through higher enrollee cost-sharing) or removing drugs from their formularies.

EXCESSIVE COVERAGE FOR PRESCRIPTION CONTRACEPTIVES LED TO PRICE SPIKES

Prices for oral contraceptives provide an illustration. After Congress dramatically reduced the share of consumers who were conscious of the cost of oral contraceptives—and dramatically increased the share of consumers who are unconcerned with prices for those drugs and will therefore rebel against attempts by third-party payers to negotiate lower prices—prices for hormones and oral contraceptives skyrocketed.

In August 2012, the ACA began phasing in a requirement that nearly all private health insurance plans cover all FDAapproved forms of hormonal contraception with no costsharing. In addition, from 2014 through 2017, the ACA enrolled an estimated 5 million previously uninsured women of child-bearing age in private insurance or Medicaid, which also covers oral contraception with no cost-sharing.¹⁵⁹ These changes transformed the market for oral contraceptives by making consumers almost completely insensitive to price increases. Figure 3 shows, for example, that the share of women with large-employer coverage who faced zero cost-sharing when purchasing oral contraceptives rose from 4 percent in 2010 to 85 percent in 2014 and 90 percent in 2018.¹⁶⁰ All by itself, ACA-mandated coverage of contraceptives "account[ed] for nearly two-thirds (63%) of the When the ACA made oral contraceptives "free" for most purchasers, prices for hormones and oral contraceptives began to rise rapidly.

drop in out-of-pocket spending on retail drugs" across all consumers from 2012 through 2014.¹⁶¹

The ACA's reshaping of the market for oral contraceptives coincided with a dramatic increase in prices for domestically produced hormones and oral contraceptives. Figures 3 and 4 show that from December 2009 through May 2013—a period prior to the ACA's expansion of coverage for hormonal contraceptives and during which consumers more often paid for oral contraceptives directly—prices for hormones and oral contraceptives fell by 12 percent relative to inflation. Figure 4 shows price changes for these drugs generally followed a path like that of nonprescription drugs, which insurance typically does not cover and whose prices also fell in real terms.

When the ACA made oral contraceptives "free" for most purchasers, however, prices for hormones and oral contraceptives began to rise rapidly. By the time the mandate and coverage expansion took full effect in early 2014, prices for hormones and oral contraceptives had not only reversed those price reductions but matched the 17 percent growth in real prices for other prescription drugs. From May 2013 through May 2019, while real prices for nonprescription and prescription drugs overall rose just 12 percent and 37 percent, respectively, prices for hormones and oral contraceptives rose 108 percent—nearly three times the rate of growth for other prescription drugs.¹⁶²

REMOVING PRESCRIPTION REQUIREMENTS MAKES A DIFFERENCE

The reason prescription requirements correlate with



Price-insensitivity among consumers of oral contraceptives vs. real prices for hormones and oral contraceptives 100%



Sources: Brittni Frederiksen, Matthew Rae, and Alina Salganicoff, "Out-of-Pocket Spending for Oral Contraceptives among Women with Private Insurance Coverage after the Affordable Care Act," *Contraception: X* 2, (2020); U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics Producer Price Index; and FRED Economic Data, Federal Reserve Bank of St. Louis.

higher drug prices, and why removing such requirements correlates with price reductions, may therefore have more to do with excessive levels of health insurance than with prescription requirements per se. By itself, excessive drug coverage could explain the price differentials between dosage-equivalent quantities of prescription and nonprescription ibuprofen and naproxen sodium or the spike in prices for hormones and oral contraceptives that began in 2013. It could also help explain why Claritin's price fell: not only did Claritin lose market exclusivity when the FDA switched it to OTC, but many insurers stopped covering it.¹⁶³

Even so, although Congress and state legislatures have many options for expanding access to drugs and/or reducing drug prices, eliminating government-imposed prescription requirements is an important arrow in that quiver.¹⁶⁴ Even if removing the requirements does not by itself directly reduce drug prices, it can help overcome other policies that increase prices—in particular, policies that encourage excessive insurance.

Removing the prescription requirement for just one drug in a class can increase price competition and reduce prices for substitutes for that drug. A survey of 12 managed care organizations found that when the FDA switched Claritin (loratadine) and Prilosec (omeprazole) to OTC, "All 12 organisations removed loratadine from their formularies and raised copayments for prescription antihistamines [e.g., Allegra and Zyrtec]. One third are taking all second generation antihistamines off their formulary. Eight removed omeprazole from the formulary, and seven raised the copayments for [all] prescription proton pump inhibitors."¹⁶⁵

Figure 4

Real prices for hormones and oral contraceptives, prescription drugs, and nonprescription drugs

100%



Sources: U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics Producer Price Index; and FRED Economic Data, Federal Reserve Bank of St. Louis. Note: ACA = Affordable Care Act.

PRESCRIPTION REQUIREMENTS ARE A BOON TO PHARMACEUTICAL MANUFACTURERS

A final and persuasive piece of evidence that prescription requirements enable drug companies to charge higher prices, and that eliminating them leads to reductions in drug prices, is the behavior of the pharmaceutical industry. Even though economic theory predicts that removing the implicit tax of a prescription requirement will increase sales, prices, and producer surplus, drug manufacturers actively resist efforts to have the FDA switch their products or their competitors' products to OTC status. Drug manufacturers appear to know that, due to the interactions between prescription requirements and policies that encourage excessive levels of health insurance, prescription-only status lets them charge insurers higher prices and that OTC status will cause the prices of their products to fall. Claritin and other second-generation antihistamines again provide a vivid illustration. In 1998, the health insurance company WellPoint petitioned the FDA to switch Claritin, Allegra, and Zyrtec from prescription-only to OTC status. WellPoint had special reason to request the switch: it expected to save about \$100 million per year on claims for prescription antihistamines and related physician services.¹⁶⁶

The drugs' manufacturers all opposed the petition. As we previously noted, Claritin's manufacturer Schering-Plough was aware that second-generation antihistamines are safer because it "used the drug's safety record to persuade regulatory agencies in other countries to let the company sell the drug over the counter." However, "in the United States, Schering-Plough oppose[d] selling Claritin over the counter, calling it unsound medical practice."¹⁶⁷

Critics alleged that the manufacturers' opposition stemmed from another motivation: the desire to keep prices for their drugs as high as possible. A representative of a drug-industry trade group that represented Schering-Plough said, "Schering doesn't want Claritin switched because it has wonderful profit margins now and doesn't think it could come close to that in the OTC market."¹⁶⁸ An *American University Law Review* article claimed, "Schering-Plough, Aventis, and Pfizer are likely to generate millions of dollars in revenue if their drugs remain classified as prescription drugs. These companies admit that any loss of Rx status for Claritin, Allegra, and Zyrtec could seriously impact each company's success."¹⁶⁹ The companies lobbied to preserve regulations that they knew were exposing consumers to harm—including deadly accidents—but that also boosted their profits.

In 2002, four years after WellPoint filed its petition, the FDA finally switched Claritin to OTC. The switch came not in response to WellPoint's petition but because Schering-Plough reversed its position and itself petitioned the agency to make Claritin available OTC. The drug maker did this because Claritin's patent was set to expire in late 2002, and the company had another second-generation antihistamine similar to Claritin that it was ready to promote in the prescription-only market. "By moving [Claritin] to the over-the-counter market," the *Washington Post* reported, "the company hopes to dominate the prescription and nonprescription markets."¹⁷⁰

Such strategies still occur. As we previously discussed, naloxone is a life-saving drug with almost no side effects. In 2019, the Cato Institute announced that it would hold a briefing on Capitol Hill to educate Congress about the need to make naloxone available OTC.¹⁷¹ Shortly after Cato began publicizing the briefing, four different lobbyists representing the manufacturer of a nasal-inhaler version of the drug contacted four different Cato employees to press the manufacturer's case for *not* switching this life-saving drug to OTC.

Even when manufacturers seek OTC status for their products, other manufacturers game the FDA's powers for their own benefit. Anticipating the end of Prilosec's market exclusivity, its manufacturer AstraZeneca petitioned the FDA to approve an OTC version, which would allow the company to use Prilosec's brand recognition to gain a foothold in the OTC market. Manufacturers

66

Drug manufacturers appear to know that prescription-only status lets them charge insurers higher prices and that OTC status will cause the prices of their products to fall. ??

of generic versions of prescription omeprazole, including the company Andrx, "rightfully feared they would lose the opportunity to sell hundreds of millions of dollars of generic [prescription] omeprazole if most of the omeprazole market shifted to OTC." In 2002, Andrx petitioned the FDA not to allow AstraZeneca to sell Prilosec OTC. The FDA denied the petition, but the fact that Andrx filed it delayed the agency's approval of OTC Prilosec—and thereby forced Prilosec users to keep getting prescriptions—for seven months. Andrx benefited from the delay because "the longer generic omeprazole was the only way consumers could obtain low-cost omeprazole, Andrx . . . would continue to profit handsomely."¹⁷²

Corporate influence is yet another reason Congress should eliminate the FDA's power to decide which drugs consumers need prescriptions to purchase. So long as government has this power, drug manufacturers will be major players in these decisions. Yet the interests of drug manufacturers conflict sharply with those of consumers. Manufacturers often have little incentive to submit or support OTC petitions and every reason to oppose them, because removing prescription requirements for their or their competitors' products brings greater price competition and reduced profits. The FDA's policy of waiting for manufacturers to initiate prescription-to-OTC switches therefore rigs the process against consumers. If the power to require prescriptions remains with the FDA, the agency should initiate switches itself and abandon its historical practice of waiting for the manufacturers to petition the agency to switch their products.

Americans Fare Poorly on Freedom to Self-Medicate

he U.S. system of drug regulation serves as a model for much of the developed world. Harvard professor Daniel Carpenter calls the system "perhaps the primary institutional export of the United States."¹⁷³ Even so, governments vary in the extent to which they require consumers to obtain prescriptions before accessing drugs, and U.S. consumers often fare poorly compared with consumers in other countries. In 2014, medicines-access consultant and pharmacist Natalie Gauld and colleagues wrote:

In contrast to her British counterpart, an American woman can now self-medicate for urinary incontinence. Conversely, without a prescription, this American woman cannot access a statin for her moderate cardiovascular risk, unlike in the UK; nor can she effectively treat her urinary tract infection, unless she is visiting New Zealand.¹⁷⁴

Evidence suggests that the U.S. government may infringe on the right to self-medicate to a greater extent than governments in other nations. A 2009 GAO study shows that among the five nations and during the period studied, U.S. consumers were among those with the least freedom to self-medicate. The GAO examined government-imposed barriers to accessing 86 drugs in Australia, Italy, the Netherlands, the United Kingdom, and the United States. It found that foreign governments have created, in addition to OTC, at least four other categories of drug access that allow consumers to purchase those drugs without a physician's prescription. The GAO's descriptions of the categories appear verbatim in Table 1. Multiple countries had a "behind-the-counter" (BTC) category, which lets consumers purchase a drug with a pharmacist's authorization. The "drugstore" category existed only in the Netherlands. The "OTC/pharmacist" category existed only in Italy.¹⁷⁵

Figure 5 provides one perspective on the GAO's findings. It groups the 86 drugs according to the level of permission a consumer needed from another person before purchasing the drug: "physician permission" (prescription), "pharmacist permission" (BTC), and "permission-less" (pharmacy, drugstore, OTC/pharmacist, and OTC). From this perspective, Australian consumers had the greatest freedom to self-medicate. Australians were free to purchase 52 (60 percent) of the 86 drugs without having to obtain permission from a government-appointed gatekeeper. U.S. consumers were free to purchase only 44 (51 percent) of the drugs without permission, a figure comparable to those for Italy (43; 50 percent) and the Netherlands (41; 48 percent). UK consumers were free to purchase only 29 (34 percent) of the drugs.

Whether UK consumers were overall more or less free to purchase these drugs than U.S. consumers depends on how one weighs requirements to obtain permission from a pharmacist. A "pharmacist permission" (i.e., BTC) requirement forces some consumers to have unwanted medical consultations. To the extent that those consultations discourage consumers from attempting to purchase the drug, lead to pharmacists denying

"

Evidence suggests that the U.S. government may infringe on the right to self-medicate to a greater extent than governments in other nations. 99
Table 1

U.S. Government Accountability Office description of drug-access categories in 5 countries, 2009

| Drug classification | Definition | |
|------------------------|--|----------------------|
| Prescription drug | 3 | |
| Prescription | Available only from a pharmacist or other licensed dispenser upon submission of a prescription. | Most restrictive |
| Nonprescription d | rugs | |
| BTC | Available only in pharmacies; contact with pharmacist required. | |
| Pharmacy | Available only in pharmacies; contact with pharmacist not required. | |
| Drugstore | Available only in pharmacies or drugstores; contact with pharmacist not required. | |
| OTC/pharmacist | Available for self-selection in pharmacies and other retail outlets, but a pharmacist must be present. | |
| отс | Available for self-selection in pharmacies and other retail outlets, including those without pharmacists or druggists. | Least restrictive |

Source: U.S. Government Accountability Office, "Nonprescription Drugs: Considerations Regarding a Behind-the-Counter Drug Class," February 2009, https://www.gao.gov/assets/290/286258.pdf.

Notes: BTC = behind the counter; OTC = over the counter

Figure 5

Government-imposed barriers to access for 86 pharmaceuticals across 5 countries, grouped by type of permission required, 2009





permission to purchase the drug, or increase the time and monetary costs of purchasing the drug, BTC requirements could be akin to "physician permission" (i.e., prescription) requirements that leave consumers with less freedom to self-medicate. To the extent that those consultations are quick *pro forma* interactions or interactions that consumers would have had with one medical professional or another anyway, they could resemble permission-less access. If the United Kingdom's BTC requirements were closer to the latter, UK residents had far greater freedom to purchase these 86 drugs than U.S. consumers. It means they could purchase 63 (73 percent) of these drugs with few or no government-imposed barriers, compared with 44 (51 percent) in the United States.

Regardless, Australian consumers were the freest. Even if Australia's BTC requirements were as burdensome as prescription requirements, Australian consumers were still free to purchase 52 (61 percent) of the drugs without permission from a government-appointed gatekeeper. If Australia's BTC requirements were merely *pro forma*, its consumers (like UK consumers) could purchase 63 (73 percent) of the drugs with few or no government-imposed barriers.

Another way to measure freedom to self-medicate is to consider the number of locations the government requires consumers to visit to purchase certain drugs. Figure 6 presents the GAO's findings in terms of the number of "stops" a consumer needed to make to purchase each drug. "One-stop shopping" describes situations in which consumers had to make only one trip (i.e., to a vending machine, retail store, or pharmacy) to purchase a drug. "Two-stop shopping" indicates the government required consumers to make an additional and costly trip to a physician's office. By this measure, consumers in the United States had considerably less freedom to self-medicate than consumers in Australia or the

Figure 6





Sources: U.S. Government Accountability Office and authors' calculations.

United Kingdom. Again, the degree of freedom in the United States was practically indistinguishable from that in Italy and the Netherlands.

ORAL CONTRACEPTIVE ACCESS ACROSS 147 COUNTRIES

Another indication that other countries impose fewer restrictions on the right to self-medicate than the United States is a 2013 study of 147 countries that found 70 percent allow consumers to purchase oral contraceptives without a physician's prescription:

[Oral contraceptives] were informally available without prescription in 38 percent of countries, legally available without prescription (no screening by a health professional required) in 24 percent of countries, legally available without prescription (screening required) in 8 percent of countries and available only by prescription in 31 percent of countries . . . [Oral contraceptives] are available without prescription in the majority of countries.¹⁷⁶

As this study notes, some countries may have prescription requirements but enforce them only weakly, with pharmacies ignoring the regulations and selling directly to self-medicating consumers. Researchers and journalists have documented poor compliance with prescription drug laws in many countries historically and currently in such countries as India, Hong Kong, Colombia, and Peru.¹⁷⁷ Mexico only requires prescriptions for antibiotics and controlled

A 2013 study of 147 countries found that **70 percent of the countries allow consumers to purchase oral contraceptives without a physician's prescription. ?**

66 In recent years, the United States may have lost ground relative to other countries. 99

narcotics. Many observers note a lack of compliance with prescription requirements for antibiotics.¹⁷⁸

FALLING FURTHER BEHIND

Gauld and colleagues found that in recent years, the United States may have lost ground relative to other countries. They compared prescription-to-OTC switches in Australia, Japan, the Netherlands, New Zealand, the United States, and the United Kingdom from 2003 to 2013. The United Kingdom and New Zealand were the most aggressive in making "progressive" switches (i.e., removing prescription requirements). (Like the United Kingdom and Australia, New Zealand has a BTC category.) The United States, Australia, and the Netherlands were the least aggressive. The authors found, "Consumers in the more restrictive US and the Netherlands have continued to need to access doctors for a number of common medicines that have been switched in the UK and NZ." For example, "a consumer in the United Kingdom could self-medicate with a non-sedating antihistamine 19 years earlier than a consumer in the United States." Indeed:

Americans required a prescription for non-sedating antihistamines for considerably longer than all other countries, despite safety benefits over sedating antihistamines, which have long been non-prescription. Sedating antihistamines have been associated with workplace, car, and aviation accidents. Dutch women with vaginal candidiasis required a prescription for vaginal antifungals until 2011, 21 years later than in the [United States], with potentially unnecessary doctor workload, higher

Table 2

Prescription (Rx) vs. nonprescription (no Rx) access to 7 drugs across 21 countries

| | Emergency contra- ception | Insulin | Naloxone | Nitro- glycerine (chest pain) | Daily-use oral contra- ception | Sumatriptan (migraines) | Salbutamol (bronchospasm) | No Rx | Rx |
|--------------------|---------------------------------|--------------------|----------------------|--|---|----------------------------|------------------------------|----------|----|
| Australia | No Rx | Rx | No Rx | No Rx | Rx | Rx | No Rx ⁱ | 4 | 3 |
| Belgium | Rx | Rx ⁱⁱ | Rx | Rx | Rx | Rx | Rx | 0 | 7 |
| Bulgaria | No Rx | Rx | No data | Rx | Rx | Rx | Rx | 1 | 5 |
| Canada | No Rx | No Rx | No Rx ⁱⁱⁱ | No Rx | Rx | Rx | Rx | 4 | 3 |
| China | No Rx | Rx | Rx | Rx | No Rx | Rx | Rx | 2 | 5 |
| Czechia | No Rx | Rx | Rx | Rx | Rx | Rx | Rx | 1 | 6 |
| France | No Rx | Rx | No Rx | No Rx | Rx | Rx | Rx | 3 | 4 |
| Germany | No Rx | Rx | Rx | Rx | Rx | Rx | Rx | 1 | 6 |
| Hong Kong | Rx | Rx | Rx | No Rx | No Rx | Rx | Rx | 2 | 5 |
| Ireland | No Rx | Rx | Rx | Rx | Rx | Rx | Rx | 1 | 6 |
| Italy | No Rx | Rx | No Rx | Rx | Rx | Rx | Rx | 2 | 5 |
| Mexico | No Rx | Rx | Rx | Rx | Rx | No Rx ^{iv} | No Rx ^v | 3 | 4 |
| Singapore | Rx | No Rx | Rx | No Rx | Rx | Rx | No Rx | 3 | 4 |
| Slovenia | No Rx | Rx | Rx | Rx | Rx | Rx | Rx | 1 | 6 |
| Slovak Republic | No Rx | Rx | Rx | Rx | Rx | Rx | Rx | 1 | 6 |
| South Africa | No Rx | Rx | Rx | Rx | Rx | Rx | No Rx ^{vi} | 2 | 5 |
| Sweden | No Rx | Rx | Rx | No Rx | Rx | No Rx ^{vii} | Rx | 3 | 4 |
| Tanzania | Rx | No Rx | Rx | No Rx ^{viii} | No Rx | Rx | Rx | 3 | 4 |
| Netherlands | No Rx | Rx | Rx | Rx | Rx | Rx | Rx | 1 | 6 |
| United Kingdom | No Rx | Rx | Rx | No Rx | Rx | No Rx ^{ix} | Rx | 3 | 4 |
| United States | No Rx | No Rx ^x | Rx | Rx | Rx | Rx | Rx | 2 | 5 |
| No Rx countries | 17 | 4 | 4 | 8 | 3 | 3 | 4 | | |
| Rx countries | 4 | 17 | 16 | 13 | 18 | 18 | 17 | | |

Sources: International Consortium for Emergency Contraception (ICEC), "EC Status and Availability"; Therapeutic Goods Administration; European Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Drug Addiction; "Global Oral Contraception Availability," OCs OTC Working Group; Association of the European Self-Care Industry OTC Ingredients Database; Prince Charles of Belgium, "Order of the Regent Regulating the Conservation and the Flow of Poisonous and Toxic Substances," February 6, 1946, http://www.ejustice.just.fgov.be/eli/arrete/1946/02/06/1946020603/justel; Mediately Drug Register; National Association of Pharmacy Regulatory Authorities; Zongjie Li et al., "Prices, Availability and Affordability of Insulin Products: A Cross-sectional Survey in Shaanxi Province, Western China," *Tropical Medicine and International Health* 24, no. 1 (2019); Harm Reduction International; Federal Ministry of Justice and Consumer Protection; Hong Kong Department of Health; Healthy Matters; Health Products Regulatory Authority; U.S. Government Accountability Office; Mexico Ministry of Health and Federal Commission for Protection against Sanitary Risks; Health Sciences Authority; Association of Women for Science and Research (AWARE), "Contraception - Singapore"; Republic of South Africa; Swedish Medical Center; and United Republic of Tanzania.

Notes

i. Salbutamol is available without a prescription in aerosols containing 100 micrograms (mcg) or less per metered dose or in capsules delivering 200 mcg or less per dose.

ii. In cases of diabetic comas, pharmacists can deliver insulin as emergency medicine.

Notes continued

iii. Canadian law allows pharmacies to dispense naloxone to those who may experience or witness an opioid overdose.

iv. The Ministry of Health has authorized the switch from Rx to OTC for sumatriptan products. Currently, no pharmaceutical company has applied for a change in product status.

v. The Ministry of Health has authorized the switch from Rx to OTC for salbutamol products. Currently, no pharmaceutical company has applied for a change in product status.

vi. South Africa requires a prescription for salbutamol when intended for injection or contained in respirator solutions.

vii. Sumatriptan is only available without a prescription for adults over age 18. The maximum daily dose for nonprescription sumatriptan is two 50 milligram tablets.

viii. Nitroglycerine is only available without a prescription for immediate-release sublingual dosage forms.

ix. Sumatriptan is only available without a prescription for adults aged 18 to 65 years old. The maximum daily dose for nonprescription sumatriptan is two 50 milligram tablets.

x. Animal insulin and two human insulins are available without a prescription under the 1951 Durham-Humphrey Amendment. New insulin products require a prescription. Jim Cahill, "Why Is Some Insulin Available Over the Counter?," *Insulin Nation*, July 12, 2017, http://insulinnation.com/treatment/why-issome-insulin-available-over-the-counter/; and Sarah Jane Tribble, "You Can Buy Insulin Without A Prescription, But Should You?," *Kaiser Health News*, December 14, 2015, https://khn.org/news/you-can-buy-insulin-without-a-prescription-but-should-you/.

costs for the health funder, and prolonged discomfort and inconvenience for women.¹⁷⁹

The authors concluded that consumers in the less aggressive countries "could be unnecessarily burdened by managing conditions that may reasonably be self-managed or pharmacist-managed instead."¹⁸⁰

Table 2 shows the current status of seven drugs across 21 countries. While not representative of all nations and less comprehensive than the GAO study, it shows substantial variation in prescription requirements. The vast majority-17-of the 21 countries allow consumers to purchase emergency contraception without a prescription. Four require a prescription. For daily-use oral contraception, the reverse is true: 18 countries require a prescription. Only three do not. In six countries, all in Europe, emergency contraception is the only one of the seven drugs available without a prescription. Hong Kong and Tanzania buck the trend by requiring prescriptions for emergency contraception but not for daily-use oral contraception. Belgium is the only country that requires prescriptions for both-indeed, Belgium is the only country that requires prescriptions for all seven drugs. Australia and Canada allow consumers to purchase four of the seven drugs without a prescription, more than the other countries. Yet, Australia and Canada each require prescriptions for daily-use oral contraception, while Australia requires prescriptions for insulin. Only four countries allow nonprescription sales of insulin, including countries such as the United States that only allow Consumers in the United States have less freedom to purchase these seven drugs than consumers in Australia and Canada. 99

such sales for certain forms of insulin. Only four countries allow nonprescription sales of naloxone.

Finally, Table 2 shows that residents of other countries can self-medicate with many drugs that require a prescription in the United States. Consumers in the United States have less freedom to purchase these seven drugs than consumers in Australia and Canada. Salbutamol inhalers, which safely and effectively relieve asthma symptoms with few side effects, are available OTC in Australia.¹⁸¹ In the United States, they require a prescription.¹⁸² Consumers in a further nine of these countries (China, France, Hong Kong, Mexico, Singapore, South Africa, Sweden, Tanzania, and the United Kingdom) have more freedom than U.S. consumers to purchase at least one of these drugs. As we previously noted, consumers in communist China have more freedom to purchase daily-use oral contraceptives than consumers in the United States.

Do Government-Imposed Prescription Requirements Help or Hurt?

ne might object that oral contraceptives, emergency contraceptives, and naloxone are cherry-picked examples and that a fair appraisal of government-imposed prescription requirements must also account for the benefits of saving consumers from more dangerous drugs. Before moving on to such an analysis, two counterarguments deserve attention.

First, even if government-imposed prescription requirements produce net health benefits-even if they improve health more than they harm health-they still violate the right of every person to determine what happens to her body. Just as we respect people's right to refuse medical treatment even when they exercise it in ways that harm their health, we should respect their right to self-medicate even when they exercise it in ways that harm their health. Put differently, even if deceiving or coercing people into undergoing unwanted medical treatments would improve their health, it is wrong to deceive or coerce them into the treatments. Likewise, even if using coercion to prevent others from taking certain drugs would improve their health, it is wrong to keep them from obtaining the medications they want. The bioethicist Flanigan argues that if individuals have the right to take a drug intended to kill them-that is, to choose physician-assisted suicide-then they must also have the right to take any drug that poses far less risk to their health.183

Second, any burden of proof should lie not with those who support the freedom to self-medicate but with those who support using government coercion to stop people from taking the drugs they want. If anyone bears the responsibility of proving that their preferred rule passes a cost-benefit test, it is those who would put themselves in a position of controlling other people's bodies and medical decisions. Curiously, supporters of government-imposed prescription requirements have never conducted such an analysis, neither before nor after depriving consumers of the freedom to self-medicate. It is disingenuous for either supporters of government-imposed prescription requirements or neutral observers to insist on a cost-benefit analysis before repealing such regulations but not before enacting them in the first place.

GOVERNMENT-IMPOSED PRESCRIPTION REQUIREMENTS HARM HEALTH

Whatever one thinks of those counterarguments, the evidence suggests mandatory-prescription policies have the opposite of their intended effects: on balance, they harm health rather than promote it. Economist Peltzman performed several analyses to see if government-imposed prescription requirements correlate with improved health outcomes. In each analysis, such requirements had either no discernible effect or correlated with worse health outcomes.

First, Peltzman examined data on mortality from accidental or suicidal poisonings in the United States both before and after the FDA asserted the power to impose prescription requirements in 1938. He found that not only did government-imposed prescription requirements not

66

Even if government-imposed prescription requirements produce net health benefits, **they still violate the right of every person to determine what happens to her body.**

77

correlate with reduced mortality from accidental or suicidal poisonings but that they instead correlated with increased poisonings.¹⁸⁴ After controlling for other factors such as income, he found that "enforcement of prescription regulation *increases* poisoning mortality by 50 to 100 percent."¹⁸⁵

Second, he compared mortality from infectious disease in the United States before and after the introduction of prescription requirements for antibiotics. After again controlling for such factors as income and income inequality, he found "no remaining statistically significant difference in infectious disease mortality between countries that enforce prescription requirements for antibiotics and those that do not."¹⁸⁶

Finally, Peltzman compared the United States and other countries with government-imposed prescription requirements with countries that did not enforce prescription requirements. Again, the data showed that such requirements coincide with a higher incidence of poisoning:

Analysis of American time series suggests that regulation did not reduce—indeed, may have increased—poisoning mortality from drug consumption. An international comparison reinforces this suggestion: poisoning mortality is higher, all else remaining the same, in countries that enforce prescription regulation. This is consistent with other evidence that drug consumption in these countries is shifted toward more potent drugs.¹⁸⁷

Peltzman's analyses of drug poisonings only measured the effect of government-imposed prescription requirements on the harms caused by drugs. To the extent that such requirements also prevent patients from accessing beneficial drugs, the net effect is even worse than these analyses suggest.

HOW COULD CONSUMER SAFETY REGULATION MAKE CONSUMERS LESS SAFE?

How could a regulation whose purpose is to protect consumers instead make them less safe? Peltzman offers two considerations. First, he notes that before the government began regulating pharmaceuticals, unregulated markets created mechanisms to protect consumers. **66** Before the government began

regulating pharmaceuticals, unregulated markets created mechanisms to protect consumers. 99

Even before Congress imposed safety-testing requirements and the FDA began requiring prescriptions in 1938,

considerable progress had already been made in improving drug safety. The accidental poisoning rate had declined fairly steadily, even dramatically—by about two-thirds over the preceding four decades. This occurred in the face of gradually increasing drug consumption. . . . Thus the unregulated markets for drugs and for information about them had already substantially shrunk the problem that mandatory prescriptions were designed to deal with.¹⁸⁸

In other words, Americans didn't just sit around doing nothing while people died from drug poisonings.

Second, he postulates that prescription requirements increased poisonings because the presence of regulation caused consumers to be less careful than they were in the absence of regulation. At the margin, prescription requirements cause consumers to consult with physicians more often. Consumers' confidence that someone else was looking out for their well-being made them less skeptical and more willing to try more dangerous drugs, which led to more adverse reactions. Peltzman writes, "The available data imply that, all else being the same, enforcement of prescription requirements raises per capita ethical drug consumption by over half. On average, ethical [i.e., prescription] drugs are more potent than over-the-counter drugs."189 As a result, "there appears to be a moral hazard in this form of regulation much like that found in other forms of safety regulation: the

regulation may lower the risk-cost per-pill, but this shifts consumption toward riskier pills."¹⁹⁰

To see how a greater reliance on physicians could lead patients to take greater risks, recall that a physician's prescription is no guarantee of safety. Some 95 percent of the 105 Americans who died from elixir sulfanilamide and 100 percent of the 624 pregnant American women who took thalidomide took those drugs at the direction of government-licensed physicians. Investigators concluded that many doctors prescribed elixir sulfanilamide to patients who could not possibly have benefited:

Among the questionable conditions for which the drug was prescribed [were] "Bright's disease, bichloride of mercury poisoning, renal colic, and backache," none with the remotest connection to the infectious diseases for which sulfanilamide was known to work. Moreover, in "most cases" the recommended blood tests used to monitor patients on sulfanilamide "were not made."¹⁹¹

U.S. physicians who prescribed thalidomide to pregnant women did so with little evidence of the drug's effectiveness in combating morning sickness and "without telling them that the drug was an experimental one, making their patients the unwitting subjects of human drug experimentation."¹⁹² In each case, many physicians did not even keep records of the prescriptions they wrote for these deadly drugs.¹⁹³

66

Some 95 percent of the 105 Americans who died from elixir sulfanilamide and 100 percent of the 624 pregnant American women who took thalidomide **took those drugs at the direction of government-licensed physicians. ?**? Requiring consumers to consult with physicians is not always the safety-enhancing experience one might expect.

Economic historian Temin offers a third factor that helps explain how government-imposed prescription requirements could have the unintended consequence of increasing the risks consumers take and the harms they suffer: such requirements have made consumers more vulnerable to harm by making them more ignorant about health, medicines, and the nature of risk than they would have been without the government-imposed prescription requirements.¹⁹⁴

When the FDA asserted the authority to require prescriptions for certain drugs, it not only removed those drugs from the consumer's reach but actively denied consumers *information* about those drugs. In an effort to ensure that prescription-only drugs would only make their way to consumers through physicians, "the FDA would instruct firms to remove from their labels any remaining information that might guide lay users of prescription drugs."¹⁹⁵ Temin explains:

The regulation creating a separation between over-the-counter drugs (over which consumers have choice) and prescription drugs (about which consumers are supposed to know nothing)... deals with drug risks by attempting to deny consumers both the choice of dangerous drugs and the knowledge upon which such a choice might be based....

[It] created a class of ignorant consumers as well as a class of prescription drugs. By specifying that information on prescription drugs be expressed in ways intelligible only to doctors, the regulation tried to prevent consumers from avoiding the regulation. But . . . consumers cannot be excluded from the decision to buy drugs, much less from the decision to take drugs. The result of the regulation therefore is to make [the] consumer's participation in these decisions ill-informed and, and least legally, irresponsible. Phrased differently, some part of the gap between the drug knowledge of the average doctor and the average consumer is the product of regulation. This needs to be kept in mind when the magnitude of the gap is exhibited as an argument for more regulation.¹⁹⁶ As public health professor Julie Donohue notes, "A paradoxical situation developed in which potentially dangerous prescription drugs were dispensed to consumers with *less* accompanying information than OTC drugs carried."¹⁹⁷

Had the FDA never claimed the power to create a class of prescription drugs, and had Congress never codified those powers, manufacturers would have sold more drugs directly to consumers and would have invested greater resources in educating consumers about the costs and benefits of their and their competitors' drugs. The product of those marketing expenditures would be that the typical consumer would have become more knowledgeable about health, medicines, and the nature of risk.¹⁹⁸

In sum, government-imposed prescription requirements make consumers more ignorant and less safe by replacing a more effective form of consumer protection with a less effective form, in part because government often prioritizes values other than consumer safety.

GOVERNMENTS REQUIRE PRESCRIPTIONS FOR REASONS OTHER THAN SAFETY

Gauld and coauthors note one final factor relevant to whether, on balance, government-imposed prescription requirements leave consumers more or less safe: safety concerns cannot explain why some governments take so long to give consumers direct access to many medicines. They write,

Considering the variation in switching medicines with a benign safety profile and limited risk of masking serious conditions, e.g. non-sedating antihistamines and mast cell stabilizers, our data suggest that *factors that are not safety-related may delay switch*.¹⁹⁹

When governments wield the power to impose prescription requirements, they routinely base those decisions on factors other than safety.

The sole rationale for government-imposed prescription requirements is to increase consumer safety. Yet The fact that governments base decisions about prescription requirements on factors other than safety **undercuts the entire rationale for allowing government to wield this power in the first place.**

examples of government using this power to prioritize factors other than safety abound. They include the FDA blocking access to Plan B emergency contraception for 12 years; the agency's continued opposition to OTC status for daily-use oral contraception; an entire decade when the FDA pushed consumers toward hazardous sedating antihistamines by requiring prescriptions for safer, nonsedating antihistamines; and the agency's continued refusal to switch naloxone to OTC. When governments impose or preserve prescription requirements for reasons other than safety, they harm patients by blocking access to drugs that patients could otherwise afford and use safely.

The fact that governments base decisions about prescription requirements on factors other than safety undercuts the entire rationale for allowing government to wield this power in the first place. It is comforting to imagine that the power to impose prescription requirements on manufacturers and consumers will only fall into the hands of wise policymakers whose sole consideration is a selfless concern for consumers. The reality is not so idyllic. To the extent that government-imposed prescription requirements block access to beneficial medications, they leave consumers less safe, not more.

Eliminate Government-Imposed Prescription Requirements

n the interest of expanding access to pharmaceuticals and restoring the right to self-medicate, Congress should strip the FDA of any power to impose prescription requirements. This would require repealing the Durham-Humphrey Amendment and prohibiting the FDA from using other provisions of the Food, Drug, and Cosmetics Act of 1938 (FDCA) to impose prescription requirements, as the agency did prior to 1951. State legislatures could restrict medication access by minors and the cognitively disabled and, if necessary, enact specific limitations on access to certain antibiotics.²⁰⁰ If wholesale repeal of government-imposed prescription requirements is not politically feasible at present, Congress and state legislatures could take several intermediate steps that would reduce interference with the right to self-medicate and that could illustrate the benefits and wisdom of full protection of that right.

PRESCRIPTIONS AND PHYSICIAN CONSULTATIONS WOULD CONTINUE

What would change if Congress were to eliminate the FDA's power to impose prescription requirements? The available evidence suggests that any change would not be as much as one might think and that, on balance, it would be for the better.

One way things would *not* change is that consumers would continue to solicit the advice of physicians before consuming drugs. Flanigan predicts:

Imagine a world where people took rights of self-medication as seriously as they currently take informed consent requirements. Just as most patients continued to take their doctor's advice after the adoption of informed consent requirements, most patients might continue to consult medical experts before using unauthorized and untested drugs, even if they were legally permitted to decide differently. . . . Rights of self-medication would change medical practice only in those cases where a patient's judgment departs from a medical expert's.²⁰¹

Another way things would not change is that manufacturers would continue to sell many drugs on a prescription-only basis. The complexity, sophistication, and risks posed by many modern pharmaceuticals, and the threat of tort liability, would drive manufacturers to continue to market many drugs as prescription-only.²⁰² The same liability fears that made manufacturers not want to label drugs for laypeople's use when the federal government required it in 1938 would also guide their decisions today. Temin explains why prescription requirements would likely survive a repeal of government regulations requiring them:

Drug companies . . . are wary when the threat of litigation is present. Their experiences with suits arising from adverse side reactions do not make them anxious to increase their exposure by selling powerful drugs on the over-the-counter market. . . . Drug companies are exceedingly sensitive to the costs of being sued for the apparently negligent marketing of their products. In addition to the legal costs of defending

66

Manufacturers would continue to sell many drugs on a prescriptiononly basis.

"

themselves, the damage to their reputation may affect the sales of other drugs.²⁰³

Drugs for which manufacturers might continue to require prescriptions include antibiotics, which can affect third parties, and dangerous drugs such as phenobarbital, thalidomide, and narcotics.

The available evidence supports Flanigan's and Temin's predictions. Temin writes, "It had been possible to utilize prescriptions before 1938, but it also had been possible to buy virtually any drug without a prescription."²⁰⁴ Yet consumers routinely sought the guidance of physicians, and prescriptions were ubiquitous, even when there were no regulations requiring either. Again, Peltzman notes, "About one-third of drug purchases were being made under a doctor's prescription at the time the 1938 act was passed."²⁰⁵ And again, 95 percent of Americans who died from taking elixir sulfanilamide did so under the supervision of a physician, even though no law required them to do so.

BROADER ACCESS

The principal way things would change if the FDA no longer had the power to impose prescription requirements is that access to many drugs—such as insulin, oral contraceptives, and naloxone—would expand. Broader access would result not only from manufacturers selling directly to consumers but also from lower prices and more convenient avenues for accessing those drugs.

Removing unnecessary prescription requirements would relieve consumers of the unnecessary time and financial costs of visiting a doctor to obtain a prescription and waiting for a pharmacist to fill it.²⁰⁶ Though consumers can obtain prescription drugs only through pharmacies, they have many convenient options for purchasing OTC medications, including online services, convenience stores, newsstands in airports, grocery stores, vending machines, etc.

One cannot predict exactly which prescription drugs would shift to OTC. It is possible or even likely, however, that elementary and secondary schools could more easily stock asthma medications and epinephrine injectors. Diabetics could purchase insulin in bulk via online retailers such as Amazon. Naloxone could become more widely The principal way things would change is that access to many drugs—such as insulin, oral contraceptives, and naloxone would expand. ??

available at vending machines and in first-aid kits. Places opioid users frequent might make naloxone available for emergency use, just as many establishments make defibrillators available.

Eliminating the unnecessary barriers would expand access the most for low-income consumers who struggle to pay medical bills and who might otherwise forgo treatment.²⁰⁷

INNOVATION

Today, innovators devote energy to reducing the cost of complying with unnecessary regulatory barriers to drug access. The Kaiser Family Foundation reports that one example of such innovation is services that help consumers overcome the regulatory barriers to purchasing oral contraceptives:

A growing number of online services and smartphone applications offer options for patients to speak with providers by video or chat, get prescriptions, and order birth control pills through mail delivery. These services work by collaborating with physicians, pharmacies, and sometimes health insurers to prescribe and ship [oral contraceptive pills] to the patient's home or a local pharmacy.²⁰⁸

Eliminating government-imposed prescription requirements would not only expand access to needed drugs but would also free manufacturers, pharmacies, consumer advocates, and products-liability insurers to focus instead on innovations that educate consumers about health, risk, and how to use drugs safely and effectively. Manufacturers, pharmacies, and insurers could develop new rules or drug-marketing categories that, for certain drugs, might strike a better balance between access and safety than Durham-Humphrey's binary prescription/OTC structure. These marketing categories could include the BTC, pharmacy, drugstore, or OTC/pharmacist categories described in Table 1 as well as other potential categories. The new classifications could tap the often-underused knowledge and skills of, and provide new employment opportunities for, pharmacists and other clinicians.²⁰⁹ Manufacturers could require prescriptions but specify that clinicians other than physicians—including pharmacists, nurse practitioners, physician assistants, registered nurses, and psychologists—may provide the necessary authorization.

Manufacturers or pharmacies could establish procedures in which they agree to sell certain drugs directly to consumers but only if the consumers read or listen to safety information and/or demonstrate that they understand the information. Innovators have already developed pharmaceutical kiosks that remotely connect consumers to a live pharmacist.²¹⁰ The businesses could create automated touchscreen kiosks that help consumers decide whether a drug is right for them. The kiosks could show interactive educational videos and instruct and test consumers on the safe use of drugs. They could record consumers' answers to such questions, as well as information about the consumers' health, including real-time blood pressure, pulse, and weight readings. The kiosks could photograph consumers if manufacturers or pharmacies consider it necessary to track who is purchasing certain drugs. They could provide comprehensive written instructions for patients to take with them. Kiosks could do all these things in multiple languages.

One cannot predict what other innovations drug manufacturers and pharmacies may develop, nor which innovations will prove cost-effective. These possibilities nevertheless illustrate how innovators might broaden access by developing consumer safety tools that do not exist today.

Congress should consider eliminating the FDA's authority to mandate prescriptions as a way of preparing for future public health crises. Had government never acquired the power to impose prescription requirements, we could by now be enjoying the fruits of decades' worth of innovation and consumer education. One cannot know for sure, but 66 Congress should consider eliminating the FDA's authority to mandate prescriptions as a way of preparing for future public health crises. ??

pharmaceutical vending machines and interactive kiosks could have been far more established and widespread at the beginning of the COVID-19 pandemic and could therefore have enabled consumers to access the drugs they need while minimizing the risk of transmitting disease.

Letting manufacturers decide whether to sell drugs directly to consumers or to require a prescription would inevitably lead to situations where for the same types of drugs, some manufacturers would choose the former and others would choose the latter. As it did in the past, this could cause confusion for some consumers and pharmacists.

Fortunately, there are several readily available solutions. In the simplest case, pharmacies could require a prescription for all versions of a given drug if even one manufacturer does so. Alternatively, pharmacies or their liability insurers could simplify matters for their customers by developing their own prescription requirements based on their assessments (and liability concerns) about whether a drug is safe enough for consumers to use without physician supervision. In addition, innovators could develop new decision aids. Manufacturers, pharmacists, and consumer advocacy organizations such as Consumer Reports all have incentives to develop tools to help consumers and pharmacists navigate different manufacturer rules. Finally, to the extent that consumers are as risk-averse as Peltzman and Temin argue, any confusion about whether they need a prescription would itself lead consumers to seek a physician's advice, even in cases where there is no legal requirement to do so.

Consumers today have far more drug information at their fingertips than they did before the federal government created the current system of mandatory prescriptions. Modern information technologies can address divergent manufacturer rules without blocking access to beneficial medicines.

SAVINGS FOR CONSUMERS AND TAXPAYERS

Eliminating prescription requirements can deliver additional benefits by reducing prices, eliminating unnecessary medical expenditures, and boosting economic productivity.

Removing prescription requirements can trigger greater price competition by exposing drug manufacturers to a broader population of more cost-conscious purchasers. Peltzman writes, "The effect on prices is . . . clear: every study of the matter shows substantial price reductions when drugs move to OTC." He continues, "Of course, total cost—including the cost of physician visits and the value of the time and trouble of securing prescriptions—declines even further when the drug moves to OTC."²¹¹

Scholars at the Brookings Institution have catalogued several ways that removing government-imposed prescription requirements could reduce health expenditures:

Cost savings might result from reducing the number of unnecessary physician visits or medical encounters solely used to obtain prescriptions. Emergency room visits may also be reduced as a result of increased access to early and appropriate treatment for acute symptoms. Following the switch of certain prescription medications, a significant decrease has been observed in the number of physician visits, laboratory charges, and prescriptions dispensed for enrollees. This has the potential to decrease medical expenditures for patients, payers, and managed care organizations.²¹²

A 1992 review of the economics literature found that "the benefits, to individual consumers and to society as a whole, resulting from a change in prescription status outweigh the costs. The extent of the benefits depends on the type of drug and the size of the market."²¹³ Temin estimates that the FDA's efforts to switch cold medications to OTC between 1976 and 1989 reduced the number of doctor's visits by 1.6 million, saved U.S. consumers more than \$142 million, and delivered net benefits of \$1.6 billion in 1989 alone.²¹⁴

With regard to productivity, one study estimated that if France, Germany, Italy, Poland, Spain, and the United Kingdom were to switch triptans—a class of medications that treats migraines—from prescription-only to OTC status, they would reduce spending on migraine care across those countries by 13 percent. The overall benefits would be even greater because better treatment of migraines would increase worker productivity. The estimated productivity gains accounted (coincidentally) for 13 percent of total estimated annual benefits of \$188 million.²¹⁵

INSURANCE COVERAGE OF OTC DRUGS

Critics object that moving drugs from prescription-only to OTC status might inhibit access because insurance generally covers prescription drugs but not OTC drugs. They say that if consumers face a drug's full price without assistance from an insurance company or government, eliminating the prescription requirement may reduce access. While valid, such concerns do not justify retaining government-imposed prescription requirements. There are benefits as well as costs when insurers stop covering certain drugs, and insurers can (and often do) cover OTC drugs when doing so is cost-effective.

First, as we previously discussed, insurance coverage often increases drug prices, and removing prescription requirements can cause drug prices to fall so far that consumers can end up paying less than they had been paying in copayments. Antihistamines and diabetes drugs covered by private insurers and cardiovascular drugs covered

66

Eliminating prescription requirements can deliver additional benefits by **reducing prices**, **eliminating unnecessary medical expenditures, and boosting economic productivity.**

"

by Medicare plans often have cash prices that are lower than the copays that insurance companies require enrollees to pay.²¹⁶

Second, removing prescription requirements and thereby eliminating insurance coverage could in many cases reduce wasteful and inefficient drug consumption. Insurance coverage has a moral-hazard effect. It encourages enrollees to consume medical care whose value does not justify its cost. To the extent that prescription-to-OTC switches force consumers to pay more out of pocket for drugs, the additional costs could lead consumers to make more careful drug-consumption decisions and help to mitigate the growing problem of patients consuming unnecessary drugs.²¹⁷ Since all drugs carry risks, this effect could also improve health by reducing the harms those consumers suffer, often for little benefit.

Third, insurers can cover nonprescription drugs if that's what their customers want. The Brookings Institution reports:

Numerous state and private insurance providers have offered nonprescription drug coverage for medications that have switched from Rx-to-OTC. For example, an Arkansas state employee health plan has chosen to include coverage of nonprescription omeprazole (e.g., Prilosec), a medication used to treat heartburn, ulcers, and acid reflux disease. Research has demonstrated that coverage for this OTC medication produced cost savings and resulted in small increases in utilization.²¹⁸

Employers have also implemented coverage for OTC allergy medications.²¹⁹ Employers have incentives to cover OTC medications when doing so would reduce absenteeism and presenteeism (working while sick). Insurers have incentives to offer coverage of cost-effective OTC medications, because doing so can save insurers money and give them a quality-based competitive advantage.

SAFER CONSUMERS, BETTER HEALTH

In the end, many people will judge proposals to eliminate government-imposed prescription requirements on how repeal would affect consumer health and safety. Fortunately The evidence suggests that eliminating government-imposed prescription requirements on balance would result in greater safety and better health for consumers. ??

for the right to self-medicate, the evidence suggests that eliminating these requirements on balance would result in greater safety and better health for consumers.

Principally, to the extent that repealing federal prescription requirements would cause consumers who would have consulted a physician to instead self-medicate, those consumers would generally consume less-risky drugs than they would under the guidance of physicians. Peltzman writes:

Let us, for a moment, think the unthinkable and suppose that we did away entirely with the regulation. What would happen? Most likely . . . the number of deaths from drug abuse would *decrease*. This is not because consumers are receiving inadequate advice from their doctors. Instead, it is because of the apparent conservatism of many consumers: if given the option of not seeking a doctor's advice first, the evidence suggests that consumers are likely to shift from consuming more potent ethical drugs toward consuming generally less potent over-the-counter remedies.²²⁰

Once again, a physician's prescription is no guarantee of safety.

At the same time, reducing the barriers to accessing beneficial medicines would increase the number of patients who could obtain treatment. Temin found that switching cold medicines and topical corticosteroids from prescription-only to OTC expanded access to such drugs and improved outcomes for people with colds.²²¹ The study of triptans across six EU countries estimated that 46 percent of OTC purchasers would be "patients that are currently treated with partially effective OTC analgesics or those who are not treated at all."²²² In his study of cough and cold remedies, Temin suggested there are even "gains to be realized from switching more powerful drugs from prescription to OTC."²²³

Removing government-imposed prescription requirements would also improve health by providing consumers relief faster than the existing system can. If consumers suspect they are having a migraine, they may have to wait days before they can secure a doctor's appointment and fill a prescription. If they were able to purchase triptans OTC, it could spare them days of agonizing pain and lost productivity.²²⁴

Just as government-imposed prescription requirements have reduced consumers' health literacy, removing them would improve their health literacy. The more manufacturers sell drugs directly to consumers, the more they will invest in educating consumers about their products and how to use them safely. The study of triptans in six EU countries notes that beyond the immediate health improvements from broader access as a result of OTC status, "it is possible to further reduce the disease burden, if manufacturers invest in a disease awareness campaign that will promote awareness of the condition to currently undiagnosed patients (40% of all migraine sufferers)."²²⁵

There is no way to structure access to drugs that would ensure that every individual receives every drug whose benefits exceed its costs and that no individual receives a drug where the reverse is true. Perfection is not an option. Eliminating government-imposed prescription requirements *would* lead to situations in which consumers misdiagnose their own ailments and take a drug that does them more harm than good. For example, triptans carry a small risk of cardiovascular events.²²⁶ The FDA places a strong warning on the labels for smaller doses of (prescription) sumatriptans than the United Kingdom allows consumers to purchase without a prescription.²²⁷ The study of six EU countries estimates that the savings and productivity gains from OTC triptans would exceed the additional expenditures and productivity losses from added cardiovascular events by more than 100-fold, but it does not attempt to estimate the health losses that would occur other than describing them as "rare."²²⁸

Whatever the added risk, the way to minimize that risk and those losses is not to strip consumers of their autonomy, increase the price of their medications, and force migraine sufferers to endure unnecessary pain. It is to educate consumers about safe drug use and the associated risks so that they can make informed decisions. Consumers' inherent risk aversion plus innovations in consumer education would improve consumers' health literacy and reduce adverse drug reactions while broadening access to beneficial drugs. In cases where consumer education does not reduce those risks to acceptable levels, tort liability would force manufacturers to require prescriptions.

66

Eliminating government-imposed prescription requirements would lead to situations in which consumers take a drug that does them more harm than good. The way to minimize that risk is not to strip consumers of their autonomy.

"

Reconsider Premarket Approval Requirements

erely repealing Durham-Humphrey would not eliminate the FDA's ability to impose prescription requirements. It could even backfire by leaving consumers with less freedom to self-medicate, because the FDA could still use other tools at its disposal to maintain its current paternalistic approach to pharmaceutical access. As it did in 1938, the FDA could use the FDCA's labeling requirements to create de facto prescription requirements. It could claim that to approve certain drugs as safe to market to consumers that it must require more and larger safety and efficacy studies. It could extract explicit or implicit commitments from manufacturers to sell drugs as prescription-only in exchange for quicker approvals. If Congress did nothing more than repeal Durham-Humphrey, the FDA could exacerbate the problems of drug lag and drug loss and thereby reduce rather than expand U.S. residents' freedom to self-medicate. Congress must therefore make additional changes to the FDCA, including amending the statute's labeling requirements, to ensure that the FDA does not once again defeat congressional intent by claiming the power to require prescriptions.

Even with such changes, the FDA would retain the power to deny consumers their right to self-medicate through its control over the length and cost of its approval processes. That power stems from the FDCA's requirements that all new drugs, all generic drugs, and all forms of manufacturer speech about new indications for existing drugs must receive the FDA's approval before going to market. So long as Congress allows the FDA to act as a paternalistic gatekeeper between consumers and drugs, the agency will err on the side of delaying and denying consumers access to new products and new information.²²⁹

The case for eliminating government premarket approval requirements, like that for eliminating government-

imposed prescription requirements, is strong. In the absence of FDA certification that drugs are safe and effective, private-sector organizations would perform that same function. The crucial difference is that private certification organizations would provide consumers information that they need to make educated treatment decisions rather than deny them access to medical care.

DRUG TESTING AND CERTIFICATION THAT RESPECTS HEALTH CARE RIGHTS

Private testing and certification of safety and efficacy predate the FDA and have always existed alongside it. Organizations such as the U.S. Pharmacopeial Convention, the American Medical Association (AMA), *Consumer Reports*, medical journals, health insurance plans, foreign regulatory bodies, and others have offered or continue to offer alternative safety and efficacy certification. The FDA itself reports:

In 1905, the AMA formed its own Council on Pharmacy and Chemistry which levied a fee on manufacturers to evaluate their drugs for quality (ingredient testing) and safety. Drugs accepted by the Council

66

The case for eliminating government premarket approval requirements, **like that for eliminating government-imposed prescription requirements, is strong.**

could carry the AMA's Seal of Acceptance and only products with the seal had access to the advertising pages of the *Journal of the American Medical Association* (JAMA). The AMA's Chemical Laboratory tested commercial statements about the composition and purity of drugs in their labs, while the Council on Pharmacy and Chemistry followed up with safety evaluations and rudimentary efficacy evaluations designed to eliminate exaggerated or misleading therapeutic claims.... The AMA's drug certification program remained in place until 1955.²³⁰

Even as it shuttered its safety and efficacy certification program, "the AMA initiated a registry for reporting adverse drug reactions."²³¹ To this day, "*Consumer Reports* Best Buy Drugs evaluates medications for price as well as safety and efficacy."²³²

THE PHARMACEUTICAL MARKET WHERE ALL CERTIFICATION COMES FROM OUTSIDE THE FDA

There is a consensus in American politics that the FDA should not be the sole authority on which drugs are effective for which uses. In the market for off-label uses for drugs, *all* efficacy certification comes from organizations other than the FDA. The FDA approves drugs to treat specific conditions and permits manufacturers to print only those approved indications on a drug's label. Once a drug reaches the market, however, consumers and practitioners are free to use it in ways that the FDA has not approved, including for other conditions. Using a drug for a non-FDA-approved indication is an off-label use because the FDA has not (or at least not yet) allowed that use to appear on the drug's label. Just as physicians are free to prescribe prescription-only drugs for off-label uses.

Off-label drug uses are common. An estimated 21 percent of prescriptions in the United States are off-label, with the share rising as high as 83 percent for individual drugs.²³³ They can be beneficial. The FDA approved thalidomide to treat leprosy and multiple myeloma only after doctors had started prescribing it off-label to treat those illnesses.²³⁴ The FDA itself acknowledges, "Aspirin has been shown to lower the risk of heart attack 66

There is a consensus in American politics that **the FDA should not be the sole authority on which drugs are effective for which uses. ?**?

and stroke in patients who have cardiovascular disease or who have already had a heart attack or stroke . . . even though the directions on the aspirin label do not apply to this use of aspirin."²³⁵ Off-label uses can also be harmful. As we previously discussed, thalidomide for morning sickness was an off-label use.²³⁶ Some of the deaths from elixir sulfanilamide likely stemmed from some doctors prescribing it for off-label uses.²³⁷ (See the "How Could Consumer Safety Regulation Make Consumers Less Safe?" section).

Off-label use is controversial, in part because the amount of evidence supporting off-label uses varies. A 2006 investigation estimated, "Among off-label [prescriptions], most (73 percent) lacked evidence of clinical efficacy, and less than one third (27 percent) were supported by strong scientific evidence."²³⁸ One study found that compared to patients who used drugs for FDA-approved ("on-label") indications, those who used drugs for off-label indications are 44 percent more likely to suffer an adverse drug reaction and 54 percent more likely if the off-label use lacked strong scientific support. If an off-label use had strong scientific support, however, patients were no more likely to suffer adverse drug reactions than those who used drugs for on-label indications.²³⁹

With regard to evidence, patients, doctors, insurers, and even governments routinely rely on sources other than the FDA to certify the efficacy of off-label uses. Examples of non-FDA efficacy certification include drug compendia, *Consumer Reports*, foreign regulatory agencies, and medical journals.

In particular, the federal government and all 56 state and territorial governments recognize multiple

voluntary, private-sector efficacy certifications as reasonable alternatives to the FDA's seal of approval. Medicare, Medicaid, and the Children's Health Insurance Program are the largest purchasers of pharmaceuticals in the world, covering more than 121 million individuals, or more than one-third of the U.S. population.²⁴⁰ Federal law requires the Medicare program to rely on specific, privately compiled drug compendia to certify the efficacy of off-label uses. It further authorizes the secretary of the Department of Health and Human Services (HHS) to designate additional compendia and medical journals on which Medicare must rely. Over time, HHS secretaries have accepted four compendia and more than a dozen medical journals as authorities on the efficacy of off-label uses.²⁴¹ Federal law imposes similar requirements on state Medicaid programs.²⁴²

According to the American Society of Clinical Oncology, "Following the lead of the Congress, the overwhelming majority of state legislatures have enacted statutes requiring [privately insured consumers to purchase] coverage of off-label uses of cancer drugs based on the compendia."²⁴³ As of 2009, 74 percent of the U.S. population resided in states that required consumers to purchase coverage that relies on similar sources of off-label efficacy certification.²⁴⁴

The FDA itself used a private, third-party reviewer—the National Research Council of the National Academy of Sciences—to evaluate and certify the efficacy of drugs the agency had approved based on safety alone between 1938 and 1962.²⁴⁵

Alternative sources of formal and informal off-label efficacy certification also move faster than the FDA. In a study of off-label indications for existing drugs, former U.S. Bureau of Consumer Protection director Howard J. Beales found:

In the average market, a majority of the [medical] journal articles discussing the new use had already appeared two years before [FDA] approval. At the time of approval itself, two-thirds of the journal articles had already appeared. Moreover, the new uses were recognized in U.S. Pharmacopeia Drug Information, an authoritative compendium of prescription drug information, an average of 2.5 years before approval.²⁴⁶

Importantly, critics charge that the private compendia on which federal and state governments rely are *too* quick to certify off-label uses. A study of how those compendia addressed 14 off-label indications of anti-cancer drugs concluded that the compendia's standards were lax: "The compendia's stated methods varied greatly from their actual practices. Compendia cited little of the available evidence, often neither the most recent nor that of highest methodological quality."²⁴⁷ And yet, there appears to be a durable political consensus that government health programs and private insurers *must* rely on these alternative sources of efficacy certification.

If most Americans are not aware of alternative forms of drug safety and efficacy certification, it is because the FDA crowds out private certification efforts. An author writing for the FDA even acknowledges, "Increasingly, responsibility for testing standards previously established as voluntary by the American Medical Association's (AMA) Council on Drugs, the U.S. Pharmacopeia, and the National Formulary were taken up by the FDA" following the 1962 Kefauver-Harris Amendments.²⁴⁸ Indeed, for new drugs, the Kefauver-Harris Amendments effectively gave the FDA a monopoly over efficacy certification. The fact that the FDA holds this monopoly might account for the high cost of the FDA's provision of this service.

"

The federal government and all 56 state and territorial governments recognize multiple voluntary, private-sector efficacy certifications as reasonable alternatives to the FDA's seal of approval.

66

In a market where the federal government respects the right to self-medicate, **the problems of drug lag and drug loss would disappear. 99**

Without the FDA's monopoly on initial certification of safety and efficacy, alternative standards would likely be more numerous and more efficient. In addition to the informal certification mechanisms that already exist, medical societies might again enter the market by conducting safety and efficacy certifications for drugs used within their specialties. Health plans would face strong incentives to fund certification bodies and, through their coverage decisions, could educate enrollees about which drugs are ineffective, effective, and cost-effective. Integrated, prepaid group plans such as Kaiser Permanente would have a decided advantage in this market. The prepayment model gives such plans a greater incentive than other health plans to fund research that separates effective from ineffective drugs, and a fully integrated delivery system gives them the capability to conduct safety and efficacy studies themselves. To date, we have seen only a tiny glimpse of the voluntary drug certification activities a competitive market would provide.

In a market where the federal government respects the right to self-medicate, the problems of drug lag and drug loss would disappear. Unnecessary regulation would no longer delay consumers' ability to access drugs. Consumers could use drugs when their assessment of a drug's benefits and costs—and of the quality of the evidence of its benefits and costs—leads them to conclude that a drug is likely to benefit them.

As with eliminating government-imposed prescription requirements, eliminating premarket approval requirements would increase health literacy. Like a government-mandated prescription from a physician, an FDA approval can lead consumers to make less careful drug-consumption decisions than they would in its absence. A competitive market for drug certification, where different certifiers reach different conclusions about the same drug, would educate consumers that all drugs carry risks and that safety and efficacy are not binary concepts. A competitive certification system might develop different gradations of approval—much like the U.S. Preventive Services Task Force rates preventive services on a scale of "A" to "I"—that educate consumers about both the known effects of a drug and how certain they can be of those effects.

The FDA has even recognized the wisdom of using such gradations. When commissioning efficacy reviews of drugs approved prior to the Kefauver-Harris Amendments, the FDA allowed reviewers to assign drugs to different categories based on the strength of the evidence:

Their ratings on each claim for a drug fell into six categories: effective; probably effective; possibly effective, ineffective, effective but, and ineffective as a fixed combination (combination drugs for which there was no substantial reason to believe that each ingredient adds to the effectiveness of the combination).²⁴⁹

A competitive market for safety and efficacy certification would allow private certifiers to develop and use

66

A competitive market for safety and efficacy certification would allow private certifiers to **develop and use multiple, graduated approval categories that are better at educating consumers and clinicians about the benefits and costs of drugs.** multiple, graduated categories that are better at educating consumers and clinicians about the benefits and costs of drugs, the strengths and weaknesses of the evidence for those benefits and costs, and the nature of drugs, health, and risk.

Respecting self-medication rights requires eliminating government premarket approval requirements for new drugs and for new information about existing drugs. If complete elimination of those requirements is not yet politically feasible, at a minimum Congress should eliminate the FDA's ability to restrict truthful speech by manufacturers about their products and allow American consumers to purchase drugs that have won approval from designated certification agencies, including foreign regulatory bodies. According to one study, recognizing drug approvals by regulatory bodies in Canada and Europe between 2000 and 2010 would have given U.S. consumers quicker access to 37 "novel" drugs for which "no other FDA-approved 66 Respecting self-medication rights requires eliminating government premarket approval requirements for new drugs and for new information about existing drugs. ??

prescription medicine had the same mechanism of action," including 10 drugs treating mostly orphan diseases "for which no alternative therapy was available in the USA." Such recognition would have allowed U.S. consumers to access those drugs a median of 13.6 months earlier.²⁵⁰

Intermediate Reforms

ongress and state legislatures can also take other intermediate steps that would expand consumers' freedom to self-medicate, educate and acclimate them to making more of their medication decisions, and build support for eliminating government-imposed prescription requirements.

AUTOMATIC OTC SWITCHES

Peltzman offers a proposal that in theory could accelerate the process of prescription-to-OTC switches and reduce the burden of government-imposed prescription requirements. Under the current system, manufacturers must prove to the FDA's satisfaction that a drug is safe enough to sell directly to consumers, and the FDA decides what "safe enough to sell directly to consumers" means. Peltzman suggests that Congress create an objective standard of safety that, in effect, would remove the FDA from the decision of whether a drug is safe enough to sell OTC. He writes:

Why should the FDA wait for someone else to initiate this process? The FDA claims competence to decide when an adequate consumer label can be written. I suggest the FDA should periodically review existing drugs for eligibility for OTC sales. I further suggest that when any prescription drug passes certain milestones—x million prescriptions sold over y years with a risk profile similar to, say, ibuprofen or aspirin—there should be a rebuttable presumption that the drug becomes OTC-eligible. It would then be up to the drug's producer or producers to take advantage of the opportunity.²⁵¹

Once a manufacturer believes a drug has met that standard, it could sell the drug OTC without seeking the agency's permission. The burden of proof would shift to the FDA to demonstrate why the manufacturer should not be able to sell the drug OTC. Such a rule would still infringe on consumers' freedom to make their own medical decisions, albeit less than the current system does. It would also face the challenge of determining objective criteria ("milestones") that a drug must meet to free manufacturers and consumers from a government-imposed prescription requirement. Moreover, manufacturers of on-patent drugs would be unlikely to avail themselves of this option if there is no opportunity for competitors to offer OTC versions of the same drug.

INTERMEDIATE CLASSIFICATIONS OF DRUG ACCESS

Another option would be for Congress to create intermediate classifications of drug access between prescription-only and OTC. Congress could allow manufacturers to petition the FDA to designate drugs as "BTC," "pharmacy," "drugstore," or "OTC/pharmacist," under rules such as those in Table 1. Manufacturers could request an initial designation, and Peltzman-style rules could automatically move drugs to less-restrictive classifications either when they meet specified criteria or when select countries switch them to more-permissive categories. The FDA commissioner could order—or manufacturers, consumers, and others could petition—the agency to switch drugs to more-permissive categories even earlier.²⁵²

Creating less-restrictive government-imposed barriers to access would not fully respect the right of consumers

66

Congress and state legislatures can also take other intermediate steps that would expand consumers' freedom to self-medicate.

7

to make their medical decisions. These barriers would still require consumers to obtain permission from government-appointed gatekeepers or otherwise restrict access. But they would eliminate many unnecessary doctors' visits and their associated costs.

A flaw common to Peltzman's OTC rule and government-created and -administered intermediate categories of drug access is that both still rely on the FDA to reclassify drugs. They rely on the agency either to lower the barriers it places in the way of consumers who want to purchase drugs or not to use its other powers to prevent Congress from lowering those barriers. The snail's pace at which the FDA has considered reclassifying emergency contraception, oral contraception, and naloxone do not inspire confidence that the former approach would materially expand consumers' freedom to self-medicate. The history of the FDA—in particular the agency's use of its control of drug labeling to create a de facto yet never authorized power to classify drugs as prescription-only—suggests that the agency would defeat the latter approach as well.

Congress could try to circumvent this difficulty by adopting a rule that automatically assigns drugs to less-restrictive categories whenever any of a group of designated countries does so.

STATES CAN RESTORE THE RIGHT TO SELF-MEDICATE

States can protect the freedom to self-medicate even if Congress and the FDA will not. The FDCA states that pharmacies may sell drugs that the FDA designates as prescription-only "upon a . . . prescription of a practitioner licensed by law to administer such drug."²⁵³ Since states license medical practitioners, states have near-plenary authority to restore every individual's right to self-medicate. If a state legislature wanted to do so, it could automatically license all adults in the state to administer all prescription drugs. In that event, all consumers would have to do to purchase any drug in a pharmacy is create their own prescription pads and present a self-administered prescription to a pharmacist.

States have taken some small steps toward making drugs more accessible. For instance, to make naloxone more widely available, all 50 states and the District of Columbia

66 States can protect the freedom to self-medicate even if Congress and the FDA will not. 99

have found ways around the drug's prescription-only classification. In most cases, a state's chief medical officer issues a "standing order" to pharmacists to dispense the drug to any consumer who approaches the pharmacy counter.²⁵⁴ Other states empower pharmacists to be the prescribing practitioner. These reforms effectively make naloxone a BTC drug.

Though these reforms free adults to purchase naloxone essentially without a prescription, they remain inadequate. Experience has shown that the inconvenience of BTC access combined with reluctance to reveal government-stigmatized opioid use prevents many opioid users, their friends, and family members from availing themselves of the drug. Numerous reports of pharmacists refusing to participate in naloxone distribution—some because they believe they are enabling a dangerous drug habit—likewise obstruct the wider distribution and use of naloxone.²⁵⁵ This problem illustrates that BTC status is inadequate and that manufacturers should be free to sell the drug OTC, including in vending machines.

With regard to oral contraception, California, Colorado, the District of Columbia, Hawaii, Idaho, Maryland, New Hampshire, New Mexico, Ohio, Utah, Oregon, Tennessee, Washington, and West Virginia let consumers obtain oral contraceptives directly from a pharmacist, with varying restrictions.²⁵⁶ Unfortunately, those states have implemented this approach with uneven success.²⁵⁷ And even if successful, BTC status still fails to respect the right of consumers to self-medicate. The ACOG writes,

Pharmacist prescribing laws are not the same thing as over-the-counter access. Requiring a pharmacist to prescribe and dispense oral contraceptives only replaces one barrier—aphysician's prescription—with another. This is not going to allow us to reach women who remained underserved by the current prescribing requirements....

We know from evidence and experience that oral contraceptives are safe enough for over-the-counter access, and do not require any prescription at all.²⁵⁸

BTC access is inadequate and no substitute for respecting the right of individual consumers to self-medicate.

CIVIL DISOBEDIENCE

The laws that allow the FDA to block drugs from the market and to force consumers to obtain prescriptions from government-approved gatekeepers are harmful, unjust, and immoral. They prevent consumers from exercising their right to self-medicate and prevent manufacturers both from selling safe, effective, and even life-saving drugs directly to consumers and from providing consumers truthful information about drugs.

The hardships that pharmaceutical regulations impose on patients are so great that disobedience to such regulations is common—and in many cases receives tacit or explicit government sanction. The 2013 *Contraception* survey found that in some 56 countries, pharmacies routinely sell oral contraceptives without a prescription even though the law forbids it.²⁵⁹ Other examples of disobedience to pharmaceutical regulations include buyers' clubs formed by AIDS patients, patients importing lower-priced and/or unapproved drugs from foreign countries (often at the behest and with the assistance of state governments), and state governments licensing medical marijuana dispensaries.²⁶⁰

RESISTANCE TO REFORM

Reform will not come easily. Many well-funded interests, inside and outside of government, will oppose restoring the right of individuals to self-medicate. Manufacturers who fear price competition might oppose reform because it would mean a larger share of their customers would be price-sensitive rather than relatively price-insensitive consumers, insurance companies, and government programs. Manufacturers who classify a drug as prescription-only and charge prescription prices might see a threat from competitors marketing the same drug OTC. Recall how a manufacturer of naloxone responded to a Capitol Hill briefing about the need to switch naloxone to OTC.

Even though a significant number of drugs, especially those for complex and highly specialized problems, would remain prescription-only, the medical and dental professions may oppose reform because it would reduce the number of office appointments and the control those professions hold over the medical decisions of adults.

The greatest resistance may come from within government itself. Officials in Congress and the FDA will argue that it would be unwise and unsafe to divest them of the authority to make medical decisions for others. In part, government officials' opposition to the right to medical self-determination springs from the fact that they have never seen and cannot imagine the patient-safety and patient-education efforts a competitive pharmaceutical market would spur innovators to create.

"

The hardships that pharmaceutical regulations impose on patients are so great that **disobedience to such regulations is common—and in many cases receives tacit or explicit government sanction.**

"

Conclusion

overnment-imposed prescription requirements create unnecessary barriers to beneficial drugs, including by encouraging excessive drug prices. The evidence that suggests such requirements harm rather than help consumers becomes more plausible when one considers how both physicians and government have steered consumers toward hazardous drugs.

With many consumers struggling to afford the medications they need, the need for reform is urgent. After the FDA rejected a manufacturer's petition to make emergency contraception available OTC in 2004, the ACOG wrote, "Any delay in OTC status . . . means that every day teenagers and women have difficulty obtaining emergency contraception."²⁶¹ The same is true for routine-use oral contraceptives, life-saving naloxone, and other safe and effective medications.

Beyond economic considerations, government-imposed prescription requirements and premarket approval requirements deny consumers their right to make their own medical decisions, as surely as if government allowed doctors to lie to consumers or perform unwanted medical procedures on them. To preserve the FDA's power to require prescriptions is to subject consumers to the sort of paternalism that patient advocates have fought for decades to eliminate via the doctrine of informed consent. A regulatory system under which "a 12-year-old can purchase a lethal dose of acetaminophen in any pharmacy for about \$11, no questions asked" but that forces competent adults to obtain permission from a government-appointed gatekeeper before purchasing nonlethal oral contraceptives or life-saving naloxone is not just perplexing or inefficient; it fails to respect the fundamental and equal dignity of those consumers.²⁶²

Eliminating the FDA's authority to impose prescription

requirements on drug manufacturers and consumers would provide a safe and effective way to bring beneficial medications to patients who need them. Peltzman writes:

With the pressure mounting for action to restrain drug prices, you might think that speeding up and broadening the OTC transition would be on the FDA's priority list or the priority list of its critics. But the topic is little discussed by anyone. This neglected area deserves more scrutiny. . . . Moving more drugs to OTC status is no free lunch, but it is as close to one as consumers are likely to get in the health care sector.²⁶³

The knowledge that some individuals would inevitably self-medicate in ways that harm their health should not delay reform. Americans do the equivalent every day when they exercise their right to refuse potentially beneficial medical treatments.

The utilitarian argument for eliminating governmentimposed prescription requirements, moreover, is not that manufacturers and consumers of pharmaceuticals will never make harmful mistakes. It is that government is right now making far more harmful mistakes than would a free consumer populace aided by price competition, quality competition, third-party certification, innovation, greater health literacy, and the threat of tort liability.

In any event, the burden of proof lies not with those who seek to restore the right of individuals to make their own medical decisions. It lies with those who would preserve laws that allow government to interfere in personal medical decisions. The individual-rights argument for eliminating government-imposed prescription requirements is that government has no legitimate authority to interfere in the first place.

Notes

- Rabal Kamal, Cynthia Cox, and Daniel McDermott, "What Are the Recent and Forecasted Trends in Prescription Drug Spending?," Peterson-Kaiser Family Foundation Health System Tracker, February 20, 2019.
- 2. "Pharmaceutical Spending," Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development, 2019.
- 3. Emphasis added. Irene Papanicolas, Liana R. Woskie, and Ashish K. Jha, "Health Care Spending in the United States and Other High-Income Countries," *Journal of the American Medical Association* 319, no. 10 (2018): 1024–39.
- Nathan E. Wineinger, Yunyue Zhang, and Eric J. Topol, "Trends in Prices of Popular Brand-Name Prescription Drugs in the United States," *JAMA Network Open* 2, no. 5 (May 31, 2019): 1–9.
- 5. Katie Thomas, "6 Takeaways from Trump's Plans to Try to Lower Drug Prices," *New York Times*, May 11, 2018.
- 6. John Osborn, "Trump's Drug Pricing Reform Proposals May Be Politically Tepid but Are Sensible Policy," *Forbes*, May 12, 2018.
- Paul A. Lombardo, "Phantom Tumors and Hysterical Women: Revising Our View of the Schloendorff Case," *Journal of Law, Medicine & Ethics* 33, no, 4 (2005): 791–801; Stephen Bolsin and Kym Saunders, "Informed Consent in Medical Practice," *Trends in Urology and Men's Health* (September/October 2012): 34–36.
- 8. Emphasis added. Schloendorff v. Society of New York Hospital, 211 N.Y. 125 (1914).
- 9. Daniel K. Sokol, "How the Doctor's Nose Has Shortened over Time; a Historical Overview of the Truth-Telling Debate in the Doctor-Patient Relationship," *Journal of the Royal Society of Medicine* 99, no. 12 (December 2006): 632–36.
- 10. Sokol, "How the Doctor's Nose Has Shortened over Time."

Have a Right to Self-Medicate (New York: Oxford University Press, 2017), p. 3.

- 12. Overuse and misuse of antibiotics can contribute to the development of resistant strains of bacteria, rendering existing antibiotics less effective in the treatment of infectious and communicable diseases. "High Levels of Antibiotic Resistance Found Worldwide, New Data Shows," World Health Organization (WHO), January 29, 2018; "Stop Using Antibiotics in Healthy Animals to Prevent the Spread of Antibiotic Resistance," WHO, November 7, 2017; and "WHO Updates Essential Medicines List with New Advice on Use of Antibiotics, and Adds Medicines for Hepatitis C, HIV, Tuberculosis and Cancer," WHO, June 6, 2017.
- 13. Flanigan, Pharmaceutical Freedom, pp. 41-43, 88.
- 14. Peter Barton Hutt, "A Legal Framework for Future Decisions on Transferring Drugs from Prescription to Nonprescription Status," *Food Drug Cosmetic Law Journal* 37 (1982): 428.
- 15. John P. Swann, "FDA and the Practice of Pharmacy: Prescription Drug Regulation Before the Durham-Humphrey Amendment of 1951," Pharmacy in History 36, no. 2 (1994): 60. The New York physician, Dr. Darwin Colvin of Wayne County, had a low opinion of detail men (AKA pharmaceutical sales representatives)-"a drummer . . . the voluble advocate . . . the indefatigable agent . . . the sly dog!"-and evidently regarded pledges that drugs "are to be exclusively in the hands of the physicians [and] not to be sold except on prescription" to be part of a dishonest sales pitch. New York State Medical Association, Transactions of the New York State Medical Association for the Year (New York: D. Appleton and Co., 1885), pp. 311-12. Even so, Colvin's report speaks to pharmaceutical companies' early recognition of their ability to require prescriptions and that doing so could provide a competitive advantage.
- 16. Sam Peltzman, "By Prescription Only... or Occasionally?," *Regulation* 11, no. 3 (Fall/Winter 1987): 23–28.
- 17. "USP Timeline," USP, http://www.usp.org/about/
- 11. Jessica Flanigan, *Pharmaceutical Freedom: Why Patients*

Drug Reformation

usp-timeline; and "Glossary: U.S. Pharmacopoeia and *USP-DI*," FDAReview.org, http://www.fdareview. org/11_glossary.php#usp.

- "Glossary: National Formulary," FDAReview.org, http:// www.fdareview.org/11_glossary.php#formulary.
- 19. "History of Federal Regulation: 1902–Present," FDAReview.org.
- 20. "History of Federal Regulation."
- Paul M. Wax, "Elixirs, Diluents, and the Passage of the 1938 Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act," *Annals of Internal Medicine* 122, no. 6 (March 15, 1995): 456–61.
- 22. Linda Bren, "Frances Oldham Kelsey: FDA Medical Reviewer Leaves Her Mark on History," *FDA Consumer Magazine* 35, no. 2 (March–April 2001): 24–29.
- 23. Carol Ballentine, "Taste of Raspberries, Taste of Death: The 1937 Elixir Sulfanilamide Incident," *FDA Consumer* (June 1981).
- 24. James Harvey Young, "Three Southern Food and Drug Cases," *Journal of Southern History* 49, no. 1 (February 1983): 3–26.
- 25. Peter Temin, "The Origin of Compulsory Drug Prescriptions," *Journal of Law and Economics* 22, no. 1 (April 1979): 91–105.
- 26. C. Wesley Dunn, Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, a Statement of its Legislative Record (New York: G. E. Stechert & Co., 1938), pp. 1083, 1195.
- 27. Dunn, Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, p. 90.
- 28. Dunn, Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, p. 822.
- 29. Wax, "Passage of the 1938 Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act."
- 30. Second emphasis added. Dunn, *Federal Food*, *Drug*, *and Cosmetic Act*, p. 764.
- 31. "History of Federal Regulation."
- 32. Statement of James F. Hoge (Proprietary Association),

Hearings on Proposed Regulations, November 17 and 18, 1938, Book 1, p. 95, cited in Harry M. Marks, "Revisiting 'The Origins of Compulsory Drug Prescriptions," *American Journal of Public Health* 85, no. 1 (January 1995): 110.

- 33. Memorandum submitted by Winthrop Chemical Company, November 25, 1938 in *Hearings on Proposed Regulations, November 17 and 18, 1938*, Book 3, cited in Marks, "Revisiting 'The Origins of Compulsory Drug Prescriptions," p. 110.
- 34. Memorandum submitted by Winthrop Chemical Company.
- 35. Marks, "Revisiting 'The Origins of Compulsory Drug Prescriptions," p. 110.
- 36. 3 Fed. Reg. 3168 (December 28, 1938), cited in Sam Peltzman, "The Health Effects of Mandatory Prescriptions," *Journal of Law and Economics* 30, no. 2 (October 1987): 208.
- 37. "This could not have been all that surprising, considering how labelling requirements for self-medication had ballooned. For example, by 1940 the FDA issued twenty-eight detailed warning statements for over sixty laxatives, antitussives, analgesics, and other drugs and classes of drugs." Swann, "FDA and the Practice of Pharmacy," p. 60.
- Peter Temin, "Regulation and the Choice of Prescription Drugs," *American Economic Review* 70, no. 2 (May 1980): 301–5.
- 39. Hutt, "Transferring Drugs from Prescription to Nonprescription Status," p. 428.
- 40. Peltzman, "By Prescription Only."
- 41. Temin, "Origin of Compulsory Drug Prescriptions," p. 104. Temin qualified his claim that "nobody commented" thus: "Almost nobody. A law review article in 1947 argued that the Congress had not intended the labeling rules of the 1938 law to be used to restrict sales of some drugs to prescription. The author reviewed the history just presented and argued that the clear legislative intent of Congress was to aid self-medication, not to restrict it. He questioned the

legality of the FDA rule quoted above but predicted that the courts would uphold it. He predicted that the courts would not examine the rule carefully but instead would presume that the FDA was expert and informed in its special area. His predictions were confirmed the following year by the decision and opinions in *U.S. v. Sullivan.*" Temin cites Edward B. Williams, "Exemption from the Requirement of Adequate Directions for Use in the Labeling of Drugs," *Food, Drug, Cosmetic Law Quarterly* 2, no. 2 (June 1947): 155.

- 42. "FDA officials, doubtful about the extent of their authority over the retail sale of prescription drugs, had traditionally vacillated in their policy toward pharmacists who sold prescription-labeled drugs without a prescription, placing greater emphasis on the labeling practices of drug manufacturers. Following a 1948 Supreme Court decision that upheld the FDA's authority to prosecute retail druggists, agency officials began a campaign intended to curtail retail abuses of prescription-labeled drugs. . . . Among the FDA's actions were increased prosecutions of over-the-counter sales of prescription drugs." Marks, "Origins of Compulsory Drug Prescriptions," p. 112.
- Julie Donohue, "A History of Drug Advertising: The Evolving Roles of Consumers and Consumer Protection," *Milbank Quarterly* 84, no. 4 (December 2006): 659–99.
- 44. Gregory W. Reilly, "The FDA and Plan B: The Legislative History of the Durham-Humphrey Amendments and the Consideration of Social Harms in the Rx-OTC Switch" (third year paper, Harvard Law School, May 12, 2006).
- 45. W. Steven Pray, A History of Nonprescription Product Regulation (Binghamton, NY: Pharmaceutical Products Press, 2003).
- 46. Jim Cahill, "Why Is Some Insulin Available Over the Counter?," *Insulin Nation*, July 12, 2017; and Sarah Jane Tribble, "You Can Buy Insulin without a Prescription, but Should You?," *Kaiser Health News*, December 14, 2015.
- 47. Rx-wiki, s.v. "Durham-Humphrey Amendment," last modified October 28, 2012.

- 48. Hutt, "Transferring Drugs from Prescription to Nonprescription Status," p. 428.
- Murray M. Lumpkin, letter to Steve Thomas, NDA 20-785, July 16, 1998; and Renata Albrecht and Robert L. Justice, letter to Megan Parsi, NDA 21-430, NDA 20-785/S-031, May 25, 2006.
- 50. "Thalidomide Capsule," WebMD.
- 51. Bren, "Frances Oldham Kelsey."
- 52. Wax, "Passage of the 1938 Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act."
- 53. "Thalidomide," *Public Health Reports* 77, no. 11 (November 1962): 946.
- 54. Suzanne White Junod, "FDA and Clinical Drug Trials: A Short History," Food and Drug Administration, 2016, p. 10.
- 55. Bren, "Frances Oldham Kelsey."
- White Junod, "FDA and Clinical Drug Trials," pp. 1–21.
- 57. Wax, "Passage of the 1938 Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act."
- 58. David Dranove and David Meltzer, "Do Important Drugs Reach the Market Sooner?," *RAND Journal of Economics* 25, no. 3 (1994): 402–3.
- 59. Dranove and Meltzer, "Do Important Drugs Reach the Market Sooner?"
- 60. Joseph A. DiMasi, Ronald W. Hansen, and Henry G. Grabowski, "The Price of Innovation: New Estimates of Drug Development Costs," *Journal of Health Economics* 22, no. 2 (March 2003): 151–85; and Joseph A. DiMasi, Henry G. Grabowski, and Ronald W. Hansen, "Innovation in the Pharmaceutical Industry: New Estimates of R&D Costs," *Journal of Health Economics* 47 (May 2016): 20–33. Inflation adjustments use "CPI Inflation Calculator," U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics.
- 61. Harriet Wileman and Arun Mishra, "Drug Lag and Key Regulatory Barriers in the Emerging Markets,"

Perspectives in Clinical Research 1, no. 2 (April–June 2010): 51–56.

- 62. Joseph A. DiMasi et al., "Cost of Innovation in the Pharmaceutical Industry," *Journal of Health Economics* 10 (1991): 107–42; DiMasi, Hansen, and Grabowski, "New Estimates of Drug Development Costs," pp. 151–85; and DiMasi, Grabowski, and Hansen, "New Estimates of R&D Costs," pp. 20–33. Inflation adjustments use "CPI Inflation Calculator."
- 63. Right to Try, http://righttotry.org/#1; and Rachel Roubein, "House Approves 'Right to Try,' Sends Bill to Trump's Desk," *The Hill*, May 22, 2018.
- 64. Sam Peltzman, "An Evaluation of Consumer Protection Legislation: The 1962 Drug Amendments," *Journal of Political Economy* 81, no. 5 (September–October 1973): 1049–91.
- 65. Sam Peltzman, Regulation of Pharmaceutical Innovation: The 1962 Amendments (Washington: American Enterprise Institute, 1974). On criticisms of Peltzman's 1973 study, see Michael F. Cannon, "Do Economists Reach a Conclusion on the Food and Drug Administration?" (unpublished manuscript, December 12, 2006).
- 66. Mary K. Olson, "Are Novel Drugs More Risky for Patients than Less Novel Drugs?," *Journal of Health Economics* 23, no. 6 (November 2004): 1136–58.
- 67. Olson, "Are Novel Drugs More Risky," pp. 1135-58.
- 68. Tomas J. Philipson et al., "Assessing the Safety and Efficacy of the FDA: The Case of the Prescription Drug User Fee Acts," National Bureau of Economic Research Working Paper no. 11724, October 2005.
- 69. Emphasis added. Tomas J. Philipson et al., "How Safe Is Too Safe? Innovation at the FDA," *Milken Institute Review* (Second Quarter 2006): 38–45.
- 70. Encyclopedia.com, s.v. "Ibuprofen," updated June 2020.
- 71. "Drugs@FDA: FDA-Approved Drugs," U.S. Food and Drug Administration.
- 72. Natalie J. Gauld et al., "Widening Consumer Access to Medicines through Switching Medicines to

Non-Prescription: A Six Country Comparison," *PLoS ONE* 9, no. 9 (September 24, 2014): E107726.

- Gauld et al., "Widening Consumer Access to Medicines," p. E107726.
- 74. "Ingredients & Dosages Transferred from Rx-to-OTC Status (or New OTC Approvals) by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration since 1975," Consumer Healthcare Products Association, June 8, 2020.
- 75. Dennis Cauchon, "Why Allergy Drugs Cost So Much," USA Today, April 12, 2000.
- 76. Ahmet Sen et al., "First-Generation H1 Antihistamines Found in Pilot Fatalities of Civil Aviation Accidents, 1990–2005," Federal Aviation Administration, May 2007, p. 9.
- 77. Cauchon, "Why Allergy Drugs Cost So Much."
- 78. Cauchon, "Why Allergy Drugs Cost So Much."
- 79. "Approval Date(s) and History, Letters, Labels, Reviews for NDA 019658," U.S. Food and Drug Administration, https://www.accessdata.fda.gov/scripts/cder/daf/ index.cfm?event=overview.process&ApplNo=019658; "Approval Date(s) and History, Letters, Labels, Reviews for NDA 020346," U.S. Food and Drug Administration, https://www.accessdata.fda.gov/scripts/cder/daf/ index.cfm?event=overview.process&ApplNo=020346; James Bilstad, U.S. Food and Drug Administration Center for Drug Evaluation and Research approval letter to Hoechst Marion Roussel Inc., July 25, 1996, https://www.accessdata.fda.gov/drugsatfda_docs/nda/ pre96/020625Orig1s000rev.pdf.
- 80. Cauchon, "Why Allergy Drugs Cost So Much."
- Ceci Connolly, "Panel: Reclassify Allergy Pills," Washington Post, May 12, 2001.
- 82. Lars Noah, "Treat Yourself: Is Self-Medication the Prescription for What Ails American Health Care?," *Harvard Journal of Law & Technology* 19, no. 2 (Spring 2006): 361.
- 83. Quoted in Cauchon, "Why Allergy Drugs Cost So Much."

- 84. Quoted in Cauchon, "Why Allergy Drugs Cost So Much."
- 85. "Ingredients & Dosages Transferred from Rx-to-OTC Status."
- 86. "George Mason University in Virginia and colleges and universities in California and Pennsylvania have installed vending machines that dispense the contraceptive pill called Plan B, or a generic version that can be purchased over the counter in stores." Debbie Truong, "Women at Two Va. Universities Wanted More Access to the Morning-After Pill. So They Took 'Matters into Their Own Hands," *Washington Post*, May 19, 2019; and Max Blau, "The 'Uber for Birth Control' Expands in Conservative States, Opening a New Front in War over Contraception," *STAT*, October 24, 2017.
- Michael D. Shear and Pam Belluck, "U.S. Drops Bid to Limit Sales of Morning-After Pill," *New York Times*, June 10, 2013.
- Janet Woodcock, "Re: Docket No. 2001P-0075/CP1," U.S. Food and Drug Administration letter to Bonnie Scott Jones, June 10, 2013, https://www.regulations. gov/document?D=FDA-2001-P-0123-0187.
- 89. U.S. Government Accountability Office, "Food and Drug Administration: Decision Process to Deny Initial Application for Over-the-Counter Marketing of the Emergency Contraceptive Drug Plan B Was Unusual," report to congressional requesters, November 14, 2005.
- Julie Rovner, "FDA Official Resigns over Contraceptive Delay," *Morning Edition*, NPR, transcript, September 1, 2005.
- 91. Tummino v. Hamburg, No. 12-CV-763 (ERK)(VVP), (E.D.N.Y. May 10, 2013). The American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists (ACOG) likewise blamed "political interference" for the agency's decision to ignore the expert consensus that women could use Plan B safely without a prescription. See "FDA Rejects Over-the-Counter Status for Emergency Contraception," ACOG Today 48, no. 6 (July 2004): 2, https://web. archive.org/web/20150607165120/http://acog.org/-/ media/ACOG-Today/acogToday0704.pdf?dmc=1&ts= 20150322T2030583872.

- 92. Rovner, "FDA Official Resigns over Contraceptive Delay."
- 93. Susan F. Wood, "Inappropriate Obstructions to Access: The FDA's Handling of Plan B," *AMA Journal of Ethics* 16, no. 4 (April 2014): 295–301.
- 94. Carrie Budoff Brown, "Obama Defends Plan B Decision," *Politico*, December 8, 2011.
- 95. See, for example, Susan F. Wood, "With the Plan B Decision, the Obama Administration Broke Its Promise," *Washington Post*, December 9, 2011.
- 96. Emphasis added. Alastair J. J. Wood, Jeffrey M. Drazen, and Michael F. Greene, "The Politics of Emergency Contraception," *New England Journal of Medicine* 366, (January 12, 2012): 101–2.
- 97. Jonathan Cohn, "Why Obama's Decision on Plan B Is So Troubling," New Republic, December 8, 2011. Many other observers speculated the Obama administration blocked unrestricted access to Plan B for reasons other than safety concerns. See Sam Baker, "Left 'Speechless' as Sebelius Overrules FDA on Access to Morning-After Pill," The Hill, December 7, 2011, ("a decision steeped in 2012 politics"); Jennifer Corbett Dooren, "Obama Health Chief Blocks FDA on 'Morning After' Pill," Wall Street Journal, December 8, 2011 ("Allowing girls under age 17 to buy the \$50 pill over the counter could have saddled the Obama administration with a political target as the 2012 presidential campaign moves into full swing"); Gardiner Harris, "Plan to Widen Availability of Morning-After Pill Is Rejected," New York Times, December 7, 2011 ("The decision avoided what could have been a bruising political battle over parental control and contraception during a presidential election season"); Lauran Neergaard, "Block of OTC Morning-After Pill Hotly Debated," Bangor Daily *News*, December 8, 2011 ("The move . . . could serve to illustrate to independents, whose support will be critical in next fall's presidential election, that Obama is not the liberal ideologue Republicans claim"); Rob Stein and Anne E. Kornblut, "Obama Defends Administration's Refusal to Relax Plan B Restrictions," Washington Post, December 8, 2011 ("A senior White House official who spoke on the condition of anonymity said the administration trusted Sebelius on both the substance and politics of the issue. The official

noted that Sebelius had been governor of Kansas, a conservative state that required deft decision-making by a Democratic governor"); and Gardiner Harris, "White House and the F.D.A. Often at Odds," New York Times, April 2, 2012 ("a decision many public health experts saw as a politically motivated effort to avoid riling religious groups and others opposed to making birth control available to girls"). Speculation continued after the 2012 election when the Obama administration moved Plan B to unrestricted over-thecounter status. See Linda Feldmann, "Morning-After Pill: How the Politics of Plan B Changed for Obama," Christian Science Monitor, June 11, 2013 ("Obama was running for reelection, and not interested in giving Republicans an easy talking point that would read something like this: 'President supports morning-after pill for 11-year-olds.' Now safely reelected, Obama can let social conservatives have that press release").

- 98. Tummino v. Hamburg.
- 99. Tummino v. Hamburg.
- 100. Janet Woodcock, "Re: Docket No. 2001P-0075/CP1.s"
- 101. Wood, "Inappropriate Obstructions to Access," pp. 295-301.
- 102. Kimberly Daniels and Joyce C. Abma, "Current Contraceptive Status among Women Aged 15–49: United States, 2015–2017," National Center for Health Statistics Data Brief no. 327, U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, December 2018; and National Center for Health Statistics, "National Survey of Family Growth: Key Statistics from the National Survey of Family Growth—C Listing," U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, last reviewed May 7, 2019; and Kimberly Daniels, William D. Mosher, and Jo Jones, "Contraceptive Methods Women Have Ever Used: United States, 1982–2010," National Health Statistics Reports no. 62, U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, February 14, 2013, p. 4.
- 103. Susannah Snider, "The Cost of Birth Control," U.S. News & World Report, May 2, 2019.
- 104. Kate Grindlay and Daniel Grossman, "Prescription Birth Control Access among U.S. Women at Risk of

Unintended Pregnancy," *Journal of Women's Health* 25, no. 3 (March 2016): 249–54.

- 105. Holly Mead, "Making Birth Control More Accessible to Women: A Cost-Benefit Analysis of Over-the-Counter Oral Contraceptives," Institute for Women's Policy Research (IWPR) Publication no. B236, February 5, 2001. IWPR submitted this cost-benefit analysis and its recommendation to the U.S. Food and Drug Administration in June 2000.
- 106. "Committee Opinion No. 544: Over-the-Counter Access to Oral Contraceptives," Obstetrics & Gynecology 120, no. 6 (December 2012): 1527–31; the American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists (ACOG) reaffirmed its opinion in 2016 and 2018. "Committee Opinion No. 615: Access to Contraception," Obstetrics & Gynecology 125, no. 1 (January 2015): 250–55; ACOG reaffirmed its opinion in 2017; and "ACOG Committee Opinion No. 788: Over-the-Counter Access to Hormonal Contraception," Obstetrics & Gynecology 134, no. 4 (October 2019): e96–e105.
- 107. "ACOG Committee Opinion No. 788," pp. e96-e105.
- 108. "Over-the-Counter Oral Contraceptives," American Academy of Family Physicians, 2014.
- 109. Sally Rafie et al., "Provider Opinions Regarding Expanding Access to Hormonal Contraception in Pharmacies," *Women's Health Issues* 26, no. 2 (March-April 2016): 153–60, https://daneshyari.com/article/ preview/1092858.pdf.
- 110. Kate Grindlay, Bridgit Burns, and Daniel Grossman, "Prescription Requirements and Over-the-Counter Access to Oral Contraceptives: A Global Review," *Contraception* 88, no. 1 (July 1, 2013): 91–96; and see also Jeffrey A. Singer, "Free Birth Control from the Third-Party Trap," *Morning Consult*, September 1, 2017.
- 111. "Global Oral Contraception Availability," Oral Contraceptives Over-the-Counter Working Group.
- 112. See "Aspirin: Questions and Answers," U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA), updated December 18, 2015; "FDA Drug Safety Communication: FDA Warns of Rare but Serious Skin Reactions with

the Pain Reliever/Fever Reducer Acetaminophen," FDA, updated February 26, 2016; "Don't Double Up on Acetaminophen," FDA, updated September 10, 2018; and "Careful: Acetaminophen in Pain Relief Medicines Can Cause Liver Damage," FDA, updated August 28, 2013.

- 113. "Overall, clients reported more risk factors than clinicians, which increases the safety of the questionnaire." Jagruti S. Doshi et al., "Feasibility of a Self-Completed History Questionnaire in Women Requesting Repeat Combined Hormonal Contraception," *Journal of Family Planning and Reproductive Health Care* 34, no. 1 (January 2008): 51–54; see also Solmaz Shotorbani et al., "Agreement between Women's and Providers' Assessment of Hormonal Contraceptive Risk Factors," *Contraception* 73, no. 5 (May 2006): 501–6; and Daniel Grossman et al., "Accuracy of Self-Screening for Contraindications to Combined Oral Contraceptive Use," *Obstetrics and Gynecology* 112, no. 3 (September 2008): 572–78.
- 114. Joseph E. Potter et al., "Continuation of Prescribed Compared with Over-the-Counter Oral Contraceptives," *Obstetrics and Gynecology* 117, no. 3 (March 2011): 551–57.
- 115. Allowing Greater Access to Safe and Effective Contraception Act, S. 930, 116th Cong. (2019–2020).
- 116. See Elizabeth Nolan Brown, "Over-the-Counter Contraception Is Immensely Popular. But Democrats Have Doomed It," Reason, January 16, 2019 ("In 2014, Planned Parenthood's political arm bought ads in multiple states. 'In its first TV ad buy of the 2014 cycle,' noted HuffPost, 'Planned Parenthood's political arm is warning voters in North Carolina and Colorado that Republican Senate candidates' support for overthe-counter birth control is not what it seems.'... This was a dark moment in Democratic politics: even as they ramped up efforts to portray Republicans as the harbingers of a Handmaid's Tale scenario and to portray themselves as hip to the needs of marginalized groups, Democrats sacrificed an opportunity to help women struggling to obtain birth control prevent unintended pregnancies. Instead, at the expense of undocumented immigrants, low-income women, victims of domestic violence, and others, they opted to help middle-class women save \$10 a month-and

prop up insurance providers, pharmaceutical companies, and the Democratic fundraising machine in the process."); and Hadley Heath Manning, "Why Does Planned Parenthood Oppose Over-the-Counter Birth Control? Because They'd Make Less Money," Forbes, September 29, 2014 ("Planned Parenthood's stance on expanding access to birth control may be illogical in light of their mission statement, but it is perfectly logical when you consider the group's financial interests. Planned Parenthood rakes in \$1.2 billion annually; more than a third of their services involve providing contraception to women (and billing third parties for those costs). As a major provider of birth control and the nation's number one abortion provider, why would Planned Parenthood support other options for women? The group is simply serving its own self-interest, trying to hang on to the status quo that leads to big business and big dollars for them. Who's working against women now?").

- 117. Affordability Is Access Act, S. 1847, 116th Cong.
 (2019–2020). See also Anna North, "The Strange Politics of Over-the-Counter Birth Control, Explained," *Vox*, June 13, 2019; "Sen. Murray, Reps. Ayanna Pressley (D-MA) and Alexandria Ocasio-Cortez (D-NY), and others introduced the Affordability Is Access Act. The bill won't make birth control over-the-counter—only the Food and Drug Administration can do that." Note: Congress could also reclassify oral contraceptives as over-the-counter drugs.
- 118. "World Health Organization Model List of Essential Medicines," 21st ed., World Health Organization, 2019.
- 119. Chemical Hazards Emergency Medical Management Naloxone—Medical Countermeasures Database, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, updated April 17, 2020.
- 120. William Yardley, "Jack Fishman Dies at 83; Saved Many from Overdose," *New York Times*, December 14, 2013.
- 121. "Understanding the Epidemic," U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, last reviewed March 19, 2020.
- 122. Alexander Y. Walley et al., "Opioid Overdose Rates

and Implementation of Overdose Education and Nasal Naloxone Distribution in Massachusetts: Interrupted Time Series Analysis," *British Medical Journal* 346 (January 31, 2013): 1–13.

- 123. Eliza Wheeler et al., "Opioid Overdose Prevention Programs Providing Naloxone to Laypersons—United States, 2014," Centers for Disease Control and Prevention Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report 64, no. 23, June 19, 2015, pp. 631–35.
- 124. Office of the Surgeon General, "U.S. Surgeon General's Advisory on Naloxone and Opioid Overdose," U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, April 5, 2018.
- 125. Susanna Ronconi, "Learning from Italy's Lead on Naloxone," Open Society Foundations, March 30, 2017.
- 126. Human Rights Watch, "A Second Chance: Overdose Prevention, Naloxone, and Human Rights in the United States," April 27, 2017.
- 127. Human Rights Watch, "Life-Saving Drug to Reverse Overdoses Should Come Over the Counter," August 31, 2017.
- 128. Jeffrey A. Singer, "The FDA Bends Over Backwards to Get Drug Makers to Ask Them to Make Naloxone OTC," *Cato at Liberty* (blog), Cato Institute, January 18, 2019; and Jeffrey A. Singer, "Why Doesn't the Surgeon General Seek FDA Reclassification of Naloxone to OTC?," *Cato at Liberty* (blog), Cato Institute, April 5, 2018.
- 129. "Citizen Petition," August 13, 2018, https:// www.regulations.gov/document?D=FDA-2018-P-3355-0003; Oregon Pain Guidance, "Over 70 Health Care Experts Call on FDA to Make Naloxone Nasal Spray 'Over the Counter," press release, September 10, 2018; and "FDA-2018-P-3355," Regulations.gov, https://www.regulations.gov/ searchResults?rpp=25&po=0&s=FDA-2018-P-3355&fp=true&ns=true.
- 130. "Drug Facts, LABEL N-Nasal," U.S. Food and Drug Administration, June 22, 2017; "Statement from FDA Commissioner Scott Gottlieb, M.D., on

Unprecedented New Efforts to Support Development of Over-the-Counter Naloxone to Help Reduce Opioid Overdose Deaths," U.S. Food and Drug Administration, January 17, 2019; and Carol J. Bennett, "Re: Docket No. FDA 2018-P-3355," letter to Mark Kantor, March 1, 2019, https://www.regulations.gov/ document?D=FDA-2018-P-3355-0017.

- 131. "Drug Overdose Deaths," U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, last reviewed March 19, 2020.
- 132. Emily Webber, "Contraceptive Pills Are Listed on eBay by Unregulated Sellers as Women Struggle to Access Family Planning Services in Lockdown but Experts Warn Drugs Could Be Fake and Potentially 'Toxic,'" *Daily Mail*, May 4, 2020.
- 133. American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists, "Access to Contraception: COVID-19 State Advocacy Brief," *State Government Affairs* (May 2020), https://www.acog.org/-/media/project/acog/ acogorg/files/advocacy/state-advocacy-briefs/acogcovid-stateadvocacybrief-contraception.pdf.
- 134. "[Five] states have laws setting time limits for all prescriptions or all controlled substances." Office for State, Tribal, Local and Territorial Support, "Public Health Law: Prescription Drug Time and Dosage Limit Laws," U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, March 5, 2015, https://www.cdc.gov/ phlp/docs/menu_prescriptionlimits.pdf.
- 135. The police chief in Lawrence, Indiana, noted emergency medical responders would still administer naloxone and "will be fully equipped with face shields, gowns, respirators." Sessi Kuwabara Blanchard, "An Indiana Police Dept. No Longer Reversing Overdoses during Pandemic," *Filter*, April 9, 2020.
- 136. See "COVID-19 State Emergency Response: Temporarily Suspended and Waived Practice Agreement Requirements," American Association of Nurse Practitioners, updated June 30, 2020; and "State Response to COVID-19 (APRNs)," National Conference of State Boards of Nursing, updated June 17, 2020.
- 137. American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists, "COVID-19 State Advocacy Brief."

- 138. Joe Hernandez, "Naloxone by Mail? What N.J. Addiction Help Looks Like during COVID-19," WHYY, April 24, 2020.
- 139. Laura Monteverdi, "Number of Narcan 'Saves' Triple during COVID-19 Pandemic; Experts Say There Has Been a Sharp Spike of Overdoses in the State since This Pandemic Began," THV11, April 22, 2020. (Arkansas State Drug Director Kirk Lane: "We would see about 5 to 10 [naloxone reversals of accidental opioid overdoses] per month, but we are seeing an excess of 20 to 25 now.... We are seeing suicidal situations where we usually have about one per month we are seeing 6.")
- 140. Elayne J. Heisler et al., "Selected Health Provisions in Title III of the CARES Act (P.L. 116-136)," Congressional Research Service Report R46334, April 29, 2020, pp. 55–59.
- 141. Drugs.com does not provide pricing information for a single, 60-count package of 400-milligram (mg) ibuprofen tablets. The cash price it listed in June 2020 for two 30-count packages was \$13.83, which implied a 188 percent higher dosage-equivalent price (\$27.66 versus \$9.62). "Ibuprofen Prices, Coupons and Patient Assistance Programs," Drugs.com. Differences in manufacturing and packaging would presumably tend to narrow the dosage-equivalent price differentials. All else equal, a 120-count package of 200 mg ibuprofen tablets would require greater quantities of both inactive ingredients and packaging materials per milligram of ibuprofen than either a 40-count package of 600 mg tablets or a 30-count package of 800 mg tablets.
- 142. "Naproxen Prices, Coupons and Patient Assistance Programs," Drugs.com; and authors' calculations.
- 143. Price information is from 2000. Connolly, "Panel: Reclassify Allergy Pills"; and Cauchon, "Why Allergy Drugs Cost So Much."
- 144. Sandra Levy, "Health Plans Pleased with Allergy Drug's OTC Switch," *Drug Topics*, December 16, 2002 ("When queried about whether coverage of the OTC allergy drugs was in the offing from WellPoint, Seidman said that since the OTC versions will cost consumers about \$11 to \$15 a month and WellPoint's

average brand-name co-pay is \$17, 'it doesn't seem to make sense for us . . . because it will cost less than they're probably paying in co-pays today."").

- 145. "Claritin Prices, Coupons and Patient Assistance Programs," Drugs.com.
- 146. Total spending on proton-pump inhibitors by the state employees' health plan fell by 39 percent even as volume increased by 17 percent. Brittany N. Harris et al., "Effects on the Cost and Utilization of Proton Pump Inhibitors from Adding Over-the Counter Omeprazole to Drug Benefit Coverage in a State Employee Health Plan," *Journal of Managed Care & Specialty Pharmacy* 10, no. 5 (September– October 2004): 452.
- 147. J. Cohen et al., "Assessing the Economic Impact of Rx-to-OTC Switches: Systematic Review and Guidelines for Future Development," *Journal of Medical Economics* 16, no. 6 (April 18, 2013): 835–44. "Although reviewed studies lacked quality, this review of economic evidence of Rx-to-OTC switches suggests that switches may produce cost savings to public and private payers."
- 148. Sam Peltzman, "Prescription for Lower Drug Prices: More OTC Transitions," *Regulation* 41, no. 1 (Spring 2018): 2.
- 149. Government-imposed prescription requirements are in effect a tax that increases the cost of obtaining a drug regardless of its price. They therefore reduce the quantity of a drug that consumers will be willing to purchase at any given price (i.e., demand) and the price consumers are willing to pay for any given quantity.
- 150. Of the 45 states with sales taxes, 35 tax sales of overthe-counter (OTC) drugs but not prescription drugs. Federation of Tax Administrators, "State Sales Tax Rates and Food & Drug Exemptions," January 2020, https://www.taxadmin.org/assets/docs/Research/ Rates/sales.pdf. The federal Internal Revenue Code exempts from income taxes income that a taxpayer spends on drugs in excess of 7.5 percent of adjusted gross income. (The threshold for that deduction rises to 10 percent in 2020.) Except for insulin, nonprescription drugs do not qualify for this deduction. See

Intuit Inc., "Deducting Medical Expenses for a Major Illness or Injury," updated for tax year 2019. Congress previously allowed tax-free purchases of prescription drugs but not OTC drugs through Archer medical savings accounts, health reimbursement arrangements, health savings accounts, and health flexible spending accounts. Beginning in 2020, however, Congress removed that tax differential by allowing tax-free purchases of OTC drugs through such vehicles. See Heisler et al., "Selected Health Provisions in Title III of the CARES Act," pp. 39–40.

- 151. Gardiner Harris, "Court Rules against Schering on Claritin Patent Protection," Wall Street Journal, August 9, 2002; and Daniel I. Gorlin, "Staving Off Death: A Case Study of the Pharmaceutical Industry's Strategies to Protect Blockbuster Franchises," Food and Drug Law Journal 63, no. 4 (February 2008): 823–64.
- 152. Brian Palmer, "The \$8,000 Pill: Why Are Some Pharmaceuticals So Expensive?," *Slate*, August 16, 2010.
- 153. Gorlin, "Staving Off Death," p. 840.
- 154. Drug coverage is excessive if it exceeds the amount of coverage that consumers would buy if they controlled the money that purchases their coverage.
- 155. "Save Money on Meds: 6 Tips for Finding the Best Prescription Drug Prices," *Consumer Reports*, December 1, 2015.
- 156. Patrick Liu et al., "Medicare Beneficiary Out-of-Pocket Costs for Generic Cardiovascular Medications Available through \$4 Generic Drug Discount Programs," *Annals of Internal Medicine* 169, no. 11 (December 4, 2018): 817–19.
- 157. "Save Money on Meds."
- 158. "Birth Control Benefits," HealthCare.gov; and U.S. Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services, "Medicare Advantage and Part D Drug Pricing Final Rule (CMS-4180-F)," fact sheet, May 16, 2019. Congress also prohibits certain insurers from covering fewer prescription drugs within a class than a benchmark plan. See National Alliance of State & Territorial AIDS Directors, "Health Reform Issue Brief Essential

Health Benefits (EHB)," updated July 2013, p. 2, https://www.nastad.org/sites/default/files/resources/docs/HCA-Brief-ACA-EHB-May-2013.pdf.

- 159. Guttmacher Institute, "Gains in Insurance Coverage for Reproductive-Age Women at a Crossroads," December 4, 2018.
- 160. Brittni Frederiksen, Matthew Raeb, and Alina Salganicoff, "Out-of-pocket spending for oral contraceptives among women with private insurance coverage after the Affordable Care Act," *Contraception: X* 2 (July 31, 2020), https://doi.org/10.1016/j. conx.2020.100036.
- 161. Laurie Sobel, Adara Beamesderfer, and Alina Salganicoff, "Private Insurance Coverage of Contraception," Kaiser Family Foundation issue brief, December 2016.
- 162. "Producer Price Index by Commodity for Chemicals and Allied Products: Hormones and Oral Contraceptives," FRED Economic Data, Federal Reserve Bank of St. Louis, updated June 11, 2020; and authors' calculations. Producer price indexes (PPIs) were adjusted for inflation using "Producer Price Index by Commodity for Final Demand: Personal Consumption Goods (Finished Consumer Goods)," FRED Economic Data, Federal Reserve Bank of St. Louis, updated June 11, 2020. The PPI for hormones and oral contraceptives has limitations as a measure of prices for hormonal contraception in general and oral contraceptives in particular. First, it samples and estimates changes in the initial prices that drug manufacturers receive, not the ultimate price that consumers pay. Second, it samples and estimates changes in prices only for domestically produced drugs, excluding drugs produced in other countries and Puerto Rico. Third, it encompasses drugs other than hormonal contraceptives that may have an important influence on the index, and the Bureau of Labor Statistics (BLS) discloses neither which drugs it samples nor the relative contributions of hormonal contraceptives versus other hormonal drugs. The PPI for hormones and oral contraceptives is therefore an imperfect measure because it does not necessarily reflect the changes in consumer prices for all hormonal contraceptives available to consumers and may instead reflect changes in (nonconsumer) prices for noncontraceptive hormonal drugs. While

the BLS's Consumer Price Index (CPI) for prescription drugs lacks some of these shortcomings, the BLS does not publish CPIs for prescription drugs at the level of therapeutic class. On the differences between the PPI and CPI for prescription drugs, see generally Barry P. Bosworth et al., "An Evaluation of the CPI Indexes for Prescription Drugs," Brookings Institution, January 22, 2018.

- 163. Joshua P. Cohen, Cherie Paquette, and Catherine P. Cairns, "Switching Prescription Drugs to Over the Counter," *British Medical Journal* 330, no. 7481 (January 1, 2005): 39–41.
- 164. Such options include reducing sales and income taxes; tax and entitlement reforms that eliminate incentives for excessive coverage; patent reform; and eliminating mandated coverage of prescription drugs. See also Jeffrey Singer, "Here's How Trump Should Address the High Cost of Prescription Drugs," *The Federalist*, April 6, 2018; and Charles M. Silver and David A. Hyman, "Why Does Wall Street Love Trump's Ineffective Drug-Price Plan?," *STAT*, May 14, 2018.
- 165. Cohen, Paquette, and Cairns, "Switching Prescription Drugs to Over the Counter," pp. 39–41.
- 166. Noah, "Treat Yourself: Is Self-Medication the Prescription," p. 360.
- 167. Quoted in Cauchon, "Why Allergy Drugs Cost So Much."
- 168. Quoted in Cauchon, "Why Allergy Drugs Cost So Much"; see also Noah, "Treat Yourself: Is Self-Medication the Prescription," p. 360; and Shankar Vedantam, "Drug Claritin Will Be Sold Over the Counter," Washington Post, November 28, 2002.
- 169. Holly M. Spencer, "The Rx-to-OTC Switch of Claritin, Allegra, and Zyrtec: An Unprecedented FDA Response to Petitioners and the Protection of Public Health," *American University Law Review* 51, no. 5 (June 2002): 1010.
- 170. Vedantam, "Drug Claritin Will Be Sold Over the Counter."
- 171. "Saving Lives from Opioid Overdoses: Naloxone

Policy Discussion and Training," Cato Institute Capitol Hill Briefing, October 2, 2019.

- 172. Gorlin, "Staving Off Death," p. 843.
- 173. Flanigan, Pharmaceutical Freedom, p. 2.
- 174. Gauld et al., "Widening Consumer Access to Medicines," p. E107726.
- 175. U.S. Government Accountability Office, "Nonprescription Drugs: Considerations Regarding a Behindthe-Counter Drug Class," February 2009.
- 176. Grindlay, Burns, and Grossman, "Prescription Requirements and Over-the-Counter Access," pp. 91–96.
- 177. Peltzman, "By Prescription Only"; Sushmi Dey,
 "Soon, Centre to Add 100 More Drugs to Over-the-Counter," *Times of India*, September 22, 2017; Natasha Fernandes, "Illegal Sale of Antibiotics Still Common in Hong Kong," Journalism and Media Studies Centre, University of Hong Kong, March 20, 2017; C. P. Vacca, C. Y. Niño, and L. Reveiz, "Restriction of Antibiotic Sales in Pharmacies in Bogotá, Colombia: A Descriptive Study," *Pan American Journal of Public Health* 30, no. 6 (November 30, 2011): 586–91; and "Farmacias," Peru Explorer.
- 178. Mikel Andoni Arriola-Peñalosa, "The Role of Health Regulations in the Rational Use of Medicines," *Gaceta Médica de México* 151 (2015): 640–47.
- 179. Gauld et al., "Widening Consumer Access to Medicines," p. E107726.
- 180. Gauld et al., "Widening Consumer Access to Medicines," p. E107726.
- 181. "Medicines and Treatment," National Asthma Council Australia, last reviewed March 2019.
- 182. "Salbutamol Inhaler," U.K. National Health Service, last reviewed October 23, 2018; and Timothy Aungst, "Albuterol vs. Levalbuterol Inhalers: What's the Difference?," Goodrx.com, February 11, 2020.
- 183. Flanigan, Pharmaceutical Freedom, pp. 68-69.

- 184. Peltzman, "Health Effects of Mandatory Prescriptions," pp. 207–38.
- 185. Emphasis in original. Peltzman, "By Prescription Only."
- 186. Peltzman, "By Prescription Only."
- 187. Peltzman, "Health Effects of Mandatory Prescriptions," p. 235.
- 188. Peltzman, "By Prescription Only." Critics have lodged objections to Peltzman's study. See, for example, H. E. Frech III and Richard D. Miller Jr., The Productivity of Health Care and Pharmaceuticals: An International Comparison (Washington: The AEI Press, 1999), which says: "Peltzman (1987) considered the effects of pharmaceutical regulations on national health indicators and found that mandatory prescription laws are positively related to mortality from poisonings. This relationship may reflect the perverse effects of the regulations, or it may reflect only reverse causation. The poisonings may have been the reason why such regulations were enacted in the first place." The reduction in poisonings in the United States prior to the imposition of mandatory prescription requirements complicates the reverse-causation narrative.
- 189. Peltzman, "By Prescription Only."
- 190. Peltzman, "Health Effects of Mandatory Prescriptions," p. 235. Flanigan concurs. Flanigan, *Pharmaceutical Freedom*, 58.
- 191. Harry M. Marks, *The Progress of Experiment: Science* and Therapeutic Reform in the United States, 1900–1990 (Cambridge, England: Cambridge University Press, 2000), p. 82, citing Herbert O. Calvery and Theodore G. Klumpp, "The Toxicity for Human Beings of Diethylene Glycol with Sulfanilamide," Southern Medical Journal 32 (November 1939), 1106–7.
- 192. Bara Fintel et al., "The Thalidomide Tragedy: Lessons for Drug Safety and Regulation," *Helix*, Northwestern University, July 28, 2009; and White Junod, "FDA and Clinical Drug Trials," p. 10.
- 193. See Ballentine, "Sulfanilamide Disaster," p. 3 ("In

many cases, locating the purchasers of the elixir required some real detective work. In some drugstores, the elixir had been sold without prescriptions to purchasers whose names the druggist didn't know. In other cases, doctors had incomplete records-or none at all-of the names and addresses of patients for whom they had prescribed. In East St. Louis, Ill., for instance, 49 prescriptions were filled and the only identification on some were such notations as 'Betty Jane, 9 months old,' or 'Mrs. Jackson (no address).""); Bren, "Frances Oldham Kelsey"; and "Thalidomide," Public Health Reports, p. 946. "In a survey by the FDA, 259 of 1,258 physicians interviewed (11 were deceased and 1 in a mental hospital) had taken inadequate steps to contact patients who were given the drug. Many of the 259 physicians felt that such action was unnecessary because of the length of time that had passed since the patient was given the drug; others had no records indicating which of their patients had received the drug."

- 194. Temin, "Regulation and the Choice of Prescription Drugs," pp. 301–5.
- 195. Marks, "Revisiting 'The Origins of Compulsory Drug Prescriptions," p. 110.
- 196. Temin, "Regulation and the Choice of Prescription Drugs," pp. 301–5.
- 197. Emphasis added. Donohue, "History of Drug Advertising," pp. 659–99.
- 198. On how advertising by one producer can educate consumers about the risks of its own and its competitors' products, and thereby reduce total consumption of risky products, see John E. Calfee, "The Ghost of Cigarette Advertising Past," *Regulation* 10, no. 2 (November/December 1986): 35–45.
- 199. Emphasis added. Gauld et al., "Widening Consumer Access to Medicines," p. E107726.
- 200. See Jonathan Anomaly, "How Should Antibiotics Be Regulated?," *Regulation* 42, no. 3 (2019): 18–21.
- 201. Flanigan, Pharmaceutical Freedom, 205.
- 202. Committee on Strengthening Core Elements of
Food and Drug Regulatory Systems in Developing Countries, Board on Global Health, and the Board on Health Sciences Policy, "Appendix B: A Review of Tort Liability's Role in Food and Medical Product Regulation," in *Ensuring Safe Foods and Medical Product through Stronger Regulatory Systems Abroad*, eds. Jim E. Riviere and Gillian J. Buckley (Washington: National Academies Press, 2012).

- 203. Peter Temin, "Realized Benefits from Switching Drugs," *Journal of Law and Economics* 35, no. 2 (October 1992): 351–69.
- 204. Temin, "Regulation and the Choice of Prescription Drugs," pp. 301–5.
- 205. Peltzman, "By Prescription Only."
- 206. Jongwha Chang et al., "Prescription to Over-the-Counter Switches in the United States," *Journal of Research in Pharmacy Practice* 5, no. 3 (2016): 149–54.
- 207. For examples of the types of patients that selfmedication rights might help, see Cara Buckley, "For Uninsured Young Adults, Do-It-Yourself Health Care," *New York Times*, February 17, 2009.
- 208. "Oral Contraceptive Pills," Kaiser Family Foundation, May 23, 2019.
- 209. "Report: Supply of Pharmacists Outnumbers Jobs," *Drug Topics*, March 8, 2016.
- 210. Jeffrey A. Singer, "Could This Machine Replace Your Local CVS Pharmacy?," *National Interest*, February 11, 2020.
- 211. Peltzman, "Prescription for Lower Drug Prices: More OTC Transitions," p. 2.
- 212. Engelberg Center for Health Care Reform, "Exploring Implications of the Nonprescription Drug Safe Use Regulatory Expansion (NSURE) Initiative on Reimbursement and Access," Brookings Institution, November 4, 2013.
- 213. Fredrik Andersson and Evridiki Hatziandreu, "The Costs and Benefits of Switching a Drug from Prescription-Only to Over-the-Counter Status,"

PharmacoEconomics 2, no. 5 (November 1992): 388-96.

- 214. Temin, "Realized Benefits from Switching Drugs," pp. 351–69; figures are in 2019 dollars.
- 215. Aurelie Millier, Joshua Cohen, and Mondher Toumi, "Economic Impact of a Triptan Rx-to-OTC Switch in Six EU Countries," PLoS ONE 8, no. 12 (December 19, 2013): e84088 ("In 2006, sumatriptan 50mg and naratriptan 2.5mg were approved as OTC drugs in the UK and Germany, respectively, following studies which demonstrated their safe and effective use in large numbers of migraine patients. However, the economic impact of the switch of these two triptans in either market has not been studied to date." Caveat: "This article was funded by Sanofi. The funders were involved in study design, data collection and analysis, decision to publish, or preparation of the manuscript.") Figures converted from 2010 euro to 2019 U.S. dollars using "Euro to United States Dollar (EUR to USD)," Markets Insider and "CPI Inflation Calculator," U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics.
- 216. Levy, "Health Plans Pleased with Allergy Drug's OTC Switch"; Liu et al., "Medicare Beneficiary Out-of-Pocket Costs"; and "Save Money on Meds."
- 217. See Anna Gorman, "'America's Other Drug Problem': Copious Prescriptions for Hospitalized Elderly," *Kaiser Health News*, August 30, 2016; and Sandra G. Boodman, "An Overlooked Epidemic: Older Americans Taking Too Many Unneeded Drugs," *Kaiser Health News*, December 12, 2017.
- 218. Engelberg Center for Health Care Reform, "Nonprescription Drug Safe Use Regulatory Expansion (NSURE) Initiative."
- 219. Engelberg Center for Health Care Reform, "Nonprescription Drug Safe Use Regulatory Expansion (NSURE) Initiative."
- 220. Peltzman, "By Prescription Only."
- 221. Peter Temin, "Costs and Benefits in Switching Drugs from Rx to OTC," *Journal of Health Economics* 2, no. 3 (December 1983): 187–205.
- 222. Millier, Cohen, and Toumi, "Economic Impact of a

Triptan Rx-to-OTC Switch."

- 223. Temin, "Realized Benefits from Switching Drugs," pp. 351–69; figures are in 2019 dollars.
- 224. Chang et al., "Prescription to Over-the-Counter Switches in the United States," pp. 149–54.
- 225. Millier, Cohen, and Toumi, "Economic Impact of a Triptan Rx-to-OTC Switch."
- 226. But see G. Roberto et al., "Adverse Cardiovascular Events Associated with Triptans and Ergotamines for Treatment of Migraine: Systematic Review of Observational Studies," *Cephalalgia* 35, no. 2 (February 2015): 118–31.
- 227. Compare GlaxoSmithKline LLC, "IMITREX— Sumatriptan Spray," Food and Drug Administration, revised December 2017, https://www. accessdata.fda.gov/spl/data/1de8bb46-dd6e-4086-832e-163e379b6749/1de8bb46-dd6e-4086-832e-163e379b6749.xml, to Millier, Cohen, and Toumi, "Economic Impact of a Triptan Rx-to-OTC Switch." The United Kingdom allows consumers to purchase at least one sumatriptan 50 milligram (mg) pill on a "pharmacy" basis; see "Boots Migraine Relief 50 mg Tablets," eMC, last updated December 15, 2015, https://www.medicines.org.uk/emc/product/8337/pil. The U.S. Government Accountability Office (GAO) describes "pharmacy" access as meaning "available only in pharmacies; contact with pharmacist not required"; see "Nonprescription Drugs: Considerations Regarding a Behind-the-Counter Drug Class," GAO, February 20, 2009. But the UK simultaneously requires prescriptions for many other sumatriptan 50 mg products.
- 228. Millier, Cohen, and Toumi, "Economic Impact of a Triptan Rx-to-OTC Switch." "The model did not include health outcomes."
- 229. For a discussion of the FDA's incentives to favor delay over access to drugs, see Michael F. Cannon, "Health Care Regulation," in *Cato Handbook for Policymakers*, 8th ed. (Washington: Cato Institute, 2017), pp. 356–61.

230. White Junod, "FDA and Clinical Drug Trials."

- 231. White Junod, "FDA and Clinical Drug Trials."
- 232. "Save Money on Meds"; and "Best Buy Drugs A-Z," *Consumer Reports.*
- 233. David C. Radley et al., "Off-Label Prescribing among Office-Based Physicians," *Archives of Internal Medicine* 166, no. 9 (May 8, 2006): 1021–26.
- 234. Mayo Clinic Staff, "Thalidomide: Research Advances in Cancer and Other Conditions," Mayo Clinic, May 25, 2019.
- 235. Food and Drug Administration, "Aspirin for Reducing Your Risk of Heart Attack and Stroke: Know the Facts," updated December 16, 2019; and see also, M. Leggio et al., "Low-Dose Aspirin for Primary Prevention of Cardiovascular Events in Patients with Diabetes: Benefit or Risk?," *Diabetes & Metabolism* 44, no. 3 (June 2018): 217–25.
- 236. Fintel et al., "The Thalidomide Tragedy."
- 237. Marks, Science and Therapeutic Reform in the United States, p. 82, citing Calvery and Klumpp, "Toxicity for Human Beings of Diethylene Glycol with Sulfanilamide," pp. 1106–7.
- 238. Radley et al., "Off-Label Prescribing among Office-Based Physicians," pp. 1021–26.
- 239. Tewodros Eguale et al., "Association of Off-Label Drug Use and Adverse Drug Events in an Adult Population," *JAMA Internal Medicine* 176, no. 1 (January 2016): E1–E9.
- 240. In 2017, Medicaid and the Children's Health Insurance Program (CHIP) covered roughly 75 million U.S. residents while Medicare covered 46 million non-dual-eligible enrollees, bringing combined enrollment in these programs to 121 million, or 37 percent of an estimated total 325 million U.S. residents. For Medicaid and CHIP enrollment, see "Medicaid and CHIP: May and June 2017 Monthly Enrollment Updated August 2017," Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services, Table 1A; for Medicare enrollment, see "Medicare Beneficiaries at a Glance," Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services, last modified September 26, 2019; for dual eligible

enrollment, see Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services, "People Dually Eligible for Medicare and Medicaid," fact sheet, March 2020, p. 1; and for U.S. population, see Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services, "National Health Expenditures by Type of Service and Source of Funds, CY 1960–2018," November 26, 2019, Table 1, https://www.cms.gov/ files/zip/national-health-expenditures-type-serviceand-source-funds-cy-1960-2018.zip.

- 241. Federal law directs Medicare to rely on "the American Hospital Formulary Service-Drug Information, the American Medical Association Drug Evaluations, the United States Pharmacopoeia-Drug Information (or its successor publications), and other authoritative compendia as identified by the Secretary" for off-label indications of anticancer drugs. Each named compendium has since gone out of print. The secretary has designated the following additional compendia as authoritative sources of efficacy certification of anticancer drugs: Micromedex DrugDex (successor to the USP-DI), the Clinical Pharmacology compendium, the Wolters Kluwer Lexi-Drugs compendium, and the National Comprehensive Cancer Network Drugs and Biologics Compendium. The secretary has designated the following medical journals as authoritative sources of efficacy certification for off-label indications of anticancer drugs: American Journal of Medicine; Annals of Internal Medicine; Annals of Oncology; Annals of Surgical Oncology; Biology of Blood and Marrow Transplantation; Blood; Bone Marrow Transplantation; British Journal of Cancer; British Journal of Haematology; British Medical Journal; Cancer; Clinical Cancer Research; Clinical Cancer Drugs; European Journal of Cancer; Gynecologic Oncology; International Journal of Radiation Oncology, Biology, Physics; Journal of the American Medical Association; Journal of Clinical Oncology; Journal of the National Cancer Institute; Journal of the National Comprehensive Cancer Network; Journal of Urology; Lancet; Lancet Oncology; Leukemia; New England Journal of Medicine; and Radiation Oncology. See Public Health and Welfare, 42 U.S.C. § 1395x(t)(2)(B)(ii)(I), "Recent Developments in Medicare Coverage of Off-Label Cancer Therapies," Journal of Oncology Practice 5, no. 1 (January 2009): 18-20; and "Wolters Kluwer Clinical Drug Information Lexi-Drugs Compendium Revision Request-CAG-00443O," Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services, August 12, 2015.
- 242. Federal law requires state Medicaid programs to cover off-label uses of drugs found in "American Hospital Formulary Service Drug Information; United States Pharmacopeia-Drug Information (or its successor publications); [the] DRUGDEX Information System; and the peer-reviewed medical literature." Public Health and Welfare, 42 U.S.C. § 1396r–8(d)(1) (B)(i), (g)(1)(B)(i), and (k)(6).
- 243. American Society of Clinical Oncology, "Reimbursement for Cancer Treatment: Coverage of Off-Label Drug Indications," *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 24, no. 19 (July 1, 2006): 3206–8.
- 244. Peter B. Bach, "Limits on Medicare's Ability to Control Rising Spending on Cancer Drugs," *New England Journal of Medicine* 360, no. 6 (February 5, 2009): 631.
- 245. White Junod, "FDA and Clinical Drug Trials," pp. 1–21.
- 246. Howard J. Beales, "New Uses for Old Drugs," in *Competitive Strategies in the Pharmaceutical Industry*, ed. Robert B. Helms (Washington: American Enterprise Institute, 1996), pp. 281–305.
- 247. Amy P. Abernethy et al., "Systematic Review: Reliability of Compendia Methods for Off-Label Oncology Indications," *Annals of Internal Medicine* 150, no. 5 (March 3, 2009): 336–43.
- 248. White Junod, "FDA and Clinical Drug Trials," pp. 1–21.
- 249. White Junod, "FDA and Clinical Drug Trials."
- 250. Note that the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) did not approve some drugs because the manufacturers never submitted or withdrew new drug applications and that some of these drugs carried risks so significant that regulators withdrew approval: "Importantly, only 4 of these 10 novel drugs without therapeutic alternatives had their initial applications rejected by the FDA; the other 6 were either approved on their first submission to the FDA (n=3), voluntarily withdrawn by the sponsor before FDA evaluation (n=2), or never submitted for FDA approval (n=1). Of the 37 'novel' drugs first approved outside the USA, the FDA rejected 19 (51%)

on their first submission, 12 for safety reasons. Only 4 of these 19 rejected drugs were for indications lacking approved therapies in the USA, and 3 of those 4 were in orphan diseases. Notably, of the 12 drugs initially rejected for safety reasons, 9 were eventually approved by the FDA, whereas 2-laropiprant/nicotinic acid (Pelzont) and rimonabant (Accomplia)-were subsequently withdrawn from the market in Europe due to safety concerns." Matthieu Larochelle et al., "Assessing the Potential Clinical Impact of Reciprocal Drug Approval Legislation on Access to Novel Therapeutics in the USA: a Cohort Study," British Medical Journal Open 7, no. e014582 (2017): 2-3, https://bmjopen.bmj.com/ content/bmjopen/7/2/e014582.full.pdf. Even so, if a drug is available in another country, the FDA's premarket approval requirement denies consumers, many of whom will have a greater tolerance for risk than the FDA, the freedom to make their own medical decisions.

- 251. Peltzman, "Prescription for Lower Drug Prices: More OTC Transitions," p. 2.
- 252. According to Food and Drug Administration (FDA) regulations, "any interested person" may order a reclassification review. The FDA commissioner may also unilaterally order such a review. Food and Drugs, 21 C.F.R. 310 § 200 (April 1, 2019).

253.21 U.S.C. § 353(B)(1)(b).

- 254. Jeffrey A. Singer, "Governors' Standing Orders Can Lower Healthcare Costs," *Inside Sources*, February 12, 2020.
- 255. Jeffrey A. Singer, "To Save Lives, Make Naloxone an Over-the-Counter Drug," *Reason*, April 27, 2018; and see also Anna Gorman, "Pharmacists Slow to Dispense Lifesaving Overdose Drug," *Washington Post*, January 3, 2018.
- 256. "Oral Contraceptive Pills."
- 257. Jeffrey A. Singer, "Women Should Not Have to Visit a Doctor for Birth Control," *Time*, January 14, 2016.
- 258. Mark S. DeFrancesco, "ACOG Statement on Pharmacist Prescribing Laws," news release, American

College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists, January 4, 2016.

- 259. Grindlay, Burns, and Grossman, "Access to Oral Contraceptives," pp. 91–96; and see also Daniel Grossman, "Should Women Have Over-the-Counter Access to Oral Contraceptive Pills?," editorial, *Expert Review of Obstetrics & Gynecology* 8, no. 5 (2013): 389–91.
- 260. See Dallas Buyers Club, directed by Jean-Marc Vallée (2013; Los Angeles: Truth Entertainment/Voltage Pictures, 2014; "Is It Legal for Me to Personally Import Drugs?," Food and Drug Administration, March 28, 2018 ("In most circumstances, it is illegal for individuals to import drugs into the United States for personal use. . . . FDA, however, has a policy explaining that it typically does not object to personal imports of drugs that FDA has not approved under certain circumstances"); Jennifer Graham, "Why Bernie Sanders Went Insulin Shopping in Canada with a Mom of 8," Deseret News, July 30, 2019 ("Moreover, buying drugs in Canada is officially illegal, although the U.S. generally looks the other way when it involves small amounts of drugs that are legal here."); Derek Spalding, "Bernie Sanders Visits Canadian Pharmacy, Talks Drug Prices," Reuters, July 28, 2019 ("U.S. Senator and Democratic presidential hopeful Bernie Sanders joined diabetes patients as they drove across the border on Sunday to buy cheap insulin in Canada.... Several U.S. states have passed laws to allow large-scale imports, but shipments would not be legal without federal approval."); and Rebecca Beitsch, "Licensing Medical Marijuana Stirs Up Trouble for States," PBS NewsHour, December 24, 2016 ("States have encountered many headaches in creating a legal, state-sanctioned business from what was the underground trafficking of a drug the federal government still considers illegal.").
- 261. "FDA Rejects Over-the-Counter Status for Emergency Contraception," p. 2.
- 262. Wood, Drazen, and Greene, "Politics of Emergency Contraception," pp. 101–2.
- 263. Peltzman, "Prescription for Lower Drug Prices: More OTC Transitions," p. 2.

About the Cato Institute

ounded in 1977, the Cato Institute is a public policy research foundation dedicated to broadening the parameters of policy debate to allow consideration of more options that are consistent with the principles of limited government, individual liberty, and peace. To that end, the Institute strives to achieve greater involvement of the intelligent, concerned lay public in questions of policy and the proper role of government.

The Institute is named for *Cato's Letters*, libertarian pamphlets that were widely read in the American Colonies in the early 18th century and played a major role in laying the philosophical foundation for the American Revolution.

Despite the achievement of the nation's Founders, today virtually no aspect of life is free from government encroachment. A pervasive intolerance for individual rights is shown by government's arbitrary intrusions into private economic transactions and its disregard for civil liberties. And while freedom around the globe has notably increased in the past several decades, many countries have moved in the opposite direction, and most governments still do not respect or safeguard the wide range of civil and economic liberties.

To address those issues, the Cato Institute undertakes an extensive publications program on the complete spectrum of policy issues. Books, monographs, and shorter studies are commissioned to examine the federal budget, Social Security, regulation, military spending, international trade, and myriad other issues. Major policy conferences are held throughout the year, from which papers are published thrice yearly in the *Cato Journal*. The Institute also publishes the quarterly magazine *Regulation*.

In order to maintain its independence, the Cato Institute accepts no government funding. Contributions are received from foundations, corporations, and individuals, and other revenue is generated from the sale of publications. The Institute is a nonprofit, tax-exempt, educational foundation under Section 501(c)3 of the Internal Revenue Code.

Cato Institute 1000 Massachusetts Ave. NW Washington, DC 20001 www.cato.org



1000 MASSACHUSETTS AVE. NW Washington, DC 20001 WWW.Cato.org